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About this report
This report sets out the Department’s key activities and
achievements from 1 July 2002 to 30 June 2003 against
the outputs and the Departmental objectives detailed in
the 2002–03 Budget Papers.
The report of operations is organised around the major
output groups:
• school education (pages 22–47)
• training and tertiary education (pages 48–70)
• policy, strategy and information services (pages 71–81).
The financial report (pages 90–121) provides information
on the financial position and performance of the
Department in 2002–03.
Twelve appendices (pages 122–156) provide
supplementary financial and non-financial information.
The report is a public document tabled in the Victorian
Parliament in November 2003. It is available on the
Department’s website <www.det.vic.gov.au>.

October 2003
Lynne Kosky, MP
Minister for Education and Training
Jacinta Allan, MP
Minister for Education Services
Dear Ministers
I have pleasure in submitting the annual report of the
Department of Education & Training for the year 2002–03
in accordance with the Education Act 1958 and the
Financial Management Act 1994.
Yours sincerely

Grant Hehir
Secretary

OVERVIEW
VALUING AND INVESTING IN LIFELONG EDUCATION
The Government believes that education is the key to our children’s future
and Victoria’s prosperity. Education opens the doors to high quality jobs,
to a full and creative life and a sense of common citizenship.
Growing Victoria Together – Innovative State. Caring communities.

Vision
All members of the Victorian community are active
learners throughout their lives, and the education
and training system is characterised by excellence
and innovation at every stage of learning.

Key functions
The Department provides, funds, purchases and regulates
education and training services for Victorians of all ages
through schools, TAFE institutions, registered training
organisations, adult and community education (ACE)
organisations, adult education institutions and higher
education institutions.
The Department’s primary functions include:
• planning, regulating, managing, resourcing and delivering
high-quality primary and secondary education in Victoria’s
system of government schools
• funding, regulating and liaising with non-government
schools in Victoria
• planning, regulating, resourcing and purchasing training
and further education, apprenticeships and traineeships
and adult and community education that strengthen the
knowledge and skills of all Victorians
• planning, coordinating and monitoring the provision
of higher education in Victoria.
In addition to these responsibilities, the Department
provides support and advisory services to the
Minister for Education and Training and
the Minister for Education Services.
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Highlights

December 2002

• TAFE Week was celebrated.

• Over 48,000 students successfully completed their VCE.
• Responsibility for the Office for Youth was transferred
to the Department for Victorian Communities.
• The achievements of students, teachers, employers and
other partners in the Victorian Certificate of Applied
Learning (VCAL) trial were celebrated with the VCAL
2002 Ministerial Awards at Parliament House.

September 2002

January 2003

• Literacy and Numeracy Week was celebrated.
• Adult Learners’ Week was celebrated.

• Two new schools opened and two schools moved to new
locations at the start of the new school year.
• The VCAL expanded to 225 schools, TAFE institutions and
ACE organisations.
• Vacant seats on regional school buses were made
available to TAFE and other post-compulsory education
and training students.

July 2002
• Where to Now, a comprehensive education and training
guide for Year 10 students, was launched.

August 2002

October 2002
• The Ministerial Statement on Improved Educational
Outcomes: A Better Reporting and Accountability System
for Schools was released.
• The Ministerial Statement on Future Directions for Victorian
Higher Education (Higher Education Ministerial Statement)
was released.
• The TAFE Courses Directory 2003 was launched.
• Victoria as a Learning Region was published as the
background report to the OECD Victoria: Learning
Cities and Regions conference held in Melbourne.

February 2003
• The Education Maintenance Allowance (EMA) was
extended to Victorian families affected by bushfires
and ongoing drought conditions.
• Enrolments in government schools increased by
1746.6 equivalent full-time (EFT) students.

November 2002

March 2003

• Victorian Certificate of Education (VCE) end-of-year
examinations were conducted by the Victorian
Curriculum and Assessment Authority (VCAA).

• 53 students from government schools received a 2002
Victorian School Sports Award.
• Cultural Diversity Week was celebrated for the first time
by Victorian schools.

April 2003
• An $18 million expansion to the Strategic Partnerships
program to improve learning outside the classroom was
announced.
• The Premier’s VCE Awards celebrated outstanding
achievement in VCE studies.

May 2003
• An extra $285 million over four years to boost education
and training programs and $137 million to provide better
facilities was provided for in the 2003–04 State Budget.
• The framework for the reform of school education was
announced.
• Education Week was celebrated in school communities.

June 2003
• On Track data was released, indicating the outcomes
for over 35,000 students from government and nongovernment schools who completed Year 12 in 2002.
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SECRETARY’S REPORT
The Department plays a
pivotal role in fulfilling the
vision and achieving the
challenges set by the
Government for education
and training. The Government’s vision is based on
the knowledge that a strong
education and training
system is vital to ensure
that all Victorians have the
knowledge and skills to be
responsible, informed and
productive citizens.
Grant Hehir, Secretary

May 2003 in which she announced four areas for reform
in school education – curriculum, school improvement,
workforce development and teacher learning, and excellence
and innovation. Leadership groups were established to
develop options and report back to the Minister.
Within the Schools for Innovation and Excellence initiative,
70 clusters of schools were established across the State.
These clusters encouraged local reform of middle years
curriculum and school structures and provided support for
students moving from primary to secondary schooling.
Through the Access to Excellence initiative, funding for
300 extra teachers was provided for 118 secondary schools
where absenteeism, literacy and numeracy levels, and
retention rates indicated the need for additional assistance.
The resources were used to achieve smaller class sizes,
targeted teaching and learning and greater curriculum choice.

Achieving the goals and targets
The goals and targets for education and training are set
out on page 6. They focus the work of the Department
and provide the framework around which strategies and
programs are developed to meet the Government’s
objectives for education and training.

Literacy and numeracy are basic to all learning. Children
need these skills in order to learn confidently in every area
of the curriculum and participate in everyday life

Progress towards the targets is strong.
• In 2001, the percentage of Victorian primary students
achieving the national reading and numeracy benchmarks
was at or above the Australian average. 2002 data is not
yet available.
• In 2002, the percentage of 19-year-olds who completed
Year 12 or equivalent was 75.8 per cent, and the
percentage of 18–24-year-olds who completed Year 12
or equivalent was 82.4 per cent. These results are an
improvement on 2001.
• In 2002, participation in education and training by young
people aged 15–19 in rural and regional Victoria was
93.1 per cent.

School education
As a result of the Government’s investment in school
education, class sizes in P–2 reduced from an average of
24.3 students in 1999 to 21.0 in 2003. Reduced class sizes
have increased the effectiveness of key strategies designed
to improve the acquisition of foundation skills in literacy and
numeracy. Following the achievements of the Early Years
Literacy program, the Early Years Numeracy program
supported students who required extra help to develop
numeracy skills.
In October 2002, the Ministerial Statement on Improved
Educational Outcomes: A Better Reporting and Accountability
System for Schools was released. It outlined measures to
be implemented to strengthen accountability to parents and
the community, recognise achievement and improve student
learning outcomes. The Minister for Education and Training
subsequently made a Framework for Reform Statement in
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Support for Koorie students was broadened through the
creation of ongoing employment opportunities for Koorie
educators and Koorie home school liaison officers. These
staff will work to improve attendance and educational
outcomes for Koorie students.
Additional resources were provided to increase access to the
school bus service and conveyance allowances for students
in government and non-government schools, particularly in
rural and regional Victoria.

Training and tertiary education
In 2002, the Ministerial Statement on Knowledge & Skills for
the Innovation Economy: Future Directions for the Victorian
Vocational Education and Training System (VET Ministerial
Statement) was released. Several initiatives aimed at reforming
vocational education and training were implemented in
2002–03, including:
• strategies to reinvigorate TAFE as a public provider of
vocational education and training
• the establishment of 15 Specialist Centres in key industry
areas such as advanced manufacturing, food processing,
building, hospitality, environmental technology and design
and the establishment of the Centre of Excellence in Digital
Design (lab.3000)
• funding for Industry Liaison Agents in six Victorian
manufacturing industry sectors to identify training needs
and stimulate the demand for workplace training
• the allocation of specific funds by TAFE institutions
to support innovative approaches to skill development
and funding for innovative curriculum proposals.

Total reported training delivery continued to grow in 2002,
with almost 600,000 students participating in more than
110 million student contact hours. This represented growth
in total reported activity of just over 2 per cent for students
and 3 per cent in student contact hours. Apprenticeships and
traineeships also continued to increase, with almost 86,000
people commencing a training program in 2002. In June
2003, a record 147,994 apprentices and trainees were in
training, an increase of 16 per cent on March 2002. Fifteen
per cent of rural Victorians and 10 per cent of Victorians from
the metropolitan area participated in vocational education
and training.
In 2002, VET delivery by TAFE institutions, ACE and private
providers to 15–19-year-olds expanded by 4.5 per cent
to 32.9 million student contact hours. This group now
represents 30.5 per cent of total delivery and reflects
the VET sector’s focus on the achievement of the Year 12
or equivalent completion target.
In 2002, ACE organisations and adult education institutions
reported delivery of more than 10 million student contact
hours of training and education to more than 164,000 people.
Within overall delivery, the ACE sector expanded provision to
15–19-year-olds by 10 per cent to 1.38 million student contact
hours to support the achievement of the Year 12 or equivalent
completion target.
In 2002, the Higher Education Ministerial Statement was also
released. This Statement articulated the Government’s

The Furniture Technology program at RMIT University (TAFE Division)
bridges the gap between furniture design and manufacturing
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responsibilities for higher education, its relationship with
universities and its commitment to enhanced participation,
especially in rural and regional areas.

Post-compulsory education
and training
To improve post-compulsory pathways, the Department
provided additional support for VET in Schools. The number
of students participating in VCE VET programs increased
from 24,686 in 2001 to 28,306 in 2002, an increase of
14.7 per cent. In 2003, the VCAL was implemented on a
statewide basis, with 225 government and non-government
schools, TAFE providers and ACE organisations offering the
new certificate.
The Managed Individual Pathways (MIP) program, designed
to ensure that post-compulsory students have a plan to guide
their progression to further education and training or work,
was expanded. Compared with the target of 60 per cent of
Years 10–12 students in government schools having a MIP
plan in 2002, 84 per cent had such a plan. The target has
been raised to 100 per cent for the end of 2003.
On Track destination data was released in June 2003. It was
based on a survey of over 35,000 Victorian students who
completed Year 12 in 2002. The data provides an accurate
snapshot of what happened to young people after leaving
school. It gives students, parents, schools and the
Department vital information to plan and support education
and training pathways and outcomes for young people.
Thirty-one Local Learning and Employment Networks (LLENs)
across the State linked education and training providers,
employers, unions, community and government agencies
and individuals. Each LLEN developed strategies to support
young people in the post-compulsory years, particularly those
who might leave education without a qualification.

Frances was a former Year 12 student at Thornbury Darebin
Secondary College. Her love for sport and business led to an office
administration traineeship with the Victorian Rugby Union, giving
her on-the-job training and one day a week at a TAFE institution

The Department continued to work with key statutory
authorities – the Adult, Community and Further Education
(ACFE) Board, the VCAA, the Victorian Learning and
Employment Skills Commission (VLESC) and the Victorian
Qualifications Authority (VQA) – to improve outcomes and
pathways for students in the post-compulsory years.

Grant Hehir
Secretary
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GOALS AND OBJECTIVES

TARGETS

The Department’s objectives are to achieve the Government’s
goals for education and training. The goals are:
• to improve the standards of literacy and numeracy in
primary schooling
• to increase the percentage of young people who
successfully complete Year 12 or equivalent
• to increase the percentage of adults who take up education
and training and so increase the overall level of educational
attainment and literacy levels in Victoria
• to increase the level of participation and achievement in
education and training in rural and regional Victoria and
among groups where it is presently low
• to make near-universal participation in post-school
education and training the norm in our society – not just
for the young, but for all Victorians.

In October 2000, the Premier set three challenging
performance targets for education and training. Performance
against the targets is shown in the following table.

Progress against the Government’s targets
Target

Actual 2000

Actual 2001

Actual 2002

(%)

(%)

(%)

Percentage achieving national
benchmark in Year 3 reading

(a)

89.0(b)

Not yet available

Percentage achieving national
benchmark in Year 3 numeracy

(a)

94.1(b)

Not yet available

Percentage achieving national
benchmark in Year 5 reading

(a)

90.9(b)

Not yet available

Percentage achieving national
benchmark in Year 5 numeracy

(a)

94.7(b)

Not yet available

By 2005, the percentage
of young people aged
15–19 in rural and regional
Victoria engaged in education and training will rise
by 6 per cent

Percentage of 15–19-year-olds
participating in education and
training in rural and regional
Victoria

92.6(c)

92.7(c)

93.1

Percentage of 19-year-olds in
rural and regional Victoria who
have completed Year 12 or
equivalent

70.6(c)

71.4(c)

71.5

By 2010, 90 per cent of
young people in Victoria
will successfully complete
Year 12 or equivalent

Percentage of 19-year-olds in
Victoria who have completed
Year 12 or equivalent

74.4(c)

75.7(c)

75.8

Percentage of 18–24-year-olds
in Victoria who have completed
Year 12 or equivalent

78.6(b)

80.4(b)

82.4(b)

By 2005, Victoria will be at
or above national benchmark levels for reading,
writing and numeracy for
primary students

(a)

Measure

Data for 2000 and earlier is not comparable to data for 2001 and later due to a change in methodology.
Data is subject to measurement error of up to 2.2 per cent.
(c)
Data has been revised from that previously published as a result of revisions to ABS population estimates.
(b)
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Comment

In 2001, Victoria’s
performance was at or
above the national average
on a range of measures.

Participation of 15–19-yearolds in education and training
is higher in rural and regional
Victoria than in the metropolitan area but completion
of Year 12 or equivalent is
significantly lower.

The percentage of young
people who successfully
complete Year 12 or
equivalent is improving.

ABOUT THE
DEPARTMENT
State education in Victoria has a history going back to
1 January 1873. The Department of Education & Training
in its current form was established on 5 March 2002 when
it relinquished responsibility for employment services.
Responsibility for whole-of-government policies and programs
for young people transferred to the new Department for
Victorian Communities, effective from 1 January 2003.

Lynne Kosky, Minister for
Education and Training

Ministers
The Department provides support and advisory services
to the Minister for Education and Training, Lynne Kosky, and
the Minister for Education Services, Jacinta Allan. It is also
responsible for the effective management and administration
of their respective portfolios.

Jacinta Allan, Minister
for Education Services

More information on the Ministerial portfolios appears in
Appendix 11 on pages 153–4.

Outputs
Outputs are services provided by the Department for the
education and training community in Victoria, including the
Ministers and Government. The Department is funded by the
Government to provide outputs in three major areas:
• school education
• training and tertiary education
• policy, strategy and information services.
As a result of the December 2002 machinery-of-government
changes, the output structure for the Department changed.
The Youth Policy Coordination and the Service to Youth
outputs and functions transferred to the Department for
Victorian Communities, which will report on performance for
these two outputs for the full reporting period. Revenues and
expenses associated with these transferred outputs are
recorded in the Department of Education & Training’s financial
report for the period 1 July 2002 to 31 December 2002.
The Department works in conjunction with statutory
authorities in achieving the Government’s goals and targets
for education and training and the delivery of outputs. The
contribution of statutory authorities to outputs is shown in
summary form in the following table.
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Department outputs and relationships with statutory authorities
Department outputs

Relationship with statutory authorities (see acronyms and abbreviations inside back cover)

School education

Primary education
Delivery of education services in government schools for
students in Years P–6

• VCAA develops and maintains the Curriculum and Standards Framework (CSF) for Years P–10 and conducts
Achievement Improvement Monitor (AIM) testing in English and Mathematics in Years 3 and 5.
• Victorian Institute of Teaching (VIT) enhances the quality of teaching through promotion and regulation of the
profession.

Junior secondary education
Delivery of education services in government schools for
students in Years 7–10

• VCAA develops and maintains the CSF for Years P–10 and conducts AIM testing in English and Mathematics in
Year 7.
• VIT enhances the quality of teaching through promotion and regulation of the profession.

Senior secondary education
Delivery of education services in government schools for
students in Years 11 and 12

• VCAA oversees the delivery and assessment of the VCE, including VCE VET, and assessment of the VCAL.
• VIT enhances the quality of teaching through promotion and regulation of the profession.
• VLESC advises the Minister for Education and Training on post-compulsory education, training and employment
and is the State training agency for Victoria.
• VQA is the accreditation and certification body for senior secondary qualifications, including the VCE, VCAL and
VCE VET. It also approves and registers schools seeking registered training organisation status to deliver
accredited VET qualifications.

Non-government school education
Provision of services for students attending non-government
schools and registration of non-government schools

• The Registered Schools Board registers and reviews the registration of non-government schools to ensure
quality standards are met.
• VCAA develops and maintains the CSF for Years P–10, conducts AIM testing in Years 3, 5 and 7, and oversees
the delivery and assessment of the VCE, including VCE VET.
• VIT enhances the quality of teaching through promotion and regulation of the profession.
• VLESC advises the Minister for Education and Training on post-compulsory education, training and employment
and is the State training agency in Victoria.
• VQA is the accreditation and certification body for senior secondary qualifications, including the VCE, VCAL and
VCE VET. It also approves and registers schools seeking registered training organisation status to deliver
accredited VET qualifications.

Student welfare and support
Provision of services relating to student welfare and wellbeing
Students with disabilities
Provision of educational services to students with disabilities in
government regular and specialist schools

• VCAA provides special provision arrangements to facilitate students with disabilities to demonstrate their
learning achievements in the VCE and VCAL.

Education Maintenance Allowance
Provision of EMA to eligible parents of school students up to the
age of 16 years in government and non-government schools
Student transport
Administration of student conveyance allowances and the
transport of government and non-government school students

• VLESC monitors improved transport arrangements for post-compulsory education and training students.

Training and tertiary education
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TAFE places
Provision of training and further education places by TAFE
institutions and other registered training organisations in
accordance with the priorities set by Government, industry and
the community

•
•
•
•
•

Industry training boards provide advice on industry training priorities for the VET sector.
TAFE institute councils are the governing bodies for Victoria’s 14 TAFE institutes.
VCAA oversees the delivery and assessment of the VCE in the TAFE sector.
VLESC is the State training agency for the purposes of the ANTA Agreement.
VQA is the responsible body in Victoria for the accreditation of courses and registration of providers under the
AQTF. It also registers VET organisations wishing to offer senior secondary certificates such as the VCE and VCAL.

ACE places and community support
Provision of education and training places and support for
education for adults in community settings and adult education
institutions

• In consultation with Regional Councils of ACFE, the ACFE Board advises the Minister for Education and Training
on issues relevant to adult, community and further education. It develops, evaluates and funds policies,
programs and services for the coordination and provision of adult, community and further education by ACE
organisations and adult education institutions.
• VCAA oversees the delivery and assessment of the adult VCE in ACE.
• VLESC, in conjunction with the ACFE Board, is responsible for planning further education in Victoria.
• VQA is the responsible body in Victoria for the accreditation of courses and registration of ACE providers.
It also registers ACE providers wishing to offer senior secondary certificates such as the VCE and VCAL.

Higher education
Provision of services to universities, private providers of higher
education and the public

• VCAA facilitates extension studies (university subjects) in the VCE for high-achieving students.
• Victorian university councils are the governing bodies for the eight Victorian universities.

Policy, strategy and information services

Policy, strategy and executive services
Provision of strategic policy advice (including post-compulsory
education and training pathways) and legislative and executive
support to the Ministers and statutory authorities

• ACFE Board, VCAA, VIT, VLESC and VQA provide complementary policy advice on and support roles for
education and training in accordance with their statutory responsibilities.

International education
Provision and promotion of education and training services to
overseas students and communities

• VCAA oversees offshore use of the CSF and offshore delivery and assessment of AIM and the VCE.
• VQA recognises qualifications developed outside Victoria and Australia and approves organisations to provide
courses to overseas students. It also registers education and training organisations to provide courses to
overseas students in accordance with Education Services for Overseas Students legislation.

Public information and promotion
Provision of information services and promotion of education and
training to the Victorian community

• ACFE Board, VCAA, VIT, VLESC and VQA provide public information and promote education and training to the
Victorian community.

Budget
Budget summary by outputs, 2001–02 and 2002–03
2001–02
Outputs

2002–03

$ million

Per cent

$ million

Per cent

School education

4710.4

81.3

5085.4

83.0

Training and
tertiary education

1041.1

18.0

1000.3

16.3

6.0

0.1

33.6

0.6

36.9

0.6

5791.1

100.0

6127.8

100.0

Youth
Policy, strategy and
information services
Total

5.2*

0.08

*Responsibility for Youth transferred to the Department for Victorian Communities from
1 January 2003.
Source: Adapted from Department of Treasury and Finance, 2002–03 Budget Estimates and 2003–04
Budget Estimates
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Other agencies within the portfolio report separately and
therefore are not included within the controlled financial
transactions of the Department. These entities include the
ACFE Board, VCAA, VIT, VLESC, VQA and TAFE institutions.

SUMMARY OF
FINANCIAL RESULTS

The table below provides information on the Department’s
financial results for 2002–03 and comparisons with the
previous four financial years.

The Department of Education & Training portfolio as
described in the 2002–03 State Budget papers comprises
four key output areas:
• school education
• training and tertiary education
• youth
• policy, strategy and information services.

There were no significant changes in the financial position
during the financial year.
The Department is not aware of any events that adversely
affected the achievement of operational objectives for the year.

The financial statements presented in this annual report
relate to the controlled operations of the Department and
include corporate activities, 1615 government schools and
the Office for Youth for the half year to 31 December 2002
(see page 7).

There were no events subsequent to the balance date that
would have a significant effect on the operations of the
Department.

Summary financial information (controlled operations)
1998–99

1999–2000

2000–01

2001–02

2002–03

$ million

$ million

$ million

$ million

$ million

3,987.0

4,761.3

5,089.0

5,323.8

5,533.9

356.5

405.6

422.9

458.0

478.3

Operating revenue
Revenue from State Government
Other revenue
Total operating revenue

4,343.5

5,166.9

5,511.9

5,781.8

6,012.2

Operating expenses

4,196.1

5,006.6

5,422.4

5,727.4

5,898.9

147.4

160.3

89.5

54.4

113.3

5,466.3

5,984.8

6,494.5

7,212.6

8,197.0

784.5

810.3

934.9

1,045.0

1,001.2

4,681.8

5,174.5

5,559.6

6,167.6

7,195.8

283.9

342.0

321.2

399.9

401.6

Operating surplus
Total assets
Total liabilities
Net assets
Net year-end cash position

2002–03 result

Operating result

The Department’s result from ordinary activities for 2002–03
was $113.3 million, compared with $54.4 million in 2001–02.
This result was achieved from the efficient delivery of outputs
on behalf of the Government, the continued success of
schools in raising funds locally throughout the year and
savings in supplies and services expenditure.

200

$ million

150

100

50

0

1998–99 1999–2000 2000–01
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2001–02

2002–03

Revenue and expenses
During 2002–03, a number of new initiatives were
introduced, along with the continued implementation of
the Government’s education and training initiatives that
commenced during 2000–01. These initiatives included:
• reduction in class sizes for Years P–2
• literacy intervention aimed at achieving national benchmarks
• early years numeracy coordinators
• middle years reform and innovation
• funding for the employment of 300 teachers in 118
secondary schools to improve student participation
and achievement (Access to Excellence)
• enhanced services to Koorie students
• support for students with disabilities
• increased access to school bus services
• support for non-government schools
• statewide implementation of the VCAL.

The implementation of these initiatives is the main reason
for the continued growth in the Department’s revenue and
expenses.
Employee costs for staff working in the Department’s
Office of Training and Tertiary Education, excluding Higher
Education Division, appear in the financial reports of VLESC
and the ACFE Board. Office of Training and Tertiary Education
staff provide planning, developmental, administrative
and financial support to these statutory authorities. The
Department is recompensed for these services in the form
of grants from the two authorities. Staff of the VLESC
secretariat are also part of the Department.
Expenses
8,000

Revenue

6,000

$ million

8,000
4,000

$ million

6,000
2,000
4,000
0

1998–99 1999–2000 2000–01

2,000

0

2001–02

2002–03

2001–02

2002–03

Total assets
1998–99 1999–2000 2000–01

2001–02

2002–03
10,000

8,000

The value of the Department’s assets increased by
$984.4 million in 2002–03. Of this increase, $874.5 million
arose from the annual revaluation of the Department’s
non-current assets. The balance of the increase reflects
spending under the Government’s commitment to improving
the quality of school infrastructure as well as asset purchases
funded by schools from their own fundraising.

$ million

Assets

6,000

4,000

2,000

0

1998–99 1999–2000 2000–01
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
Corporate governance is the framework through which the
Department:
• pursues the achievement of the Government’s goals and
targets and the Department’s objectives for education
and training
• manages its human, physical and financial resources
• maximises opportunities for continuous improvement
and manages its risks successfully.

Grant Hehir
Secretary
Commenced in position 5 May 2003

Department Executive

Grant Hehir joined the Department following
a career in public sector budget management
and policy development. Mr Hehir joined the
Department of Treasury and Finance in 1998
as Deputy Secretary, Budget and Financial
Management Division. In this role, he
provided advice to Government on State Budget strategy and
management and advised on emerging policy issues. In early
2003, he joined the Department of Premier and Cabinet as
Deputy Secretary, Strategic, Economic and Social Policy,
advising the Premier on social and economic policy matters.

The Executive integrates the work of the Department and
provides a mechanism for dealing with competing priorities
across the full range of activities within the portfolio.

Prior to moving to Melbourne, Mr Hehir worked in Canberra
for the Commonwealth, holding senior positions in the
Department of Finance and Administration.

The corporate governance framework assigns responsibilities,
which in turn define accountabilities. The Secretary, as the
accountable officer, is responsible to the portfolio Ministers
for the efficient and effective performance of the Department.
The Executive assists the Secretary in this task.

The Department’s success hinges on the collective
ownership and active involvement of its senior managers.
The Executive takes responsibility for driving the reform
agenda set by the Government, as reflected in the goals
and targets for education and training and in Ministerial
directions and statements.
The Executive sets the strategic direction for the portfolio,
settles the allocation of resources against Ministerial and
Government priorities and considers all strategic issues
facing the Department. Members have key strategic,
operational and financial responsibilities and are accountable
for outcomes.

Membership
Members of the Executive at 30 June 2003 were:
Grant Hehir, Secretary (and accountable officer)
Kim Bannikoff, Director,
Office of School Education
Jim Davidson, Director,
Office of Training and Tertiary Education
Jenny Samms, Director,
Office of Portfolio Integration
Jeff Rosewarne, Director,
Office of Finance Strategy and Resources
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The Executive meets weekly. The chief executive officers
of two statutory authorities – the VCAA and the VQA – are
invited to attend Executive meetings when items relevant
to these authorities are under discussion.

Kim Bannikoff
Director, Office of School Education
BA, DipEd
Commenced in position 16 December 2002
Kim Bannikoff joined the Department in
January 2001 and held the positions of
Director, Office of Portfolio Integration,
and Director, Office of Training and Tertiary
Education, before taking up the School
Education position. He has wide experience
in education and training in a number of states, the Commonwealth and the private sector.
The Office of School Education is responsible for developing
and administering the delivery of school education for
students in government schools. It is also responsible for
non-government school policy. The Office is organised in
seven divisions – policy and planning; resource management;
student programs; student outcomes; human resources;
strategic relations; and school projects. Nine regional offices
provide direct support to schools.
Kim Bannikoff resigned from the Department in July 2003.

Jim Davidson

Jeff Rosewarne

Director, Office of Training and Tertiary Education

Director, Office of Finance Strategy and Resources

BA(Hons), MASocAdmin, GradDipAppliedScience
(Social Statistics)

DipBusStuds

Commenced in position 16 December 2002
Jim Davidson joined the Department
following senior executive positions in the
human services portfolios in South Australia
and, more recently, Victoria, where he was
Executive Director, Policy and Strategic
Projects. He has a background in social
administration and public policy, and extensive experience
in human services policy and planning, employment and
industrial affairs, and business and financial management.
The Office of Training and Tertiary Education focuses on
vocational education and training, adult and community
education and tertiary education programs. There are six
divisions – policy and resources; vocational education and
training; adult and community education; higher education;
quality assurance and review; and design and development.

Jenny Samms
Director, Office of Portfolio Integration
BEc
Commenced in position 14 January 2002
Jenny Samms returned to the Department
in 2002 after a period as Director, Social
Policy and Acting Deputy Secretary,
Strategic, Economic and Social Policy in
the Department of Premier and Cabinet.
She has had extensive experience in the
Commonwealth and State public sectors in the areas of
education, training and labour market policy and programs.
The Office of Portfolio Integration undertakes portfolio-wide
policy development and strategic planning and provides
services and support to the Ministers and the Secretary. It is
organised in five divisions – strategic policy and resources;
external and inter-governmental relations; strategic initiatives;
evaluation and audit; and international.

Commenced in position 26 May 2003
Jeff Rosewarne returned to the Department
after six years in executive positions in
the Department of Treasury and Finance,
with the most recent as Director, Budget
Formulation in the Budget and Financial
Management Division.
The Office has primary responsibility for the development
and implementation of the financial and resource strategy
for the Department. The Office also provides Departmentwide services in the areas of finance, information technology,
shared services and human resources (non-school).

Financial management
In 2002–03, the Department undertook a number of initiatives
to improve its financial management system.
A new budget management system was fully implemented
across the Department to improve tracking of budgets and
better reporting of Departmental financial performance.
To improve taxation compliance, the Department developed
‘FBT Tracker’, a web-based tool available to schools to
assist them with tax and expenditure tracking to facilitate
compliance.
As part of the whole-of-government Electronic Commerce for
Procurement (EC4P) project, the Department implemented an
Ariba e-procurement solution to all head office and regional
business units. E-procurement has allowed all business areas
to realise significant process improvement benefits through
supporting their procurement-to-pay activities online. The
solution has also provided greater support for purchasing
policies and guide-lines and allowed the Department to
reduce its reliance on centralised purchasing and accounts
payable processing areas.
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Asset management

Audit Committee

In response to a whole-of-government initiative, the
Department has a goal to reduce energy use by 15 per cent
(by 2006) in schools, TAFE institutions and central and
regional offices. The Department will also source at least
10 per cent of electricity from green power.

The Audit Committee assists the Secretary and the Ministers
to discharge their responsibilities for financial reporting,
maintains a system of internal controls and promotes the
Department’s corporate governance environment. The Audit
Committee is constituted in accordance with the requirements
of the Financial Management Act 1994.

The Department conforms with the requirements of the
Building Act 1993 and other statutory obligations with
respect to the construction of new educational facilities
and modernisation. The school modernisation program
progressively ensures that existing buildings comply with
relevant legislative requirements. Department guidelines
for TAFE institutions reinforce compliance with the Act
for existing and new public buildings.

Information and communication
technology
The Department is committed to ensuring that its information
and communication technology (ICT) systems are integrated,
reliable and directly support identified business needs.
Common standards and approaches enable strategic alignment
of ICT resources across the Department. This is supported
through ongoing research and development to investigate
ways to further expand the Department’s ICT capability.

Danni Rottura manages EduMail, the Department’s email
service. EduMail provides more than 67,000 email accounts
to Department employees
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Scope
The scope of the Audit Committee extends across the
Department’s portfolio:
• Office of School Education (including all government
schools)
• Office of Training and Tertiary Education (excluding
all higher education institutions)
• Office of Portfolio Integration
• Office of Finance Strategy and Resources
• Merit Protection Boards
• Registered Schools Board.
It is also the Audit Committee’s role to consider reports
from the audit committees of the ACFE Board, VCAA,
VQA and VLESC.

The Department’s ICT Strategic Plan 2003–2008 team: (left to right) Tony
Ralston, Assistant General Manager, Architecture and Standards; Ian Paton,
General Manager Information Technology; Katrina Reynen, Manager, ICT
Strategy and Architecture; Bruce Rigby, Manager, Strategy and Opportunities

Functions

Risk management

The key functions of the Audit Committee include:
• reviewing financial statements
• monitoring risk assessment and internal controls
• ensuring the establishment of appropriate internal control
frameworks
• approving internal audit programs (including school audit
programs)
• ensuring appropriate action is taken by managers to
maintain a proper system of internal control and financial
management.

Risk management continues to be a focus for the
portfolio. Progress on the identification and treatment of
risk is monitored through the Portfolio Risk Management
Committee, comprising senior members of the Department
and authorities. A portfolio-wide risk management framework
will be developed and implemented in 2003–04.

Membership
Members of the Audit Committee at 30 June 2003 were:
Grant Hehir, Secretary (chair)
Kim Bannikoff, Director,
Office of School Education
Jim Davidson, Director,
Office of Training and Tertiary Education

Key risks to the Department are the subject of monthly
reports to the Executive and Audit committees. Risk profiles
are a key input to the development of audit and review plans
throughout the portfolio.

Probity and ethics
The Department is committed to the principles of probity and
the maintenance of an ethical work environment for all of its
staff, stakeholders and clients.

People Principles

Portfolio Audit Committee

The Department’s People
Principles, launched in September
2002, reinforce probity and ethical
practices in the way staff relate
to each other and with those to
whom they provide services.
The Principles – deliver quality
results, work collaboratively,
behave ethically, respect and
value others, and develop self
and others – are set out in a
simple statement.

Historically, there has been no overarching framework for the
way in which audit committees operate within the education
and training portfolio. The introduction of the new Standing
Directions for the Financial Management Act 1994 acted
as a catalyst for review and revision of audit committee
arrangements.

The Code of Conduct for the
Victorian Public Sector is
available to staff electronically
and is emphasised in the
Department’s induction
program for new employees.

In 2003–04, a revised Audit Committee model will be
implemented. The model will consist of:
• a Portfolio Audit Committee for the monitoring and
oversight of risk management, audit and business
assurance activity across the portfolio as well as meeting
the audit committee requirements of the Department
• individual audit committees for statutory authorities to deal
with authority-specific audit needs.

All senior officers and other
relevant staff completed
declarations of pecuniary
interests during 2002–03.

Jenny Samms, Director,
Office of Portfolio Integration
Jeff Rosewarne, Director,
Office of Finance Strategy and Resources
Professor Barry Cooper, School of Accounting and Law,
Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology
Don Pasquariello, Partner, KPMG
The Audit Committee met on five occasions during 2002–03.

The key improvements from the previous arrangements are
as follows.
• All audit committees will have independent chairs.
• Governance and reporting relationships between Boards,
Ministers and the Secretary will be strengthened and clarified.
• A three-year portfolio-wide internal audit plan based on the
portfolio risk profile will be developed and implemented.

Purchasing and contracting
The Department promotes consistent rules on probity and
ethics in all of its purchasing and contracting arrangements,
in line with the Victorian Government Purchasing Board’s
probity policy. These principles are intended to achieve an
equitable and sound purchasing process, providing equal
opportunity for all parties. The Department promotes
attendance at training courses in purchasing, tendering and
contracting and ensures that probity and ethics are discussed
at each session.
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Dr Tom Keating (left) from the Department of Human Services
and Wodonga South Primary School principal David Hinton are
prepared for the new privacy laws

Acceptable use of the Internet
The Department promotes responsible use of email, the
Internet and other electronic communications. Its acceptableuse policy was rewritten and disseminated during the year.

Information privacy
The Department is committed to protecting the privacy of
personal and health information. All of the Department’s
funded service providers are bound by the Victorian privacy
laws, the Information Privacy Act 2000 and the Health Records
Act 2001. Personal and health information is collected and
used by the Department to provide services or carry out
statutory functions. All of the Department’s central and
regional offices, schools and funded services were briefed on
the privacy laws. The Department also developed a privacy
policy and a complaints handling policy. The Department
worked closely with the offices of the Privacy Commissioner
and Health Services Commissioner in developing information
supporting privacy compliance across the Department.

HUMAN RESOURCES
Effective human resources recruitment, development,
retention and management policies, and the delivery of
associated services, are essential if a high-quality and
diverse workforce is to deliver the Department’s outputs
in an efficient and responsive manner.
Human resource information is available through
the redeveloped website, called HRWeb
<www.eduweb.vic.gov.au/hrweb>.

Organisational development
The Department is committed to establishing an integrated
approach to the development of its workforce capabilities,
as well as maintaining a strong focus on encouraging a
diverse and inclusive workforce and providing increased
opportunities for women to assume leadership roles.

Leadership development
School leadership has been strengthened to further enhance
school performance. In the 2002 calendar year, more than
1800 school leaders participated in Department-organised
leadership development programs.
In the first half of 2003, a further 300 school leaders took part
in three pilot programs designed to provide them with an indepth analysis of their individual leadership capabilities and
to assist them to engage in school improvement processes.
ANZSOG Executive Master of Public Administration Scholarship
holders 2003: (from left to right) Aaron Johnstone, Annalise Bamford,
Michelle Hill and Michael Maher
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The School Leadership Development website is now fully
operational and provides valuable information about
professional development programs for school leaders.

Don Brown, Principal, Sunshine College, and Athena Vass, Keilor
Downs Secondary College, develop their mentoring plan during
the Eleanor Davis School Leadership program

There was also a strong emphasis on building future public
sector leaders through the Department’s internal scholarships for high-potential staff through the Executive Master
of Public Administration, Australia and New Zealand School
of Government (ANZSOG) scholarships, the Julia Flynn
scholarships, and participation in other business school and
public sector leadership programs.

The Julia Flynn Scholarship holders 2002, pictured
with the Minister for Education and Training, Lynne
Kosky, celebrate completion of their program

Seven scholarships were provided through the Julia Flynn
program for women in the VPS. These scholarships provide
women with a program of personal and professional growth
to assist in developing the leadership knowledge, context,
strategic alliances and networks to be an effective leader in
the Department.

Staff development
Focus on women
Women represent 72.5 per cent of the Department’s
workforce. They make up 68.6 per cent of the teaching staff,
91.0 per cent of the non-teaching staff in government
schools and nearly 60 per cent of Victorian Public Service
(VPS) staff in central and regional locations.
The percentage of women in the Principal Class in
government schools continues to rise, increasing from
42.6 per cent in June 2002 to 44.4 per cent in June 2003.
The Eleanor Davis School Leadership program, the Becoming
a Principal program, and At the Interface: Women, Leadership
and Technology program have had considerable impact on
the confidence and capability of participants, and the
preparation of high-quality leaders. These programs have
been assessed by independent research as contributing to
increasing the number of women appointed to leadership
roles, and building the capacity of men and women principals
to mentor future leaders.

To strengthen teacher performance in schools, funding for
professional development is granted directly to schools
through their school global budgets. Schools also contribute
additional funds to support professional development.
Nearly 1240 beginning and returning teachers participated in
regional professional development programs during the 2002
calendar year.
Development of the School Services Officer (SSO) Accredited
Training program is now complete. The online, accredited
program includes training at Certificate III, Certificate IV and
diploma level, delivered by several TAFE institutions in Victoria.
These professional qualifications support school services
officers in their contribution to school performance. The
training also offers recognition of prior learning, traineeships,
career pathways and opportunities for further study.
The Department’s Learning Centre was piloted in 2003 to
enable VPS staff to identify training, learning and development activities and enrol online.

The percentage of women at Executive Officer and VPS5
levels rose from 39.8 per cent in June 2002 to 42.9 per cent
in June 2003.
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Sian, Footscray West Primary School library monitor, teams
with Coral Grant, school services officer (library assistant)

employment policies that support sound personnel practice
within the context of relevant industrial instruments and
legislation.
Effective management of personal grievances and wider
industrial matters resulted in minimal tribunal referrals and
industrial disputes.

Human resources systems and services
The Department provides high-quality personnel services,
including staffing, employment and payroll administration,
together with advice on performance, conduct and ethics
issues.

Workforce planning
A multimedia teacher recruitment advertising campaign,
‘Help shape the future. Teach’, implemented by the
Department in late 2002, provided the momentum for the
development of the online teacher recruitment database,
Recruitment Online. This recruitment tool provides principals

Galvin Park Secondary College in Werribee welcomed
nine new graduate teachers to its classrooms in 2003

Seabrook Primary School receiving the Commissioner for Public
Employment’s Good People Management Award 2003 for its project
on work–life balance; (from left to right) Natalie Bakai, Lyn Jobson
and Peter Salway, Commissioner for Public Employment

Managing diversity
The Department continues to support and promote a diverse
and inclusive workforce.
There was an ongoing commitment by the Diversity Network,
chaired by the Secretary, to facilitate a strategic and integrated approach to diversity issues across the Department
and to provide stakeholder consultation.
Flexible work options working parties were formed for
school-based and VPS staff to address barriers and opportunities for more flexible work arrangements to support
employee work–family life balance.

Employee relations
Regular consultation occurred with stakeholder groups.
This consultation was constructive and instrumental in
developing and implementing comprehensive and consistent
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In 2002, 248 student teachers were awarded scholarships
and commenced employment in government schools in
January 2003, exceeding the Teaching Scholarship scheme
target of 220 scholarships.
The 2003 Graduate Recruitment program for teachers
was the most successful yet, with 494 graduates appointed
by the end of June 2003.

VET teacher and occupational health and safety officer Ken Taylor ensures
that an emergency switch in the technology area at Brimbank Secondary
College is in the right position

VPS workforce planning issues are recognised as part of
the development of the Human Resources strategy.
In relation to VPS recruitment, nine appointments without
advertisement were approved and notified, consistent
with the requirements of the Commissioner for Public
Employment. One of these exemptions related to a specific
‘disadvantaged group’ declared by the Commissioner for the
purpose of employment without advertisement.

Employee safety, health and wellbeing
The Department integrates its management of staff health,
safety and wellbeing. It monitors compliance with occupational health and safety and WorkCover legislation, providing
principals and workplace managers with advice and support
to meet these obligations. See Appendix 8 on page 150 for
more information.

WorkCover claims by injury type, 2001–02 and 2002–03
600
500
Number of claims

with access to a searchable database of over 3000
prospective teachers who have registered interest in working
in government schools.

400
300
200
100
0

Stress
2001–02

Sprain/strain

Other

2002–03

Stress-related claims increased by 37 per cent in 2002–03 but sprain and strain
claims plateaued.
Source: Department of Education & Training
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Organisation chart as at 30 June 2003
Minister for Education and Training
Lynne Kosky, MP

Minister for Education Services
Jacinta Allan, MP

Adult, Community and Further Education Board
Chair: Lynne Wannan
Registered Schools Board
Chair: Lesley Foster (acting)
Victorian Curriculum and Assessment Authority
Chair: Kwong Lee Dow
CEO: Michael White
Victorian Institute of Teaching
Chair: Susan Halliday
CEO: Andrew Ius

Secretary
Grant Hehir

Merit Protection Boards
Senior Chair: Ian Adams

Victorian Learning and Employment Skills Commission
Chair: Peter Laver
Victorian Qualifications Authority
Chair: Helen Praetz
Director: Dennis Gunning
Victorian Schools Innovation Commission
Chair: Barry Jones

Director
Office of School Education
Kim Bannikoff

Director
Office of Training and Tertiary Education
Jim Davidson

Director
Office of Portfolio Integration
Jenny Samms

Deputy Director
Policy and Planning
Michael Kane

General Manager
Policy and Resources
Philip Clarke

Assistant Director
Student Programs
Sue Christophers

General Manager
Vocational Education and Training
Patricia Neden

Assistant Director
Student Outcomes
Mario Abela

General Manager
Design and Development
Jan Trewhella

General Manager
Evaluation and Audit
David Brooks

Assistant Director
Resource Management
Ethel McAlpine

General Manager
Quality Assurance and Review
Lynn Glover

General Manager
Strategic Initiatives
Ian Burrage (acting)

General Manager
Human Resources
Tony Bugden

General Manager
Adult, Community and Further Education
Susan McDonald (acting)

General Manager
International
Ian Hind

General Manager
Strategic Relations
Lesley Foster

Director
Higher Education
Terry Stokes

Director
Special Projects
Dawn Davis

Director
Office of Finance Strategy and Resources
Jeff Rosewarne

General Manager
Strategic Policy and Resources
John Sullivan

Chief Finance Officer
Financial Services
John Hall

General Manager
External and Inter-governmental Relations
Colin Twisse

General Manager
Information Technology
Ian Paton
General Manager
Shared Services
Gail Hart

Project Director
School Projects
Howard Kelly
Regional Directors
4 metropolitan regions
5 non-metropolitan regions

Department Executive
Further information on the Department’s senior
officers appears in Appendix 5 on pages 138–40.
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Workforce
Details of staff included and excluded in the following
workforce data appears in Appendix 4 on page 135.
Equivalent full-time staff on pay, June 1999–2003
Location

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

Change 1999–2003
Number

School
Teaching
Non-teaching
Subtotal
Central office and regions
Total

Per cent

35,966.4

36,883.8

37,520.4

38,211.0

38,816.4

2,850.0

+7.9

7,267.0

8,006.5

8,589.8

9,108.1

9,383.6

2,116.6

+29.1

43,233.4

44,890.3

46,110.2

47,319.0

48,200.0

4,966.6

+11.5

1,538.4

1,421.1

1,636.5

1,740.2

1,793.2

254.8

+16.6

44,771.8

46,311.4

47,746.7

49,059.2

49,993.2

5,221.4

+11.7

Source: Department of Education & Training

Staff increases over the five-year period reflect Government
initiatives to improve outcomes for students. They include
initiatives to:
• reduce average P–2 class sizes to 21 students
• provide additional positions in schools such as student
welfare coordinators in secondary schools, middle years
staff, shared specialist teachers in primary schools,
special learning needs teachers and non-teaching staff
• expand education and training options and improve
pathways for students in the post-compulsory years.

Central office, regional and authority staff made up
3.6 per cent of all EFT Department staff in June 2003.
They provide curriculum and program support for the
school, and training and tertiary education sectors, and
policy advice and administrative services for the Ministers
and the Department’s Executive.

Office/authority

EFT

Equivalent full-time staff on pay, June 2003

Office of School Education (including regions)

954.4

Office of Training and Tertiary Education

205.0

Classification

Male

Female

Total

Female
(per cent)

School: Teaching
Primary
Secondary
Subtotal

4,141.5
8,047.4
12,188.9

15,904.9
10,722.6
26,627.4

20,046.4
18,770.0
38,816.4

79.3
57.1
68.6

752.9
90.3
0.2
843.4

8,195.5
344.0
0.7
8,540.2

8,948.5
434.3
0.9
9,383.6

91.6
79.2
–
91.0

Central office and regions
Teaching staff
40.5
Executive Officer
46.9
VPS
633.4
Ministerial staff
4.0
Other
8.0
Subtotal
732.7
Total
13,765.0

65.9
28.0
942.6
10.0
14.0
1,061.3
36,228.9

106.4
74.9
1,575.9
14.0
22.0
1,793.2
49,993.2

61.9
37.4
59.8
71.4
63.6
59.2
72.5

School: Non-teaching
School services officer
VPS
Other
Subtotal

Equivalent full-time staff by office and statutory authority
on pay, June 2003

Office of Portfolio Integration and the Secretary

203.0

Office of Finance Strategy and Resources

238.6

Ministerial offices
VCAA

14.0
149.7

Merit Protection Boards

5.8

VQA

22.7

Total

1793.2

Source: Department of Education & Training

Further workforce data can be found in Appendix 4 on
pages 135–7.

Source: Department of Education & Training
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School education
Services were provided through
a range of school structures:
– primary schools for Years P–6
– secondary colleges in Years 7–12, 7–10,
9–12 and 11–12 configurations
– primary–secondary schools in Years P–8,
P–10 and P–12 configurations
– specialist schools for students with
disabilities
– English language schools and centres,
the Victorian School of Languages and
other settings for students with specific
educational needs
– the Distance Education Centre of Victoria.

Framework
School education involves:
• policy development, regulation and management
of the Victorian government school system,
including provision of a safe and effective learning
environment staffed by appropriately trained and
qualified teachers and conducted in a properly
resourced and maintained physical environment
• high-quality curriculum delivery to prescribed
content and performance standards in the eight
Key Learning Areas in Years P–10 and in
accordance with the requirements of the VCE
and the VCAL in Years 11 and 12
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• provision of a range of programs specifically
designed to improve the quality of student learning
and school management
• provision of specialist services specifically
designed to improve the quality of student learning
and address student needs
• financial support to and regulation of nongovernment schooling.

Outlook
In May 2003, the Minister for Education and Training
announced that the Government intends to reform
Victoria’s education system (see page 3). A blueprint
for education is to be developed following extensive
consultation with the key education stakeholders,
including teachers, students and their parents.
As indicated in Budget Paper 3, 2003–04, the
Department committed to:
• implementing Government initiatives to address
additional demand and to maximise the policy
impact of existing resources
• maintaining reduced P–2 class sizes and providing
additional support for literacy and numeracy

Overview
Education in Victoria is compulsory for children
aged from six to 15 years. Children must be at least
five years of age by 30 April of the year in which
they enrol in school. All children are required to
attend school by the time they are six years old.
Traditionally, students have spent the first seven years
(P–6) of school education in a primary school, while
Years 7–12 were spent at secondary school. There has
been some variation on this standard organisational
model, particularly with the development of ‘junior’
and ‘senior’ secondary schools.
The first five years of schooling (P–4) are referred to
as the ‘early years’. They are chiefly concerned with
developing in each child the essential skills necessary
for ongoing progress in education. Literacy and
numeracy are widely recognised as foremost among
these foundation skills.
The ‘middle years’ of schooling (Years 5–9)
encompass the period when students generally make
the transition from primary to secondary school. This

Teachers use innovative ways to develop
numeracy skills in the early years

• strengthening school improvement and educational
outcomes in the middle and later years by
developing areas of specialisation and expanding
VET in Schools
• introducing welfare officers in primary schools
• supporting the teaching of languages by
establishing three Centres of Excellence in
secondary schools – two in metropolitan
Melbourne and one in regional Victoria – and five
additional Victorian School of Languages centres
in regional Victoria
• implementing a new professional development
program to improve the capacity of school
principals as educational leaders
• supporting needy non-government schools and
improving Internet access for non-government
schools
• developing a new funding and accountability
framework for non-government schools.
Supplementary school education data appears in
Appendix 2 on pages 129–30.

Zone 7 is a website designed
to ease student transition from
primary to secondary schooling
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School education

is now recognised as a fundamental stage of learning.
Students growing from childhood to adolescence
should not only consolidate competency in literacy
and numeracy, but attain a greater breadth of
knowledge and learning, including the capacity for
creative and critical thinking.
Post-compulsory education includes the final years
of schooling (Years 10–12), the ‘later years’. The
priority is to provide young people with effective and
varied pathways, whether their preferred destination
is further study, employment or a mixture of both.
While the VCE remains the mainstream qualification
for Years 11–12 students, other options are available,
including the VCAL.

Key learning areas
In 2002–03, schools continued to develop and
implement programs based on the eight Key Learning
Areas outlined in the CSF and in accordance with
targets and priorities for improved learning outcomes
for students.
The Key Learning Areas are:
• The Arts
• English, including English as a second language (ESL)
• Health and Physical Education
• Languages other than English (LOTE)
• Mathematics
• Science
• Studies of Society and Environment (SOSE)
• Technology.

Curriculum and Standards Framework
The CSF describes what students in Victorian schools
should know and be able to do at progressive levels
from P–10. It is organised in six levels.
Level 1

End of Prep Year

Level 2

End of Year 2

Level 3

End of Year 4

Level 4

End of Year 6

Level 5

End of Year 8

Level 6

End of Year 10

Student programs
Curriculum and student support policy frameworks are
developed to guide operations in schools and regions.
The overall aim is to support schools to provide
programs for students to enable them to participate
effectively in a diverse and changing world.
Support is based around the three stages of schooling
– the early years (P–4), the middle years (Years 5–9)
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and the later years (Years 10–12), and also for overall
student wellbeing.
Early years initiatives aim to enhance the literacy and
numeracy skills of students through the development
and dissemination of support frameworks and resources
that encompass pedagogy, content and assessment.
Middle years initiatives implemented in schools
included the Schools for Innovation and Excellence
initiative, the Access to Excellence initiative and the
continuation of the Restart initiative. These initiatives
focus on innovative curriculum, attendance,
retention, and student outcomes in literacy.
Support for schools in the planning and provision
of integrated pathways for post-compulsory students
continued to be developed, with the focus on the
provision of opportunities for students to pursue a
variety of pathways involving a mix of academic,
vocational education and training, and work options.
During 2001, a review of services for students with
special educational needs was undertaken. In
September 2002, the Government announced a
number of changes to the Program for Students with
Disabilities. These changes, to be implemented from
the start of 2004, have a common goal of ensuring
that students with special educational needs continue
to have access to support specifically designed to
meet their needs.

Early years
The objective of the Early Years strategy is to support
the continuing improvement in student achievement
in early years literacy and numeracy in P–4.
The early years fall within the primary education
output.

The Minister for Education and Training, Lynne Kosky, joins
Monbulk Primary School students for the launch of the
handwriting guide
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Performance measures: primary education (Years P–6)
Measure

Quantity
Average P–2 class size
Average Years 3–6 class size

2002 target

21.7

2002 actual

21.8

Comments (where appropriate)

Target of an average of 21 students in P–2
classes was met in May 2003.

25.0

24.8

Teacher–student ratio (primary)

1:16.6

1:16.5

Year 1 cohort accessing one-to-one literacy
intervention programs such as Reading Recovery

20.0%

19.6%

Schools with a 1:5 or better computer–student ratio (primary)

95%

78.5%

Primary teachers and principals with a notebook computer

95%

92.4%

Students accessing education through distance education (primary)

365

374

New arrival students receiving intensive or targeted support (primary)

825

1044

91.7%

91.7%

96%

93.4%

Students deemed as capable read unseen
text with 90 per cent accuracy at text level 1.

96%

95.7%

As above.

100%

97.9%

Students deemed as capable read unseen
text with 90 per cent accuracy at text level 5.

93%

96.2%

Eligible students in regular schools receiving ESL support (primary)
Quality
Student attainment at text level 1 at end of Prep in reading
(metropolitan and non-metropolitan regions)
Student attainment at text level 1 at end of Prep in reading
(non-metropolitan regions)
Student attainment at text level 5 at end of Year 1 in reading
(metropolitan and non-metropolitan regions)
Primary schools identified as performing at or above
expected levels as identified in the triennial review process

Following allocation to schools of
approximately 22,000 new computers early
in 2002, older computers were removed
from service.

Target exceeded due to the increased number
of new arrival students and extension of
provision in 2002.

Parent satisfaction with primary schooling

85%

85%

Primary teachers reporting routine use of learning technologies
in curriculum planning and delivery

85%

93.1%

This result and the data collected in earlier
years indicate a consistent increase in the
routine use of learning technologies.

2149.9

2220.3

Actual cost reflects enrolment growth and
additional government funding.

Cost
Total output cost ($ million)

Data refers to 2001 calendar year.
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Highlights

Assessment of reading Years P–2, 1998–2002*

• The Government target of an average of
21 students in P–2 classes was met in May 2003.

• School-based trainers supported the implementation of early years numeracy programs in regions.
• The percentage of government schools with a
trained early years numeracy coordinator increased
rapidly, with 92 per cent of schools having a
trained coordinator by December 2002.
• Early Years Literacy programs contributed to
improved achievement levels in reading for
students in Years P–2.
• Annual funding of $52 million continued to support
early years literacy coordination and the implementation of a one-to-one intervention program, such
as Reading Recovery, for students in Year 1.

90
80
70

Per cent

• Funding of $34.6 million over four years was
allocated in the 2002–03 State Budget to assist
in the provision of school-based coordination
to support the implementation of early years
numeracy. This funding commenced in 2003 and
was provided to schools through their global budgets.

100

60
50
40
30
20
10
0

Prep, level 5
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Year 1, level 15

1999

2000

Year 2, level 20
2001

2002

Reading levels continue to show an improvement in each year and at
each year level.
*Percentage of students reading text levels with more than 90 per cent
accuracy.

• Reading Recovery was implemented in 81 per cent
of schools with Year 1 enrolments, with participating students representing 19.6 per cent of the Year 1
cohort.

Source: Department of Education & Training

• The Researching Numeracy Teaching Approaches
in Primary Schools project (2001–03) was
completed, with findings and recommendations
to be published in the second half of 2003.

• Literacy and Numeracy Week was celebrated in
September 2002 with many school-based, regional
and statewide activities. National and State awards
profiled literacy and numeracy achievements in
schools. Support materials were provided to
Victorian schools as a resource for regional and
school-based events.

• Schools’ Television was used to provide early years
literacy and numeracy professional development,
with over 64 per cent of government primary schools
reporting that they accessed a recent program.

Middle years
Year 7 boys at Mooroopna Secondary College
enjoy reading to improve their literacy skills

Middle years initiatives relate to the primary
education and junior secondary education outputs.
The Middle Years strategy aims at improving student
outcomes in literacy, numeracy, attendance and
retention. Student engagement in their learning is
supported by improving pedagogy, curriculum,
assessment, school organisation and community
involvement.
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Performance measures: junior secondary education (Years 7–10)
Measure

2002 target

2002 actual

Comments (where appropriate)

Quantity
Secondary teacher–student ratio (all secondary)

1:12.4

1:12.4

Years 7–10 English class sizes of less than 26 students

84%

85.4%

Average rate of student attendance in Years 7–10

93%

90.2%

Data refers to 2001 calendar year.

Secondary schools with a 1:5 or better computer–student ratio

95%

76.2%

Following allocation to schools of approximately 22,000 new computers early in 2002,
older computers were removed from service.

Secondary teachers and principals with a notebook computer

95%

90.7%

Students accessing education through distance education
(all secondary)

3500

3190

755

872

95.2%

95.2%

75%

72%

Year 7 students reaching national benchmarks in English:
Reading (sample)

82%

Not available

National benchmarks for Year 7 are not yet
established by the Ministerial Council on
Education, Employment, Training and Youth
Affairs (MCEETYA).

Year 7 students reaching national benchmarks in English:
Writing (sample)

76%

Not available

As above.

Year 7 students reaching national benchmarks in Mathematics
(sample)

82%

Not available

As above.

Year 10 students assessed as meeting State standards for that
year level in English: Reading

81%

82.2%

Students assessed by teachers as
‘consolidating’ or ‘established’ at CSF level 6.

Year 10 students assessed as meeting State standards for that
year level in Mathematics: Chance & Data

74%

76.1%

As above.

77.5%

77.5%

Data refers to government schools only.

Years 10–12 apparent retention rate in non-metropolitan regions
(August 2002 census)

74%

73.6%

As above.

Parent satisfaction with secondary schooling (all secondary)

75%

75%

Secondary schools identified as performing at or above expected
levels as identified in the triennial review process

90%

91.3%

Secondary teachers reporting routine use of learning technologies
in curriculum planning and delivery

85%

93.9%

This result and the data collected in earlier
years indicate a consistent increase in the
routine use of learning technologies.

1313.2

1375.6

Actual cost reflects enrolment growth and
additional government funding.

New arrival students receiving intensive or targeted support
(all secondary)
Eligible students in regular schools receiving ESL support
(all secondary)
Quality
Restart participants assessed by teachers as ‘consolidating’
or above at CSF level 4 in English: Reading at the end of Year 7

Years 10–12 apparent retention rate (August 2002 census)

Cost
Total output cost ($ million)

Highlights
• In 2003, 70 clusters of primary and secondary
schools were funded under the Schools for
Innovation and Excellence initiative, aimed at
increasing the pace of innovation in teaching and
learning. A leadership forum was held for over
500 personnel involved in the initiative.

Target exceeded due to the increased number
of new arrival students and extension of
provision in 2002.

Data refers to 2001 calendar year.

• The Access to Excellence initiative provided
funding for the employment of 300 teachers in
118 secondary schools to improve students’
literacy and numeracy skills, reduce absenteeism,
and keep students engaged and stimulated at
school.
• The Restart initiative resulted in 72 per cent of
participating Year 7 students making significant
improvement to their literacy levels.
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• The Middle Years Reform program provided
funding to all schools with students in Years 7–9 for
the employment of approximately 220 additional
teachers.

• Professional development sessions for middle years
literacy leaders and middle years numeracy leaders
were held and ten programs on middle years issues
were broadcast on Schools’ Television.

• The student action team evaluation confirmed that
this initiative contributed to positive changes in
students’ knowledge, skills, attitudes and connections with peers, teachers and the community.

• The Middle Years Pedagogy Research and
Development project, which will provide direction
and support for reforming pedagogical practice in
schools, commenced.

Performance measures: senior secondary education (Years 11–12)
Measure

Quantity
Students participating in VCE VET programs
Average number of VCE studies provided per school

27,000

2002 actual

28,306

Comments (where appropriate)

Data refers to government and nongovernment schools.

26.7

26.9

Annual student contact hours in VCE VET programs (million)

6.8

6.774

Data refers to government and nongovernment schools.

Students accessing technology-enabled curriculum choices

3000

1860

Measure may have been affected by improved
staffing levels, which reduced the need for
alternative delivery, other distance education
options and reduced use of videoconferencing.

Quality
Students continuing past Year 10 in VCAL sites

90%

95.5%

Students satisfactorily completing the VCAL

50%

67%

90.0%

86.8%
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29.1

10,100

11,401

Data refers to government and nongovernment schools.

5%

5.03%

As above.

Average rate of student attendance in Years 11–12

93%

90.8%

As above.

Years 7–12 apparent retention rate (August 2002 census)

75%

74.4%

Data refers to government schools only.

Years 7–12 apparent retention rate in non-metropolitan regions
(August 2002 census)

68%

67.3%

As above.

Government school students in Years 10–12 with a MIP plan

60%

84%

Students leaving government schools after Year 9 but before
completing Year 12 who were tracked by a school six months
after exiting

50%

Not available

657.1

705.0

VCE VET students progressing to further education, training or work

Median VCE study score
VCE VET students completing a qualification
Enrolments in VCE VET as a proportion of total VCE unit enrolments

Cost
Total output cost ($ million)
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2002 target

Data includes government and nongovernment schools. It does not include
former students who are undertaking parttime work but are not engaged in further study
or are unemployed.

The number of school students with a MIP
plan has continued to increase since
implementation in 2001.

Actual cost reflects enrolment growth and
additional government funding.
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Later years
Later years initiatives relate to the junior secondary
education and senior secondary education outputs.
The Later Years strategy has two main objectives:
to support programs that provide post-compulsory
students with a range of pathways leading to further
education, training or work, and to improve student
engagement, participation and completion of postcompulsory education.

This report is part of an ongoing
study into the implementation of the
VET in Schools program in Victoria.
It documents the variety of study
and labour market destinations of
the 2000 VCE VET students

Highlights
• VCE VET enrolments increased from 24,686 in
2001 to 28,306 in 2002 across all sectors, with
19,018 enrolments in government schools. In
2002, 11,401 students completed a VET
qualification, exceeding the target of 10,100
students.
• The number of students participating in schoolbased new apprenticeships increased to 1280 in
2002. The number of schools participating in this
initiative increased to 254. Fourteen regional
personnel were employed to assist in promoting
school-based new apprenticeships and increase the
number of students in this pathway.
• MIP plans were developed for 84 per cent of
Years 10–12 students, well in excess of the target
of 60 per cent. The total funding allocated to
schools for 2002 was over $14 million.
• Professional development sessions provided
600 school-based personnel with a practical
understanding of the strategies that can be used
to improve the levels of student engagement and
participation in schools.

• A review of workplace learning was undertaken
from March to May 2003, focusing on issues
relating to duty of care and occupational health
and safety. A number of key stakeholders were
consulted.
• Professional development programs on vocational
learning in Years 7–10 were provided to 429
teachers in 143 schools. Programs focused on
increasing engagement and retention of students.
• The On Track destination data provided a picture of
the diversity of pathways young people pursue after
leaving school. Some 35,000, 2002 Year 12
students from government and non-government
schools were contacted as part of this initiative.

VET in Schools
VET in Schools programs are an important part of the
Government’s strategy to provide post-compulsory
students with a wide range of options in the senior
years of schooling. These include:
• VCE VET, where students undertake their VCE
and a nationally recognised VET certificate
• School-based new apprenticeships and
traineeships, where students undertake an
apprenticeship or traineeship as part of their VCE
• VCAL students undertaking a nationally recognised
certificate as part of their course
• Block credit arrangements for recognition of
training certificates within the VCE or the VCAL.
TAFE institutions and LLENs play a significant role
in supporting VET in Schools programs.
There has been a significant growth in VET in
Schools programs.
• The number of enrolments in VET in Schools
programs increased from 24,526 in 2001 to 28,306
in 2002, an increase of 15.4 per cent.
• Enrolments increased from 458 in 1994, the first
year of the program, to 28,306 in 2002.

Corey completed his VCE in 2002 at Colac Secondary
College. Corey secured a four-year apprenticeship with a
Colac plastering firm and attends school one day per week

• The number of accredited programs grew from
three in 1994 to 32 in 2002.
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• The number of secondary schools providing
programs increased from 19 in 1994 to 467 in 2002.
• The number of students enrolled in a school-based
new apprenticeship increased from 899 in 2001
to 1280 in 2002, an increase of 42 per cent.
The success of this program is best demonstrated
through the results from the destination surveys
conducted by the University of Melbourne. The latest
report into the destinations of the 2001 VET in
Schools students is shown in the pie chart below.

VCE and VCAL performance
The VCE and the VCAL both provide pathways for
students in Years 11 and 12. The VCAL was trialed
in 2002 and now provides an alternative pathway
for post-compulsory students.

Highlights
• In 2002, 144,834 students were enrolled in at
least one unit of the VCE (including 31,846
students at Year 10 or earlier) at 520 secondary
schools (315 government, 87 Catholic and 118
independent) as well as 29 adult VCE providers.
• 48,561 students (96.6 per cent) of those who
enrolled in a program that allowed them to
complete the VCE were successful.
• The VCAL trial project was successfully completed
in December 2002. A total of 546 students enrolled
in the VCAL at 22 trial sites. Sixty-seven per cent of
students successfully completed the certificate or
made successful transitions to apprenticeships,
traineeships and other employment.

• In 2003, the VCAL was extended statewide to 172
government schools, 32 Catholic schools, 17 TAFE
institutions and four ACE organisations.

Special initiatives
The Department implements a number of key
initiatives that target particular groups of students,
including those from Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander background, those from language
backgrounds other than English, gifted students, and
boys and girls at risk of not reaching their potential
because of gender-related issues or attributes.
Other key initiatives target specific areas of the
curriculum, such as the use of ICT to support learning,
science, health and physical education, and the arts.
A new Strategic Partnerships program was
implemented in 2003. This followed a review into the
provision of funding for a wide range of subject and
cultural organisations that operate in partnership with
the Department to provide support for schools.
Through these initiatives, the Department assists
schools to enhance the quality of life of all students
as well as meeting the needs of particular students.

Koorie education
Koorie education initiatives are designed to support
improved educational outcomes for Koorie students,
and increase all students’ knowledge and understanding of Indigenous cultures and issues.

Destinations of VET in Schools students, 2001

3.9% Completing or repeating VCE

2.8% Unemployed

10.3% Part-time work
32.8% Further education
15.0% Apprenticeship
or traineeship

15.1% Full-time work
20.0% University

The success of VET in Schools programs is demonstrated by results from destination surveys conducted by the University of Melbourne.
Source: University of Melbourne
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Student outcomes from the VCAL trial project, 2002

4% Unknown
14% TAFE or ACE

36% VCAL
18% VCE

28% Apprenticeships/
traineeships/other employment
The VCAL provides an alternative pathway to the VCE for students in the post-compulsory years.
Source: Department of Education & Training

• The Koorie Middle Years Numeracy project
was established in eight school communities
to improve Koorie students’ numeracy skills.
The project uses videoconferencing as a tool.

Highlights
• Six Koorie home school liaison officers
commenced in 2003 to support targeted school
communities to improve Koorie students’
attendance.
• Fifteen school-based Koorie educators also
commenced in 2003 and are working to improve
the retention rates of Koorie students.

• Ten Koorie education workers graduated in the
Certificate III in Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander Education. A further 20 workers are
continuing with their studies.
• A conference, Raising the Bar, was held to provide
professional development and identify further
support mechanisms for Koorie teachers.

Duncan’s VCAL program at Corio Bay Senior
College is designed to give him hands-on
experience in horticulture and a chance to learn
some of the technical skills required to become
a landscape gardener

Students from Box Forest Secondary College’s Koorie Open Door
Education campus in Glenroy perform a dance at the Peter Clarke
Teaching for Reconciliation Awards
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New arrivals at Blackburn English Language School benefit
from the work of outreach services coordinators

English as a second language
ESL initiatives improve provision and targeted
support for new arrival ESL students, including those
in isolated settings, and provide ongoing support
to these students for up to seven years.

Highlights
• Intensive ESL programs were provided for 1580
newly arrived students in English language
schools and centres and outposting programs.
An additional 151 students were supported by the
visiting outposting program. These programs assist
in the transition of students to mainstream schools.
• A further 185 students were supported through
new arrivals programs in Geelong and Shepparton,
and the isolated ESL students program in regional
Victoria. An ESL school cluster was also established
in Mildura.
• The introduction of outreach coordinators in the
four metropolitan regions strengthened support
for new arrival students in mainstream schools.
• A video, support materials and professional
development modules were developed to support
ESL learners who had experienced disrupted
schooling.
• $24.5 million was allocated to 345 primary schools,
109 secondary schools and eight primary–secondary
schools to provide ongoing support for ESL learners.
In addition, 238 EFT multicultural education aides
were allocated to schools.
• There were 7877 on-site and telephone interpreting assignments provided in 64 languages, and
529 documents were translated into 39 languages
for government schools.
• Additional ESL support was provided through
professional development programs for 425
teachers and 143 multicultural education aides.

Languages
Languages initiatives provide high-quality languages
education for all students.

Parkwood Secondary College student Linda practises
writing her name in Japanese

Languages for Victoria’s Future, the report of the LOTE
analysis, was released in October 2002. The report
examined the future of languages education in Victoria
and included recommendations to strengthen
languages education, particularly in country areas
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Highlights
• Eighteen languages were taught in government
primary schools, and a further 44 through the
Victorian School of Languages.
• Approximately 31,000 students were learning
50 languages in after-hours ethnic schools.
• Regions are developing network language plans
to facilitate more coordinated delivery of languages
at the local level.

Cultural and linguistic diversity and
citizenship
Cultural and linguistic diversity and citizenship
initiatives support schools to provide culturally
inclusive programs, promote understanding and
appreciation of Australia’s social and political
heritage, and to encourage active citizenship and
harmonious relationships in our culturally diverse,
democratic community.

Highlights
• Professional development programs on anti-racism
education and multicultural perspectives across the
curriculum were provided for over 900 teachers.
• Cultural Diversity Week (17–23 March 2003) was
celebrated for the first time by Victorian schools.
• Resources were distributed to government schools
to support the celebration of the International Day
of Peace (21 September 2002).
• The Courage to Care exhibition and workshop
programs held in Warrnambool and Ringwood
attracted more than 2500 students.

• Discovering Democracy professional development
grants were provided to 59 schools.
• Professional development in civics and citizenship
education was provided for over 1800 teachers.
• Schools and teachers were recognised through the
presentation of awards during Celebrating
Democracy Week (23–29 October 2002).
• Schools’ Constitutional Conventions were staged
for more than 2000 students in Victoria, and 25
students represented Victoria at the National
Convention.

Information and communication
technology
ICT initiatives embed systemic change in the
integration of ICT in teaching, learning and school
management practices across all stages of schooling.

Highlights
• Nearly 94 per cent of secondary teachers and
93 per cent of primary teachers reported routine
use of learning technologies in curriculum
planning and delivery.
• A research project found that 95 per cent of
teachers and 100 per cent of principals indicated
that the notebook computers program had
increased their skill in the use of computers for
teaching and learning.
• Professional development programs supported
teachers in primary and secondary schools to use
ICT for planning and reporting to parents.

African drummer and storyteller Isaac Paa Brown gets Ringwood Heights Primary
School students into the beat as part of the school’s cultural diversity program
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• ICT industry partnerships supported 30 Year 11
students with outstanding capabilities in ICT for
a three-week industry placement.
• Partnerships with the ICT industry supported
the ICT Achievers program, which promoted
innovative and enterprising ICT curriculum for
Years 9 and 10 students.
• The Department collaborated with Intel to provide
a professional development program integrating
ICT into the curriculum.
• The Department continued its partnership with
IBM through the Reinventing Education program
involving 26 schools.
• The Technical Support to Schools program was
evaluated and 300 specialist technicians continue
to provide routine and operational technical
support to schools.
• Improved Internet access was made available to
over 800 schools that were within range of ADSLenabled telephone exchanges.
• Over 81 per cent of schools use the Computerised
Administrative Systems Environment in Schools
(CASES21) Student Administration Module.
Virtually all schools will be using CASES21 for
student administration by the end
of 2003. Work to customise
the finance component
of CASES21 is proceeding
following a
successful trial
in 2002.

CASES Training and Support Officers, Jonathan Young and
Geraldine Jenkins, lead a training session for school services
officers on the use of CASES21

Science in schools
Science in schools initiatives support schools to foster
a culture of innovation and improvement by engaging
students in exciting science and technology learning
and providing opportunities for students to be
creative and inventive.

Highlights
• The Science in Schools research project was
completed and identified significant improvements
in the teaching and learning of science in
participating schools. One hundred new schools
began the implementation of the three-year change
model, School Innovation in Science.
• Three thousand teachers in 175 schools
participated in the Science in Schools professional
development program. Sixty teachers graduated
in the Graduate Certificate in Science Teaching
(primary) course.
• The Teachers of Technology and Science in Industry
pilot program was completed by 28 secondary
teachers.
• Links were established with over 200 business
and tertiary organisations through the Community
Partnerships program.
• Ninety-seven schools participated in the Scientists
and Engineers in Schools program.
• An external evaluation of the Science in Schools
strategy was completed. The evaluation indicated
a positive outcome for the strategy and provided
recommendations for future directions.

Ian Porter (back right) with the Mornington Secondary College
team that provided computer ‘helpdesk’ support to delegates
using the wireless network at the Edutech Conference at the
Melbourne Exhibition Centre in August 2002
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Dean Goodridge works his science magic in a middle
year classroom at Kangaroo Flat Secondary College

Along with families, schools play an important role in teaching
young people the knowledge, skills and attitudes they need to
develop healthy eating habits

Health, physical and sport education

Highlights

Health, physical and sport education initiatives
promote and support the teaching and learning of
health, physical, sport and traffic safety education.
A key focus has been on promoting the benefits of
physical activity and healthy eating habits for
students and the community.

• Award programs were conducted for students
and teachers, including the State ‘Blues’ Awards,
regional school sports awards, and the Pierre
de Coubertin Awards for secondary students.

Highlights
• Over 1700 teachers accessed professional
development programs, supporting the teaching
and learning of health, physical, sport and traffic
safety education.
• Resources were developed to support innovative
teaching and learning practices, including
curriculum@work learning sequences and Traffic
Safety Matters newsletters.

• Sports programs for students and teachers were
provided, including interschool and interstate
sporting opportunities through School Sport
Victoria, the Sportspersons in Schools program
and the School Sport Linkages project.
• Planning has commenced for the Pacific School
Games to be staged in Melbourne in November
2005. More than 3000 students from around
Australia and up to 30 Pacific region nations
are expected to participate.

The Arts

• Students and their parents were provided with
copies of a ‘Smart Eating’ brochure to encourage
them to develop healthy and nutritious eating
habits.

Arts initiatives provide support to schools about
teaching and learning in the arts.

• Guidelines were developed and provided for
school canteens that recommended school
councils develop policies to offer healthy food
in canteens. Lists of recommended foods were
included, and teachers, students and parents are
being encouraged to work together to make
healthy eating part of the school culture.

• A draft background paper on creativity and the
arts was developed highlighting new developments
in arts education and the value of creativity in
teaching and learning.

School Sport Victoria and Pacific School
Games

The gender education initiatives provide advice on
gender issues in education to school communities
and across government, and develop programs to
support teaching and learning about gender issues.

School sport initiatives enable the Victorian Primary
Schools’ Sports Association and the Victorian
Secondary Schools’ Sports Association to run programs
at the district, zone, state and national levels.

Highlights

• The Artists in Schools program was enhanced
by the participation of an extra 20 schools.

Gender education
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Wellington Secondary College teacher Kylie Griffin,
pictured with students (from right) Sam, Anthony, Nicole
and Shelley, wants more boys to do health studies

Highlights

Strategic partnerships

• Anger Management: A Gendered Approach, an
action research and curriculum initiative, was
implemented in 14 primary schools.

Strategic partnerships initiatives provide pathways
connecting teaching and learning experiences to the
wider community. These partnerships assist with the
development of positive learning outcomes for
students.

• Ms.Dot.Com, a mentoring/ICT industry placement
program involving Year 10 girls, was developed.
• The Young Women’s Leadership Forum at
Parliament House, Melbourne, was attended
by 100 Year 10 girls from 16 Victorian schools.

Gifted education
Gifted education initiatives support school
communities to work effectively with gifted students.
A broad definition of high potential is used and
includes students who are at risk and underachieving
through to those already achieving at a high level.

Highlights
• Fifty local gifted education networks were
supported through professional development and
funding. These networks support gifted students,
their teachers and parents from local schools.
• Professional development activities focusing on
the education of high-potential students, targeting
teachers, guidance officers and principals, were
provided for more than 1500 professionals.
• Ten Koorie educators were trained in the
identification of gifted Koorie students.
• Four additional secondary schools gained approval
to become accelerated learning program schools,
bringing the total number of schools in the
program to 26.
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Students are encouraged to talk about their concerns
with teachers and student welfare coordinators

Highlights
• Grants were provided to 91 cultural organisations,
professional teacher associations and other
education service providers under one- and threeyear funding arrangements. These grants commenced
on 1 January 2003 through service agreements that
included detailed program outcomes.
• Six Strategic Partnerships program networks were
established representing environmental education,
the performing arts, rural and regional Victoria,
science and society, visual arts design and media,
and the Council of Professional Teaching
Associations of Victoria.

Student support
The health and wellbeing of all students is being
extended through a strengthened and systematic
approach that encompasses school and classroombased approaches, student welfare support structures
and links to community agencies.

Student wellbeing
Student wellbeing initiatives support schools in the
implementation of the Framework for Student Support
Services in Victorian Government Schools by the
development of policies and resources based on
research. The cohort of students who experience
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significant difficulties with mainstream schooling and
have specialised needs are supported by alternative
programs.

Highlights
• The delivery of student support services was
reviewed to ensure that students are provided with
additional support services to meet specialised
needs, including alternative programs.
• Ninety-five per cent of students were engaged
in training, education and employment on
completion of an alternative program (target
was 90 per cent).
• A major statewide professional development strategy
for all schools was conducted on suicide prevention
and to support the dissemination of the School
Transition And Resilience Training (START) resource
and Volatile Solvents: A Resource for Schools.
• An agreement was established between the
Department and the ACE sector, enabling
students under 15 years of age to enrol in
an ACE organisation to further their education.

Highlights
• The Auditor-General completed a program audit
of drug education in government schools and
concluded that Individual School Drug Education
strategies are well-designed and comply with
Department guidelines. The report also concluded
that virtually all government school teachers who
teach drug education have received appropriate
professional development in drug education.
• The Department has developed an action plan to
address the key recommendations of the report.
This includes reviewing the monitoring and
accountability of non-government schools,
ensuring that secondary schools deliver a
minimum of ten hours drug-specific education
at Years 7 and 8, ensuring that schools share
best practice and implement effective drug
education at Years 11 and 12, and monitoring
the implementation of drug education in terms
of student outcomes.

• A number of new initiatives addressing the
needs of students with infrequent and irregular
attendance were forged with other State
Government jurisdictions.

Drug education

In conjunction with the Department of Human
Services, the Department of Education & Training
developed the Partnering Agreement: School
Attendance and Engagement of Children and
Young People in Out of Home Care to improve the
educational experience and outcomes of children
and young people in these situations

Drug education initiatives develop strategies
to further enhance the quality of statewide drug
education and to monitor and evaluate drug
education in schools. Schools are supported in
developing and reviewing their Individual School
Drug Education strategy.

Performance measures: student welfare and support
Measure

Quantity
Government schools meeting the minimum requirements
of the Framework for Student Support Services in Victorian
Government Schools

2002 target

2002 actual

98%

96.5%

100%

99%

Students who participated in an alternative program who, on
completion, are engaged in education, training or employment

90%

95%

School satisfaction with student support services

82%

77%

Parents participating in drug education activities who believe
they will be better able to address drug-related issues with
their children

85%

90%

76.1

73.8

Quality
Government schools that have completed an Individual
School Drug Education strategy or an action plan as part
of the review process

Cost
Total output cost ($ million)

Comments (where appropriate)
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accountability frameworks for schools. The
Department collects and disseminates performance
information at school and system levels, and
develops effective improvement strategies for schools.

Students with disabilities
Students with high needs and/or at risk of becoming
disengaged from learning are provided with
additional resources and support through the
Program for Students with Disabilities. Students with
disabilities may attend a specialist school or a regular
school or a combination of schools. A systemic
approach is being used to design and develop
programs and strategies to support students with
special needs through targeted programs that
strengthen the capacity of schools, families and
regions to improve student outcomes.

The three key components of this accountability
framework are the:
• school charter – a statement of the school’s goals
and priorities aimed at continuous improvement
in standards of achievement throughout all areas
of school life
• annual report – a yearly progress report on the
school’s achievements towards the goals and
priorities set out in their school charter

Number of students with disabilities in government
schools, April 2003
Regular schools
Specialist schools
Total students with disabilities

12,338.9 full-time equivalent students
6,109.2 full-time equivalent students
18,448.1 full-time equivalent students

Highlight

• triennial school review report – a report by an
external evaluator on performance trends that
emerge from the school’s data, with findings
contributing to recommendations for future charters.
The relationship between each component is shown
in the diagram.
School accountability framework

• Two new facilities for deaf students were hosted by
regular schools.
School charter
Planning

Monitoring

Student outcomes
Improving student outcomes in government schools
is a priority of the Department. This includes
the development of strategies to support school
improvement and accountability, innovation initiatives,
networked and ‘joined-up’ education provision within
local communities, and statistical analysis.

Triennial
school review
Reviewing
Management
information

Through an integrated system of planning,
monitoring, reporting and review, school
improvement and accountability is used to establish
standards of student achievement and to provide

Monitoring

Monitoring

School improvement and
accountability

Annual report
Reporting

Annual report
Reporting

Performance measures: students with disabilities
Measure

2002 target

2002 actual

3%

3.3%

Regular schools with students with disabilities

89%

91%

Quality
Parent satisfaction with special education

92%

91%

258.1

284.6

Comments (where appropriate)

Quantity
Students funded under the Program for Students with
Disabilities in government schools as a proportion of the
total student population

Cost
Total output cost ($ million)
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Data refers to 2001 calendar year.
Actual cost reflects enrolment growth
and additional government funding.
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Highlights
• The major focus has been to refine and develop
existing school-level quality assurance processes
to enhance the capacity of schools to manage
improvement. The basis on which these processes
operate is the school’s performance data. A key
activity has been to improve the quality and
presentation of data in the school-level report.

In October 2002, the Minister for Education
and Training, Lynne Kosky, released Improved
Educational Outcomes: A Better Reporting and
Accountability System for Schools. Parents and
students are better informed about learning
progress and the public has been provided with
more information about school performance

• The school-level report is provided to each school
and contains a comprehensive summary of all the
key school data sets required for annual reporting
and performance evaluation. This year has seen
the integration of the school-level report with the
school annual report.
• Accountability processes for Government-funded
initiatives were strengthened by the introduction
of the school compact. The compact indicates the
outcomes and targets a school expects to achieve
in specified programs and the measures that will
be used to evaluate success. Compacts cover the
following Government initiatives – Early Years
Literacy, Early Years Numeracy, Literacy Intervention,
Schools for Innovation and Excellence, Middle Years
Reform program, Access to Excellence, Restart,
MIP and the VCAL. Compacts were developed by
schools and signed off by the principal, school
council president and regional director.
• Schools preparing new charters focused more
rigorously on setting targets for performance
outcomes over the coming three years. School
targets are now aligned with the Government’s
goals and targets.

School and community partnerships
New and innovative relationships continue to be
established within the education and training system
with stakeholder organisations and communities.
Collaborative partnerships have been fundamental
to the development of enhanced learning experiences
for students, particularly beyond the school
environment.

Highlights
• In 2002, regional offices and schools operated
64 network groups across Victoria, ranging in size
from seven to 65 schools.
• ‘Joined-up’ delivery between government
departments is increasingly evident in new
projects such as the Victorian Greenhouse Strategy
where, in partnership with the Department of
Infrastructure, 34 schools are participating in
strategies to encourage children to walk to school.
• The Department of Education & Training and the
Department of Human Services jointly delivered
Best Start and the School Focused Youth Service.

• Best Start, launched in September 2002, is a
prevention and early intervention program that
aims to improve the health, development, learning
and wellbeing of all Victorian children from birth
to eight years. Eleven demonstration projects
across Victoria were established involving State
Government agencies, local government,
community groups, parents, school communities
and health professionals working collaboratively.
• The School Focused Youth Service is a program
that supports at risk young people through the
development of a coordinated service response
between schools and relevant community agencies.
The Department contributes $1.02 million annually
to this service.
• In 2001, the Victorian Government and Westfield
Holdings Ltd announced five $24,000 scholarships
to Victorian teachers for each of the next five years
to support and encourage educational and cultural
exchange between Victoria and other countries,
explore successful models of school–community
partnerships, and to bring this learning to the
Victorian education system. In 2002, five scholarship
recipients travelled to the United Kingdom, the
United States, Canada and the Netherlands to
research a range of successful programs.

School councils
Informed and empowered school councils have
significant potential to build community capacity.
School councils play a key role in the effectiveness
of government schools in Victoria by:
• engaging the local community in the life of the
school
• setting the vision, strategic direction and identity
of the school
• ensuring sound governance of the school
• reporting annually to the school community and
the Department on the activities of the school.
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Performance measures: Education Maintenance Allowance
Measure

2002 target

2002 actual

207,000

199,914

100%

100%

33.8

32.6

Quantity
School students receiving the EMA
Timeliness
EMA payments processed according to published timelines
Cost
Total output cost ($ million)

Highlights
• The timing of school council elections was
changed in 2003 to allow the election process
to begin any time from the start of Term 1. School
council elections must conclude by 31 March.
• Regional offices continued to provide induction
and professional development programs for school
councillors.
• At the May 2003 Education Week Gala Dinner,
retiring school councillors who have served 15
years or more were presented with certificates
of service. School councillors who had served
between five and 15 years were acknowledged
at regional functions during Education Week.

Support for families
Low-income families continued to receive support
through the EMA.
The EMA is paid in two instalments each year.
A parent or guardian must be an eligible beneficiary
of a Centrelink pension, allowance or benefit within
the meaning of the State Concessions Act 1986, or
be a Veterans Affairs pensioner, or be a foster parent
on the first day of Term 1 and Term 3 respectively to
be eligible for the allowance.
For 2003, eligibility for the EMA was broadened by
the Government to include families who were

The social competencies initiative was
developed to ensure that all students leave
school literate, numerate, socially competent
and progress to further education, training
or employment. This publication illustrates
how students’ learning, social functioning
and wellbeing are brought together when
school communities support and engage
their members
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Comments (where appropriate)

Actual cost reflects a lower-thanexpected number of EMA applications.

affected by the drought and were in receipt of the
Farm Business Support Grant that was obtained
through the Rural Finance Corporation. Families
severely affected by the bushfires were also eligible
to apply for the EMA if they were in receipt of the
Bushfire Re-establishment Grant.

Highlights
• In 2002, payments were made to 144,772 eligible
parents or guardians of Victorian students under
the EMA.
• In January 2003, the Department developed and
implemented a new web-based system to assist
government and non-government schools process
applications for the EMA. The new system has
streamlined processes and sped up the payment
cycles. It also provided schools with additional
information about the status of applications to
assist in communication with parents/guardians.

Social competencies
The social competencies initiative was launched in
November 2002 to support schools to provide for
the broad, integrated development of young people,
acknowledging the centrality of social and emotional
learning to academic success. The initiative involves
a three-year pilot project in 19 schools. These schools
are trialing an innovative improvement model that
embeds social competence in school activities.
Issues of bullying behaviour and student management
are addressed as part of a school’s overall duty of
care for the wellbeing and learning of all students.
Since 2000, all schools have been required to have
strategies to ensure that the learning environment is
safe and supportive.

Highlights
• A publication titled Social Competence: A
Whole School Approach to Linking Learning
and Wellbeing was distributed to schools.
• In 2002, a Parent Zone section was added to the
Department’s anti-bullying website. It provides
information and strategies for parents wishing to
raise issues of bullying in their child’s school.
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A paved covered way from the main school buildings at Melbourne Girls’
College provides access to the new performing arts centre

Wide bands of glazing admit an abundance
of natural light in the new classroom wing
at Southern Cross Primary School at
Endeavour Hills

School funding
In 2003, $3.2 billion was allocated to government
schools through school global budgets to meet
teacher salaries and other operating costs in schools
and to fund initiatives that assist in meeting
Government goals and targets.
Following extensive consultations with stakeholders
through the School Global Budget Consultative
Committee, the 2003 school global budget built on
the funding model introduced in 2002, with several
refinements introduced to improve transparency and
simplicity.
As in 2002, the 2003 model is underpinned by a
common allocation for each entitlement teacher
to fund leadership and teaching salaries, and a size
supplement that recognises the differing management
and leadership needs of schools as they grow larger.
It also includes additional support, through Salary
Profile Factor funding, to assist schools that have
high-cost salary profiles relating to teachers at the top
of their incremental salary scale.

Facilities and
infrastructure
The 2002–03 State Budget committed $197 million
in new capital funding for school education.
The commitment included funding of:
• $24.6 million for new and replacement schools
• $145.3 million for modernisation and
improvement of existing school sites
• $19.7 million for projects in Labor’s Financial
strategy, including one P–12 school and four
secondary colleges
• $7.5 million for reinstatement of facilities at
four schools damaged or destroyed by fire.

By 2004, all schools will have the option of offering
the VCAL to their Years 11 and 12 students

The funding model uses formulae linked to student
enrolments. To assist school planning, refinements
were made in 2003 to remove several large funding
steps that occurred at certain enrolment points.
Some structural changes were also made to improve
transparency and assist schools in identifying their
teacher-relief funding within the model.
A range of funded initiatives, such as literacy
coordination and the Middle Years Reform program,
have been classified as core programs within the
school global budget to provide added certainty
for schools and to recognise the ongoing nature of
these programs.
Initiatives included in the 2003 school global budget
were additional funding for the P–2 class sizes
program, and new funding for the Early Years
Numeracy program, the Access to Excellence
initiative and the VCAL.
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Emergency and security management
A bushfire response and recovery program for
affected schools in Goulburn North Eastern Region
and Gippsland Region was implemented. The start
of the school year was delayed for some of these
schools due to the bushfire situation.
There were also four school fires (Boronia Primary
School, Hurstbridge Primary School, Mount Waverley
Secondary College and Wodonga High School
Flying Fruit Fly Circus Campus) for which response,
recovery and insurance processes were implemented.
The development of an intruder detection system that
uses the VicOne Intranet site was piloted and 344
systems were installed by 30 June 2003. Each year
4500 alarm systems are monitored.

Student transport
The free school bus service, administered by
the Department of Infrastructure on behalf of the
Department of Education & Training, carries
approximately 73,000 students daily.
New rates of payment were introduced for Semester 1,
2003. These resulted from the implementation of

recommendations from the Review of School Bus
Services, conducted in 2000–01. The key change was
the introduction of new distance-based scales of payment for conveyance allowances. The basic eligibility
criteria for free bus travel and conveyance allowance
of a student attending the nearest school and travelling
more than 4.8 kilometres remain the same.
In Semester 1, 2003, more than 42,000 government
and non-government school students received conveyance allowances. These allowances totalled over
$19 million in 2002–03. These allowances are paid
to eligible students to assist with travel costs where
access to free school bus services is not available.
The Department also provides transport for students
attending specialist schools. In 2002–03, approximately 5900 students were transported by bus and
taxis to these schools at a cost of almost $25 million.

School regions
The nine regional directors are accountable for
supporting and building the capacity of schools to
deliver high-quality educational services and better
student outcomes.
Regions are responsible for:
• planning, implementing and evaluating key
educational initiatives

Conveyance allowances are available to
assist with the cost of travel to schools.
These allowances are available to eligible
students attending government and nongovernment schools in all country and
designated outer-metropolitan areas and
apply to travel by public transport, private
bus and private car

• overseeing the successful function of government
primary, secondary and specialist schools for a
designated part of the State
• implementing policies, plans and procedures
• providing advice to the Department on key issues
facing the operation of schools and student
outcomes
• leading or participating in joined-up government
to achieve Government goals for school
improvement, student outcomes and innovation

Performance measures: student transport
Measure

2002 target

2002 actual

Quantity
School students (government) supported by a conveyance allowance

11,500

11,393

School students (non-government) supported by a conveyance allowance

28,000

27,142

Eligible special school students provided with appropriate travel

5800

5900

Timeliness
Payments made according to published schedule

100%

100%

53.1

59.1

Cost
Total output cost ($ million)
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Comments (where appropriate)

Actual cost reflects the introduction of
new bus services.
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• supporting schools in the development of their
charters and compacts and providing strategic
intervention where schools are identified as
requiring assistance to achieve set targets and
standards

School regions in 2003

• fostering increased community involvement and
school community partnerships, links with other
education and government organisations and
collaborative networks, including LLENs.

Loddon
Campaspe
Mallee

Central
Highlands
Wimmera

Metropolitan regions

Goulburn North
Eastern

Western Metropolitan Region
Rob Blachford
Regional Director
407 Royal Parade
Parkville Victoria 3052
PO Box 57
Carlton South Victoria 3053
Telephone: (03) 9291 6500
Facsimile: (03) 9291 6555

Gippsland

Barwon South Western

Eastern Metropolitan
Southern Metropolitan

Western Metropolitan
Northern Metropolitan

Northern Metropolitan Region
Eastern Metropolitan Region

Victoria Triggs
Regional Director
582 Heidelberg Road
Locked Bag 88
Fairfield Victoria 3078
Telephone: (03) 9488 9488
Facsimile: (03) 9488 9400

Ross Kimber
Regional Director
29 Lakeside Drive
Burwood East Victoria 3151
Telephone: (03) 9881 0200
Facsimile: (03) 9881 0243

Profile of government school regions, Victoria, 2002 and 2003
February Census 2003
Region

Schools

Students

August Census 2002

Apparent

Average class

retention rate

size

LBOTE*

Koorie

(EFT)

10–12

7–12

P–2

All primary

(EFT)

(EFT)

Western Metropolitan

139

63,014.3

83.5

83.0

21.7

23.4

27,509.2

452.0

Northern Metropolitan

200

77,320.7

85.7

85.5

21.5

23.4

29,639.6

936.6

Eastern Metropolitan

255

107,241.2

93.1

91.0

21.6

23.6

31,172.2

329.2

Southern Metropolitan

248

112,984.9

81.7

86.8

21.4

23.4

34,154.4

589.0

Barwon South Western

150

42,662.3

76.4

70.4

20.4

22.4

3,485.7

567.9

Central Highlands Wimmera

128

25,889.9

73.4

67.3

19.2

21.0

1,269.6

380.9

Loddon Campaspe Mallee

167

39,456.3

82.0

77.6

20.3

21.9

2,248.9

1,118.1

Goulburn North Eastern

174

37,390.4

75.4

69.8

19.8

21.8

2,671.9

850.8

Gippsland

154

32,349.1

70.3

65.9

20.0

21.8

1,842.8

730.6

Metropolitan regions

842

360,561.1

86.3

87.1

21.6

23.4

122,475.4

2,306.8

Non-metropolitan regions

773

177,748.0

75.9

70.6

20.0

21.8

11,518.9

3,648.3

1615

538,309.1

82.7

81.2

21.0

22.9

133,994.3

5,955.1

Total

*Language background other than English
Source: Department of Education & Training
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Southern Metropolitan Region
Jan Lake
Regional Director
33 Princes Highway
PO Box 5
Dandenong Victoria 3175
Telephone: (03) 9794 3555
Facsimile: (03) 9794 3500

Non-metropolitan regions
Barwon South Western Region
Glenda Strong
Regional Director
Vines Road
PO Box 420
North Geelong Victoria 3125
Telephone: (03) 5272 8300
Facsimile: (03) 5277 9926

Central Highlands Wimmera Region
Malcolm Millar
Regional Director
1220 Sturt Street
Ballarat Victoria 3350
Telephone: (03) 5337 8444
Facsimile: (03) 5333 2135

Loddon Campaspe Mallee Region
Greg Gibbs
Regional Director
37–43 Havlin Street East
Bendigo East Victoria 3550
PO Box 442
Bendigo Victoria 3550
Telephone: (03) 5440 3111
Facsimile: (03) 5442 5321

Goulburn North Eastern Region
Adele Pottenger
Regional Director
Arundel Street
PO Box 403
Benalla Victoria 3672
Telephone: (03) 5761 2100
Facsimile: (03) 5762 5039

Gippsland Region
Peter Greenwell
Regional Director
Cnr Kirk and Haigh Streets
PO Box 381
Moe Victoria 3825
Telephone: (03) 5127 0400
Facsimile: (03) 5126 1933
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Non-government
schools
The Department contributes to the achievement of
the Government’s goals and targets for education
and the delivery of high-quality primary and
secondary education by funding, regulating and
liaising with non-government schools in Victoria.
Non-government schools educate 34.6 per cent
of Victoria’s school students. Of these students,
69 per cent are in Catholic systemic schools and
31 per cent in independent schools.
Non-government schools represent a diversity of
providers in size, curriculum and affiliation. As of
February 2003, there were 487 Catholic schools and
215 independent schools. Of the independent schools,
a minority operate within small systems – Christian,
Ecumenical, Lutheran and Seventh Day Adventist.
The Minister for Education and Training has
legislative responsibility for the education of all
primary and secondary school students in Victoria,
including those in non-government schools.

Highlights
• In 2002–03, $240.9 million was allocated to
Victorian non-government schools on a per capita
basis under the State Recurrent Grant. Funding
is provided to assist schools to meet recurrent
operating costs.
• In addition, $19.8 million in supplementary
funding was allocated on a per capita basis to
non-government schools in Education Resource
Index categories 8–12, consistent with an election
commitment.
• The Needs Based Capital Assistance Program for
Non Government Schools was a one-off initiative
to assist needy non-government schools to repair
run-down classrooms and build new facilities
where classrooms and facilities were inadequate.
This program ended on 30 June 2003. Financial
assistance of $5.0 million was provided to 62
non-government schools – 26 Catholic schools
and 36 independent schools – in urgent need of
capital works.
• Funding to non-government schools in 2002–03
also included $14.2 million for the Education
Allowance to assist in the purchase of textbooks
and other materials, $5.1 million in support
services to assist students with disabilities and
impairments, and $1.2 million for suicide
prevention.
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Enrolment share across the three school sectors, February 2003

12.6% Independent

21.9% Catholic
65.4% Government

Slightly more than one-third of Victorian school students attend non-government schools.
Source: Department of Education & Training

Performance measures: non-government school education
Measure

2002 target

2002 actual

2700

3238

Non-government students receiving supplementary funding
as a percentage of all non-government school students

79%

79%

Non-government schools receiving Needs Based Capital
Assistance as a percentage of total eligible applicants

65%

22%

99%

100%

283.0

308.5

Quantity
Non-government teachers registered annually

Quality
Recommendations of non-government school registration
reviews approved by the Registered Schools Board
Cost
Total output cost ($ million)

Comments (where appropriate)

The result reflects an increase in
requests for teacher registration.

The program was successfully
implemented. The original target did not
reflect core elements of the program.

Actual cost reflects enrolment growth
and additional government funding.

Registered Schools Board

Registration of non-government schools

The Education Act 1958 (the Act) requires the
Registered Schools Board to:

During 2002–03, the Registered Schools Board
approved the registration, or revision of registration,
of schools in the following categories.

• register and, where appropriate, revise the
registration of schools – a process by which
schools are monitored for compliance with the
Act by a registration review every six years

New primary schools

2

New secondary schools

2

• endorse schools as suitable to accept full feepaying students from overseas.

New primary and secondary schools

0

New special schools

0

Until 31 December 2002, the Board was required
to register and, where appropriate, revise the
registration of teachers and remove the names of
teachers from the register when they are found guilty
of conduct unbefitting a teacher. This responsibility
transferred to VIT on 1 January 2003.

Primary schools added to existing secondary schools
Additional secondary year levels

0
21

Additional campuses

5

School amalgamations (two schools to form one school)

0

Relocations

3

School closures

4
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All schools complete an ‘approval to open’ period
of at least six months prior to opening. This allows
schools to work with the Registered Schools Board’s
officers to establish their curriculum and facilities and
to ensure teacher registration and required minimum
enrolments are in readiness for the registration
process.
Visits are made to schools on two occasions during
their first year of operation. Reports are made to the
Board following each of these visits.

Registration of teachers
Eight hundred and ninety-nine new teachers were
registered as primary, secondary or special or as a
combination of these categories in the period from
1 July 2002 to 30 December 2002.
Twenty applicants were granted permission to teach
and 36 teachers were approved for single-subject
registration.
Sixty-six applicants who did not meet the
requirements for appropriate qualifications or
suitability of character were refused registration
during the reporting period.

Membership
The Board, which meets monthly, consists of eight
members, four from the government sector, including
the nominee of the Secretary of the Department as
chair, and four members from the non-government
sector, appointed by the Governor-in-Council.
Membership of the Registered Schools Board as at
30 June 2003 was as follows:

Department of Education & Training
Lesley Foster (acting Chair)
Maria Kelly
Mary Buchanan
Vacant position

Catholic Education Commission of Victoria
Tony O’Meara
Pauline Audley

Association of Independent Schools of Victoria
Michelle Green

The names of four teachers were removed from
the register in 2002–03.

Geoff Ryan

Monitoring of schools

Victorian Schools
Innovation Commission

Annual returns
As a requirement of the Act, the Registered Schools
Board maintains a database of school details that are
collected on census day in February. For the second
year, schools submitted their returns electronically.

Registration reviews
In order for non-government schools to maintain
registration under the Act, the Registered Schools
Board must be satisfied that the school continues
to meet the requirements for registration.
During 2002–03, 116 schools undertook registration
reviews. All registration review recommendations
made to the Board were approved, exceeding the
agreed target of 99 per cent.

Full fee-paying overseas students
In Victoria, the Registered Schools Board is
responsible for the endorsement of registered schools
to accept full fee-paying overseas students in line
with the Act.
During 2002–03, there were 139 registered schools
endorsed to accept the 3569 full fee-paying overseas
students, compared with the 3118 students attending
endorsed schools for the previous reporting period.
Eleven schools were newly endorsed, 48 re-endorsed
and 14 did not seek re-endorsement or cancelled

46

their endorsement. There were no suspensions or
cancellations of endorsement by the Board.

The Victorian Schools Innovation Commission was
established in 2001 by the Victorian Government
to act as an independent, not-for-profit think tank to
research, develop and share innovation in public
education.
The Commission provides advice on innovative
practice and policy for schools and supports schools
in their search for innovative responses to developing
and reforming learning and teaching.
During 2002–03, the Commission developed a range
of collaborative networks and partnerships with
schools, universities, community organisations and
representatives of the philanthropic and corporate
sector. Substantial funds were attracted from the
philanthropic, community and corporate sectors.

Highlights
• The Commission worked with primary and
secondary school communities participating in the
Access to Excellence and Schools for Innovation
and Excellence initiatives. Four research and
innovation circles were established.
• A statewide research initiative examined the
sustainability of innovation in public education.
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• An initiative involving business and education that
examined the importance of global sustainability
(curriculum and facilities) within a public
education context was completed.

As at 30 June 2003, the Board of the Victorian
Schools Innovation Commission consisted of:

• A major arts, creativity and culture initiative
explored the benefits of implementing a diverse
arts curriculum for improved learning.

Alister Maitland (Deputy Chair)

• A partnership was developed with the Office of
Senior Victorians to work with young people on
their attitudes to ageing.
• An integrated approach to new literacies and
technology in a networked world was developed.

Dr Barry Jones (Chair)
Ellen Koshland (Deputy Chair)
Kim Bannikoff
Philip Bullock
Julian Burnside QC
Sharan Burrow
Tricia Caswell
John Clarke
Susan Halliday
Peter Laver
Professor David Stokes
Rachael Thomas
Michael White

47

Training and
tertiary education
Training and tertiary education outputs
involve the provision of training and
tertiary education services to the
Victorian community through a number
of programs and service providers:
– TAFE institutions, including TAFE institutes
and TAFE divisions within universities
– private providers of vocational education
and training
– ACE organisations, including
neighbourhood houses and communitybased organisations
– adult education institutions such as Adult
Multicultural Education Services (AMES)
and the Centre for Adult Education (CAE)
– universities and private providers of higher
education.

The VET system includes publicly and
privately funded vocational education
and training delivered by a wide
range of training institutions and
enterprises, including TAFE
institutions, private registered
training organisations and ACE
organisations. TAFE refers to the
publicly owned aspect of the broader
VET system.
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New directions

Outlook

Several major reforms were implemented in training
and tertiary education in 2002–03 to address the
challenges of a rapidly changing knowledge-based
economy and to increase lifelong learning.

As indicated in Budget Paper 3, 2003–04, the
Department committed to:

The Minister for Education and Training released a
major statement in June 2002 on Knowledge & Skills
for the Innovation Economy: Future Directions for
the Victorian Vocational Education and Training
System (VET Ministerial Statement). This Statement
outlined the Government’s strategies to increase
the innovation and specialisation of the Victorian
VET system and was the focus of much of the
Department’s work in vocational education and
training in 2002–03, including measures to:
• reinvigorate TAFE institutions, including the
development of Specialist Centres and professional
development initiatives
• facilitate the development of better VET products,
including allowing TAFE institutions to offer
degrees and incorporating generic skills in training
packages

• continuing to implement the Government’s
strategies for innovation and specialisation in the
VET system to meet the changing needs of students
and industry
• introducing Skill Up to retrain workers recently
made redundant to facilitate their re-entry to the
workforce
• assisting parents to return to employment after time
out of the workforce to look after young families
• phasing in a bonus to employers with apprentices
or trainees under the age of 25 years who complete
their qualifications
• further developing TAFE Specialist Centres
• consolidating the system of Industry Liaison Agents
to network small-to-medium enterprises and
stimulate demand for workplace training
• commencing replacement and upgrading of
obsolete equipment in TAFE institutions

• strengthen the important role of VET providers
in lifelong learning, including implementing the
VCAL in TAFE and ACE organisations

• strengthening the capacity of the ACE sector to
meet the needs of 15–19-year-olds and older
‘second chance’ learners

• develop and implement new frameworks to ensure
public funding is directed towards meeting areas
of demand

• establishing strategic partnerships with Victorian
universities to align their activities to State
development priorities

• ensure a sustainable financial system for vocational
education and training.

• brokering effective credit-transfer arrangements
between TAFE and higher education.

In addition, the Department supported the
Government in the development and release of
the October 2002 Ministerial Statement on Future
Directions for Victorian Higher Education (Higher
Education Ministerial Statement). This Statement set
out the Government’s higher education strategies to
meet the changing knowledge and skill demands
from industry and the community.

Supplementary training and tertiary education data
appears in Appendix 2 on pages 130–2.
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Training and tertiary education

Overview

• entry- or certificate-level training, including
apprenticeships

The Department supports and manages the provision
of TAFE and ACE and provides higher education
accreditation and monitoring services. The
Department is responsible for the planning,
regulation and delivery of education and training
programs and services in Victoria.

• advanced vocational training, including training
for paraprofessionals

These services are provided through:
• 19 TAFE institutions (including five universities
with TAFE divisions)
• over 450 ACE organisations and two adult
education institutions
• 1173 registered training organisations.
The regulation of this network is managed through
two independent statutory authorities: VLESC and
the ACFE Board. Both have broad advisory, policy,
regulatory and management functions.
The Department is responsible for overseeing the
administration and coordination of programs for
training, adult and community education, and
tertiary education in Victoria. It has responsibility
for all matters relating to VLESC as the State training
agency, the ACE sector, the ACFE Board and higher
education. Both VLESC and the ACFE Board report
separately to Parliament. Their annual reports provide
additional information relating to training and tertiary
education services.
General education and skills training is provided
through:
• courses in basic literacy and numeracy
• basic preparation for work

Diploma of Entertainment students from the
University of Ballarat’s School of Mines TAFE campus
monitor a live Internet broadcast in the control room.
Students participate in broadcasts while completing
sound, lighting, stage management and audiovisual
studies subjects for their Diploma
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• advanced technicians and advanced post-initial
training courses.
Higher education accreditation and monitoring
services provided by the Department include
negotiation of appropriate levels of Commonwealth
resources, accreditation of higher education courses,
and the endorsement of higher education providers
offering courses to international students.

Training and further
education
Training and further education places are provided
by TAFE institutions and other registered training
organisations in accordance with priorities set by
government, industry and the community.

The State Training System
Collectively, in 2002, registered training organisations
provided approximately 514,000 students with over
108 million student contact hours of vocational
training and further education. This is an increase of
4 per cent on the 2001 delivery. In addition, almost
2.5 million student contact hours in personal
enrichment programs were delivered to over 91,000
students. Of this total delivery, government-funded
delivery accounted for over 82.8 million of the
reported contact hours, an increase of 3.2 per cent
on 2001.
Elmswood Estate manager, Tim Thompson (right), and Northern
Metropolitan Institute of TAFE trainee, Aaron Puddy, showcase
some premium vintages from their vineyard in the Yarra Valley.
Aaron is undertaking a Certificate III viticulture course
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Performance measures: TAFE places
Measure

Quantity
Annual government-funded module enrolments (million)

2002 target

2002 actual

Comments (where appropriate)

2.63

2.65

Government-funded student contact hours (million) of training
and further education provided

68.65

75.70

Change in apprenticeship/traineeship commencements by
new employees

10.1%

8.3%

In the twelve months to 31 December
2002, 61,263 new employees commenced an apprenticeship or traineeship, an increase of 8.3% compared
with the same period for 2001.

1550

1096

Data as at 30 June 2003. The number
of apprentices in training is dependent
on the employment decisions of
individual employers.

350

411

The aim is to audit all registered
training organisations in their first year
of operation.

75%

72%

The target was underachieved by a
marginal amount. The number of
graduates obtaining employment is
influenced by the number of relevant
vacancies in the labour market.

Participation rate of 15–19-year-olds in training and further
education (all Victoria)

24.5%

27.8%

Data excludes participation undertaken
through ACE organisations and adult
education institutions.

Participation rate of 15–19-year-olds in training and further
education (non-metropolitan Victoria)

28.2%

31.4%

As above.

Persons aged 15–64 participating in TAFE programs as a
proportion of the population

14.3%

14.7%

75%

76.3%

Not available

Not available

TAFE students funded through the Youth Pathways program
with a MIP plan

100%

79%

TAFE students funded through the Youth Pathways program
leaving TAFE institutions who are tracked by a provider six
months after exiting

100%

78.2%

Data is based on students who have
completed or left their Youth Pathways
program training by the end of
November 2002, who have been
tracked six months after leaving,
as at 30 June 2003. The reporting
timeframe does not capture all
students who enrolled late in 2002.

65%

60.8%

Results are taken from the national
student outcomes survey and are
consistent with a national downward
trend on this measure.

100%

100%

955.3

947.5

School-based apprentices/trainees in training

Audit of contract compliance by registered training
organisations and other State Training System organisations
Quality
TAFE graduates in employment six months following graduation

Successful training completions as measured by the module
load pass rate
Employer satisfaction with training

Percentage of TAFE graduates who rate quality of training
as 8 or more out of 10

Timeliness
Performance agreements with TAFE institutions in place
according to agreed timelines
Cost
Total output cost ($ million)

Data is obtained from the national
employer satisfaction survey
conducted every three years. No
survey was conducted in 2002.
Non-completion of a MIP plan due to
student withdrawal before development of a plan and reluctance to
participate in the planning process
impacted on the result.
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Over 80.7 million student contact hours of delivery
were within the scope of activity covered by the
Australian National Training Authority (ANTA)
Agreement.
Government-funded training and further education
by provider type, Victoria, 1998–2002

50

40

30

20

10

100

0

80

S
(1 eco
.3
mi ndar
llio y
n)
AQ
F2
a
(2 nd b
5 m el
illi ow
on
)
A
(4 QF
4.3 3 a
mi nd
llio 4
n)
AQ
F5
(3 and
0.8 a
mi bov
llio e
n)
No
(6 t d
.6 efi
mi ne
llio d
n)

Student contact hours (million)

Student contact hours of training and further
education by Australian Qualifications Framework
level, Victoria, 2002

Student contact hours (million)

In 2002, TAFE institutions delivered over 65 million
of the government-funded hours, an increase of
2.6 per cent on 2001. The remaining 17.8 million
government-funded student contact hours were
delivered by ACE and private registered training
organisations.
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Qualification level
Nearly 70 per cent of student contact hours were at AQF levels 3 and above.

40

Source: Department of Education & Training

20

VET Ministerial Statement

0

1998
Private providers

1999

2000

ACE providers

2001

2002

TAFE providers

TAFE institutions provided over 60 million student contact hours of
government-funded training and further education in each year.
Source: Department of Education & Training

In June 2002, the Government released the VET
Ministerial Statement, a comprehensive plan for
addressing the future skill requirements for Victoria.

Reinvigorating TAFE
The VET Ministerial Statement outlines a series of
strategies to reinvigorate TAFE as a public provider
of vocational education and training.

Specialist Centres
The VET Ministerial Statement announced that
$5 million would be used to provide seed
funding for Specialist Centres. The Centres
give TAFE institutions and other training
providers enhanced capacity to deliver
specialist training to industry clients
and foster closer relationships between
training providers and industry,
encourage diversification of training
provision, and increase the confidence
of employers in TAFE.
Fifteen Specialist Centres have
been funded and are now fully
operational. The Specialist Centres
encompass manufacturing, food
processing, building, hospitality,
environmental technology and
design, and services to small- and
medium-sized companies.
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The International Centre of Graphic Technology (RMIT TAFE
Division) provides a world-class centre dedicated to
technical innovation, education and research for the graphic
technology industry

Two feasibility projects concerned with education
and training needs arising from the industrial
application of biotechnology and the synchrotron
were also funded for the possible future establishment of Specialist Centres.

Design initiative
The Government has committed $10.2 million over
two years to position Victoria as an international
centre of design excellence. The design initiative
is delivered in partnership with the Department of
Innovation, Industry and Regional Development.
Key education and training initiatives include
funding for the skill development of secondary
school and TAFE teachers, a new design
qualifications framework and individual design
qualifications, and the establishment of a Centre
of Excellence in Digital Design at RMIT called
lab.3000.
The new design qualifications are being developed
and will incorporate at least three qualification
outcomes – for schools, post-trade (Certificate IV),
and higher levels (diploma and advanced diploma).
The VQA has responsibility for implementing the
new design qualifications.
Established on 1 November 2002, lab.3000 is
developing and implementing innovative digital
design education and research programs that
demonstrate the applications of digital design.
lab.3000 is also undertaking the planning for
a broader digital design precinct.

A synchrotron is a microscope millions of times more powerful than the best conventional
microscope. It has a broad range of uses in advanced materials, micro-manufacturing,
biological sciences, mining and mineral processing, pharmaceuticals and genosciences.
The synchrotron is scheduled to open in 2007

Transforming the TAFE workforce
This major policy initiative is designed to support
TAFE institutions and the development of the TAFE
workforce. It aims to support TAFE institutions to
manage and develop their workforces and to ensure
that they can attract and maintain a workforce with
the necessary capability.
Direct funding to TAFE institutions for workforce
development was maintained by the allocation of
$3 million in State staff development funds to meet
the training priorities determined by individual TAFE
providers.
A further $1 million was allocated to upgrade flexible
learning skills among TAFE staff as part of Victoria’s
participation in the Australian Flexible Learning
strategy (LearnScope 2003). An additional
$210,000 in grants was allocated under the
LearnScope program to staff in adult and community
education and private training providers who are
publicly funded to
deliver TAFE programs.

Much of the Department’s work in vocational
education and training in 2002–03 focused on
the implementation of directions outlined in the
VET Ministerial Statement
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The allocation of the $4 million to TAFE institutions
was undertaken within the performance agreement
system. Individual TAFE institutions contract with
VLESC to set and achieve their own specific
workforce training targets.

William Angliss Institute of TAFE students apply the finishing
touches to a dessert course

The Department began implementation of a
statewide three-year workforce development strategy
in 2002–03, with an additional $12 million allocated
for the purpose.
A Ministerial Advisory Committee on the TAFE
Development Centre was established in late 2002
to advise on the development of the Centre.

Innovation Fund
The Innovation Fund, a priority of the VET Ministerial
Statement, was established to enable TAFE institutions
to trial new initiatives in innovation, emerging skills
and industries, and leveraged flexible delivery. TAFE
institutions were invited to propose future innovative
projects. In October 2002, 44 initiatives to a value
of $8.5 million across 17 TAFE institutions were
endorsed for implementation in 2003 and have been
incorporated into the Performance and Funding
Agreements for 2003.

VET products for the innovation economy
The VET Ministerial Statement outlines the goal for
VET providers to move beyond standard services
and programs and take a new approach to design,
development and delivery.

Degrees in TAFE
The Vocational Education and Training (TAFE
Qualifications) Act 2003 is the result of a key strategy
put forward in the VET Ministerial Statement to allow
TAFE institutions to offer a broader range of training
products for individuals and industry.
The Act includes provision for amendment to the
Vocational Education and Training Act 1990 to
enable TAFE institutions to conduct courses in higher
education and to issue higher education awards.

Learning pathways
The Department facilitated the development and
endorsement of nine new training packages and
reviewed 12 training packages. Purchasing guides
for each training package have been developed, or
are currently being developed, and 30 projects were
commissioned to develop and accredit curriculum
to meet Victorian industry needs.
As an outcome of the VET Ministerial Statement,
the Product Development Fund was successfully
implemented, supporting the development of six
degrees and two associate degrees.
The Department successfully implemented several
innovative teaching and learning initiatives to
develop VET products to support training package
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delivery, provide professional development
opportunities for trainers, and enhance partnerships
between registered training organisations, industry
and the community.

Lifelong learning
The VET Ministerial Statement notes the central role
of vocational education and training in lifelong
learning, through entry-level vocational education,
training for the existing workforce, and pathways to
higher education.

Options for young people
Over 53,000 young people aged 15–19 undertook
TAFE programs in 2002. TAFE students included
almost 10,000 apprentices and over 4800 trainees.
In 2003, two innovative programs for young people
aged 15–17 requiring alternative education options
were funded at Box Hill Institute of TAFE and South
West Institute of TAFE. These programs focus on
providing opportunities for early school leavers to
continue in education and improve their career and
employment options.

School-based apprenticeships
and traineeships
Work continued to address VLESC’s action plan to
increase apprenticeship and traineeship pathways
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for senior school students. In 2002, 1280 school
students were doing a part-time apprenticeship or
traineeship as part of a school-endorsed program
of studies that combined their VCE or VCAL with
a nationally accredited training certificate and
employment. The goal is to increase this number
to 3000 students by 2005.
Participation rates have increased through a schoolbased New Apprenticeship support program that
has enabled the employment of a statewide network
of local coordinators. These coordinators provide
information, support and links to employment to
students choosing a school-based New Apprenticeship pathway.

sustainability. The VET Ministerial Statement outlines
options to address these effects through leveraging
greater investment in training from industry and
individuals, greater investment from the Commonwealth Government through the next ANTA
Agreement, and ensuring public funding for
vocational education and training is directed towards
priority skill areas.

Review of Industry Advice on Training
The Review of Industry Advice on Training was
released in September 2002. The key elements of the
industry advisory system include the Industry Advisory
Committee, Industry Training Advisory Boards, the
Industry Relations Unit and the research program.

Other initiatives included a review of guidelines for
school-based new apprenticeships, and a project
to reduce regulatory barriers to participation in this
pathway.

In implementing the Review, the Department:

VET in Schools

• implemented performance agreements for the State
Industry Training Advisory Boards network and
commenced activities that will contribute to their
long-term viability

The VET in Schools program provides a broad choice
of industries and certificates for school students
interested in vocational training. For many students,
VET in Schools involves attending a TAFE institution
for vocational training. In 2002, almost one-third of
all VET in Schools activity was provided by TAFE
institutions through partnership arrangements with
schools. The program continued to experience very
strong growth during the reporting period.

References to VLESC
The VET Ministerial Statement announced that VLESC
would provide more detailed advice on two key
issues facing the VET sector in the long term – the
development of priorities for public expenditure on
vocational education and training in an innovation
economy, and securing the long-term financial
sustainability of the system.
Projected growth and increased demand for
vocational education and training will affect financial

A plumbing student works on a domestic plumbing
installation at Holmesglen Institute of TAFE

• established the State Training Agency Standing
Committee, a VLESC committee that has subsumed
the functions of the Industry Advisory Committee

• reviewed the Industry Relations Unit within the
Office of Training and Tertiary Education, resulting
in realignment of the structure and functions of
the Unit
• designed and implemented a comprehensive
research program to develop future policy and
planning for vocational education and training.

Establishing priorities for VET in Victoria
In December 2002, VLESC approved a new
framework for assessing demand and establishing
priorities for training in Victoria. This framework
is designed to balance individual, industry and
community needs and provide a basis for achieving
systemic change through collaboration with key
stakeholders.

Victoria’s VET sector is adopting a new way of thinking
to help determine training priorities for years to come
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The implementation of the framework incorporated
a research program, two series of strategic dialogues
with a broad range of stakeholders, a priority-setting
process, and resource allocation mechanisms.
Outputs of the eight-month process included a
discussion paper on determining priorities for the VET
sector and a series of research reports that explore
current and future skill needs across Victoria.

Industry Liaison Agents
As an initiative of the VET Ministerial Statement,
Industry Liaison Agents were established to stimulate
demand and promote the delivery of manufacturing
training to small- and medium-sized enterprises.
Tenders were sought from organisations with a
commitment to, and understanding of, the training
needs of such enterprises. Seventeen applications
were received and six organisations were recommended for funding of more than $1.7 million over
2003 and 2004.

A new approach to financing skill development
A key objective outlined in the VET Ministerial
Statement involves VLESC developing a series
of options to improve the long-term financial
sustainability of the VET system, in the context
of increased demand for VET programs and high
projected growth.
The VET Ministerial Statement requested that VLESC
provide advice to the Minister for Education and
Training on strategies to secure long-term sustainable
financing arrangements for the VET sector in Victoria.

Dr Tony Mellors, Victorian Employers’ Chamber of Commerce
and Industry, is an Industry Liaison Agent selected to identify
skill gaps and training needs in the manufacturing sector

The Department provided VLESC with an options
paper on strategies for securing the long-term
financial sustainability of VET in May 2003. VLESC
is currently considering the paper and is expected
to provide advice to the Minister for Education and
Training later in 2003.

Priority Education and Training program
The 2002 Priority Education and Training program,
with a budget of $14.5 million, concluded in
December 2002. More than 2.2 million student
contact hours were delivered through nearly 14,000
course enrolments.
The 2003 program, with a $12.5 million budget for
the purchase of training from private registered
training organisations in 2003, was announced in
August 2002. A total of 1824 submissions, valued
at $75.2 million, were received from 178 registered
training organisations.
Additional information on the VET Ministerial
Statement initiatives is available in the VLESC Annual
Report 2002–03.

Australian National Training
Authority
ANTA is a Commonwealth statutory authority
established to provide a national focus for vocational
education and training.

National VET strategy 2004–10
The Australian National Training Authority (ANTA)
Act 1992 requires the ANTA Board to develop a draft
national strategic plan for the VET system within the
framework of national goals, objectives and priorities
established by the Ministerial Council, made up
of Commonwealth, State and Territory Ministers
responsible for vocational education and training.
At the Ministerial Council meeting in June 2003,
a vision, objectives and strategies were endorsed
in principle. An action plan and key performance
measures to implement the National Strategy will
be developed in late 2003.
At the meeting, Ministers also agreed that the new
ANTA Agreement would reflect national priorities
for vocational education and training, to be endorsed
collectively by Ministers. The Agreement will also
reflect growth in the VET sector and the new National
VET strategy and facilitate improved outcomes for
employers, individuals and communities. A working
group will take responsibility for negotiation of the
new agreement.

Apprenticeships and traineeships
There was further strong growth in apprenticeships
and traineeships in Victoria in 2002. By the end of
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2002, the number of new employees commencing
apprenticeships and traineeships increased by over
8 per cent to 61,263 and the total commencements
increased to 85,915.

Apprentices put their training to work at Subaru Melbourne

Completions of apprenticeships and traineeships by
new employees increased marginally by 1.4 per cent
to 21,802. Total completions increased by 9 per cent
to 27,231.
The number of new employees in training as
apprentices or trainees increased by over 21 per cent
to 100,273 as at 31 December 2002. All apprentices
and trainees in training increased by over 27 per cent
to 142,798.
Growth continued in 2003. Almost 31,992 new
employees took on an apprenticeship or traineeship
between January and June 2003. In total, there were
46,405 commencements in this period. The number
of new employees in training in June 2003 was
101,257, almost 10 per cent higher than in June 2002.
When existing employees are included, the number
in training increases to 147,994, an increase of over
16 per cent compared with the same period in 2002.

Quality in apprenticeships and
traineeships
A number of initiatives to support quality in
apprenticeships and traineeships were launched.
• The establishment of the Partners for Quality
program to develop, showcase and promote the
quality of apprenticeship and traineeship delivery.
The program funded 16 projects to develop models
for training manuals, teaching and learning
resources and assessment guides. The projects are
being assessed for dissemination in 2003.
• The implementation of a national training contract,
which replaced training agreements, from
1 January 2002.
• The implementation of the organisational review of
the Apprenticeship Administration Branch to achieve
a more efficient processing of training contracts.
• The redevelopment of the DELTA database (of
apprentices, trainees and their employers) to
prepare for single point-of-data entry through
new apprenticeship centres, and to provide access
to private registered training organisations.
• An increase in the number of Apprenticeship Field
Officers.
Regular liaison with the Commonwealth Department
of Education, Science and Training, New Apprenticeships Centres, schools, industry associations, group
training organisations and employee associations
ensured stakeholders were aware of and understood
regulated training policies and programs.

RMIT Fashion and Textiles students have designed leisure
and sport wear for WL Gore and Associates as part of an
industry partnership with RMIT

Flexible Learning
The Flexible Learning Strategy: Towards a Learning
Society and Skilling Victoria for the Information Age
are critical strategies in meeting the Government’s
goals and targets for education and training. They
have a particular focus on young people, rural and
regional Victoria, and promote universal participation
in post-school education and training.
The Flexible Learning strategy aims to develop
widespread technological literacy and encourage
lifelong learning, provide effective relevant and
accessible vocational learning options to all
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Victorians, and ensure that Victorian TAFE and ACE
personnel are in the best position to realise the
potential of online learning.
A major initiative of the Flexible Learning strategy is
the TAFE Virtual Campus (TAFE VC), a service for the
provision of e-learning in Victoria. TAFE VC provides
information and a learning environment through
increased and more flexible access to TAFE programs
for students, teachers and employers who wish to
gain or upgrade skills.
Since July 2002, there has been a large increase in
the use of the TAFE VC. In 2003, 119 providers used
this platform for training delivery, an increase from 90
in 2002. Student numbers (registered users) increased
from 25,469 to 58,387, while 4350 units/modules
were delivered compared to 2480 at July 2002.
A new portal, designed to enable easier access to
information on the TAFE VC, was launched in April
2003 and can be viewed at <www.tafevc.com.au>.
Funding of $19 million has been allocated, over
three years, to improve ICT infrastructure across all
Victorian TAFE institutions. In 2002–03, the second
round of funding ($7 million) was distributed to
improve the bandwidth and electronic services
provided to staff and students by upgrading and
standardising the ICT infrastructure.
Flexible Learning Networks, cooperatives of education
providers, continued to provide community-level
flexible options for lifelong learning via the TAFE VC.
Victoria gained significant benefits, such as greater
access to resources and an increased expertise in
training delivery, from managing the Resources for
Teaching Learning and Assessment program. The
program is funded by ANTA under the Australian
Flexible Learning Network and includes the
development of:
• quality e-learning resources, including Toolboxes
($3.48 million)
• resources for Collaboration and Interoperability
($280,000)

Victoria has a lead role in the implementation of the
Australian Flexible Learning Framework 2000–04,
which aims to develop flexible and online learning
nationally. The Flexible Learning Advisory Group is
responsible for overseeing the annual implementation
of the Framework. It is chaired by the Director,
Office of Training and Tertiary Education, with the
Secretariat based in Victoria.

TAFE infrastructure development
The new directions in TAFE capital infrastructure are
based on the VET Ministerial Statement and aim to
promote innovation and state-of-the-art education
and training facilities and resources to ensure that
TAFE stakeholders respond to industry and workforce
demand.
Coinciding with the new directions in TAFE capital
infrastructure, a new unit has been established to
manage all TAFE capital infrastructure needs.
In the 2003–04 Victorian Budget, new directions in
TAFE infrastructure were reflected in the funding of
$12 million for specialised teaching equipment to
be distributed on a needs basis to TAFE institutions.

Capital procurement
New guidelines were developed during the latter part
of 2002 to address the VET Ministerial Statement and
to provide better project management procurement
directions for TAFE institutions. An important decision
to integrate ICT into TAFE capital infrastructure
developments recognises that ICT is a vital element
in the successful teaching and training of students
for the innovation economy.
All projects being considered for construction
undergo a rigorous planning process.

• VET Learning Objects Repository ($150,000)

Managing diversity

• the EdNA VET Online Website ($250,000).

Managing diversity policy applies to all governmentfunded providers and other agencies of the State
Training System. Through the framework for
managing diversity, providers have developed
practices to address the training needs and to
improve outcomes and employment prospects for
disadvantaged groups and people living in rural and
remote areas.

The TAFE Frontiers consortium continued to be funded
to work with training providers to increase flexibility
in the provision of TAFE programs in Victoria.
Flexible Learning Week, managed by TAFE Frontiers,
is an annual event whereby flexible learning options
are promoted and celebrated. On 15 August 2002,
the Flexible Learning Week Conference was held at
the World Trade Centre in Melbourne. Over 300 TAFE
and ACE teachers and managers and administrators
from registered training organisations participated in
this conference.
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In 2002, the Notebook Computers for TAFE Teachers
Professional Development and Trainer program
continued to be delivered to TAFE institutions, with
over 1100 TAFE staff participating in the program.

Initiatives in 2002–03 included:
• annual Managing Diversity plans being developed
by TAFE institutions
• establishment of a Managing Diversity Reference
Group

DE&T Annual Report 2002–03

• TAFE institutions developing an ethos of
inclusiveness to help meet the needs of clients
from diverse language and cultural backgrounds.

Work continued on specific initiatives to improve
women’s access to training and further education,
including:

The Wurreker strategy is being implemented
progressively in 2003. Consistent with Partners in a
Learning Culture (the national strategy for Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander people in the VET sector),
Wurreker was developed to ensure that Koorie
communities are involved in decisions about the
planning and delivery of training and that TAFE
delivery and support services respect and value
Koorie culture and individual Koorie students.

• support for the development of educational
programs that meet the particular needs of women
in rural and regional Victoria

A major feature of 2002–03 was the implementation
and monitoring of Bridging Pathways, the national
strategy for increasing opportunities in the VET sector
for people with a disability. This involved the
development of a Disability Agenda for the VET
sector in Victoria.
Funding of $1.7 million was allocated through
the Disability Support Fund (Department of Human
Services) to assist TAFE institutions to meet their
obligations under the Disability Discrimination
Act 1992.

• reports on the ongoing implementation of the
Government’s Valuing Victoria’s Women: Forward
Plan 2000–03, which details strategies to be
undertaken across and between departments.

Youth Pathways program
In 2002, over 2000 unemployed early school leavers
were re-engaged in education and training through
a TAFE Youth Pathways program. The aim of the
program is to provide six months of training and
support to assist young people aged 15–19 years
who have no formal qualification to achieve either
an employment or further training outcome that is
sustained for at least six months after the completion
of training. Many of these students have low levels
of literacy and numeracy, combined with high
welfare or health needs. The Youth Pathways program
provides customised training and education and MIP
support.
Nearly 80 per cent of students in the Youth Pathways
program participated in the development of a MIP
plan. The remainder either declined or discontinued
prior to a plan being developed. Over 78 per cent of
Youth Pathways program students were tracked six
months after exiting the program to determine their
training or education status. The remainder were
unable to be contacted.
The program had very positive outcomes, with
over half of the students continuing with studies or
training. Around 30 per cent secured employment,
including 11 per cent who successfully obtained an
apprenticeship or traineeship.

Trainee Holly Rowe is part of a pilot program to address
the gender imbalance in the ICT industry. The traineeship
comprises 14 weeks full-time study followed by an
18-month industry placement with a host employer
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Preparatory work was undertaken for the
implementation of the apprentice/trainee Completion
Bonus Scheme from 1 July 2003, and also to address
matters that arose from the withdrawal of payroll tax
exemptions for apprentices and trainees in the
2003–04 State Budget.

Review of TAFE governance
The Review of TAFE Governance commenced in
September 2002 and concluded in May 2003. The
primary objective was to recommend improvements
to the governance framework of TAFE institutions.
A steering committee, comprising representatives of
VLESC, TAFE institutions, the Department of Treasury
and Finance and the Department of Education &
Training, oversaw the Review.
Craig Jennings (left), campus coordinator of Swinburne
Institute of TAFE’s youth program, pictured with students
at the Wantirna campus

VCE and VCAL at TAFE
Over the past three years, there has been a coordinated
effort to increase opportunities for young people who
have left school to achieve their VCE or VCAL.
The TAFE VCE pilot program provided a second
chance to young people aged 15–19 years who had
left school early, but were interested in completing a
school qualification. Most TAFE institutions offered
this program from 2003. Participating students
received support and MIP plans as part of their
education program.
TAFE institutions also actively support the new VCAL.
In 2002, two institutions participated in the VCAL
trial. The success of these pilots resulted in all TAFE
institutions offering a VCAL program in 2003 to over
800 young people.
Additional information on the VCAL is available in
the VQA Annual Report 2002–03.

Regulatory and legislative reform
The Department made submissions to two major
reviews conducted by the Department of Education,
Science and Training in relation to Commonwealth
employer incentives for apprentices and trainees
and the provision of New Apprenticeships
Centre services.
The Department participated in the work of the
national Red Tape Working Group, including the
review of the National Training Contract. The Red
Tape Working Group was established by a decision
of the ANTA Ministerial Council to review and
minimise bureaucratic requirements around the
administration of apprenticeships and traineeships.
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The Review examined the current TAFE governance
framework, including key governing relationships,
legislation and key documents, and reviewed
governance practices at a sample of TAFE institutions.
The Review recommended the retention of the
current governance model and identified areas where
governance practices could be enhanced.
The report of the Review has been made available
to TAFE institutions and other stakeholders. The
recommendations are being analysed and prioritised,
prior to implementation.

Quality assurance
The Department contributes to the achievement
of the Victorian Government’s goals and targets
for vocational education and training through:
• registration of training organisations to deliver
nationally recognised training
• approval of training organisations to provide
courses to overseas students
• ongoing performance monitoring of training
organisations
• participation in annual reviews of Victoria’s
performance as part of the ANTA Performance
Agreement.

Australian Quality Training Framework
During 2002–03, the Australian Quality Training
Framework (AQTF) Standards for Registered Training
Organisations were established across more than
1100 registered training organisations in Victoria. The
AQTF Standards provide a benchmark for registering
and monitoring the performance of training organisations and ensuring a nationally consistent, highquality VET system.
The VQA delegated responsibility for registering and
monitoring the performance of registered training
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organisations to the Department, which has
developed a comprehensive audit program
for monitoring the compliance of registered
training organisations with the AQTF Standards.
Organisations are audited in their first 12 months
of operation, prior to re-registration and on a risk
management basis during their five-year period of
registration. To minimise compliance costs, audits,
where relevant, include compliance with both the
AQTF Standards and the performance agreement
for government-funded training.

Risk assessment
In managing its annual audit program, the
Department has developed a risk management
strategy that includes national key risk areas:
• the high number and/or seriousness of verified
complaints against registered training organisations
• apprenticeships and traineeships delivered by
exclusive (full-time in a workplace) pathways
• priority interface areas as defined by a State or
Territory that may include providers in receipt of
government funds, unsatisfactory statistical returns
and/or particular courses and qualifications.

Certificate IV in Health (Nursing). Audits will be
conducted during 2003–04 in the areas of security,
first aid, information technology, schools operating as
registered training organisations, training delivery to
overseas students, and accredited further education
courses delivered by community-based providers.

Group training organisations
New national standards for group training
organisations were implemented from 1 January 2003.
An initial set of audits was conducted against the
standards for 33 group training organisations, with the
majority found to be highly compliant. In future, only
recognised group training organisations will be
eligible to attract organisation-specific funding.
VLESC, as the State training agency, participated in
the continuing work with ANTA on a new funding
model for group training. The new model and funding
principles are expected to be introduced from
1 July 2004.
VCAL student Jacob sees his future in the printing industry.
He is pictured at McPherson’s Printing Group, Maryborough

During the second half of 2002, 139 registered
training organisations were audited for compliance
with the AQTF Standards. During the first half of
2003, an additional 200 registered training organisations were audited, including 50 organisations that
were also receiving government funds to deliver
training. The audit program for the second half of
2003 will include a further 160 registered training
organisations.

Strategic industry audits
Strategic industry audits were introduced to identify
compliance and quality issues in specific industry
areas or training market sectors, thereby providing a
basis for systematic improvements in the quality of
training delivery. The selection of industry areas
includes those:
• with a recent strong growth in training
• of importance to the Victorian economy
• with a short history of participation in recognised
training.
Strategic audits are also conducted in industry areas
where concerns have been raised about the quality
of training.
A strategic industry audit of Certificate IV in
Assessment and Workplace Training in the
implementation of the AQTF Standards was
conducted at the end of 2002. Other audits
undertaken in 2002–03 included education services
to overseas students, schools operating as registered
training organisations, and the delivery of the
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Adult and community
education

The CAE is a key provider of adult and
community education in Victoria

The ACE sector provides lifelong learning opportunities
for Victorian adults, contributing to their social,
economic and cultural development as individuals and
as members of the Victorian community.
Program areas include:
• Adult Literacy and Basic Education, which provides
literacy, numeracy and basic education courses
(up to Year 10 equivalent) for learners who are
returning to education and those seeking entry to
other forms of education and training
• the VCE for learners through full-time or part-time
study
• General preparatory programs and bridging
programs, including return-to-study and workpreparation programs
• ESL courses aimed at improving the English
language skills of learners with a language
background other than English
• vocational education programs offered through
ACE organisations
• general adult education programs such as arts,
crafts, health, history, languages, literature, personal
development, philosophy, politics and science
• programs for 15–19-year-old learners to provide
them with alternative education, training and
employment, including the introduction of three
VCAL pilots.
Funding for program delivery and development is
provided to ACE organisations and adult education
institutions. To increase the quality of provision by
the ACE sector, the Government announced an
increase to the student contact hour rate for 2003
for program delivery in the sector, boosting funding
by $2 million.
This increase in funding has enabled:
• increased provision of services to young people
and new and emerging groups of ‘second chance’
learners
• continued development of innovative learning
• better pathways for students to TAFE and more
formal VET programs
• increased skill development for ACE organisation
staff and management, particularly in relation to
quality and AQTF compliance.
Additional information on the ACE sector can be
found in the ACFE Board Annual Report 2002–03.
Vocational education programs make up the
largest part of government-funded provision
in the ACE sector
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Performance measures: ACE places and community support
Measure

2002 target

2002 actual

129,000

137,900

356,000

382,121

3.68

5.01

The high proportion of language and
literacy courses, which have high
student mobility, and the nature of the
ACE sector contributed to over-delivery.

80%

92%

Improvements from the ACE Capital
program and support for organisations
resulted in a high level of student
satisfaction.

Persons aged 15 and over participating in ACE as a proportion
of the population

4.8%

4.3%

While overall ACE student contact
hours for this cohort have increased,
student enrolments in longer courses
of study have reduced available places.

Successful completions as measured by the module load
completion rate – ACE organisations and adult education
institutions

80%

78.9%

ACE students funded through the Youth Pathways program
with a MIP plan

100%

86%

ACE students funded through the Youth Pathways program
leaving ACE who are tracked by a provider six months
after exiting

100%

71.5%

9

9

34.5

39.1

Quantity
Government-funded annual module enrolments – ACE
organisations and adult education institutions
Total annual module enrolments – ACE organisations and
adult education institutions (includes self-funded courses)
Government-funded student contact hours (million) of VET activity
provided through ACE providers and adult education institutions

Quality
Student satisfaction with ACE courses meeting overall needs

Timeliness
Performance agreements with Regional Councils signed
before 31 December
Cost
Total output cost ($ million)

Comments (where appropriate)

Reluctance to participate in the
planning process and student
withdrawal before development of
a plan impacted on the result.
Data as at 30 June is based on
students who have completed or left
their Youth Pathways program training
by the end of November 2002, and
who have been tracked six months
after leaving. The reporting timeframe
does not fully capture students who
enrolled late in 2002.

Actual cost reflects additional
expenditure associated with funding
from previous years.

Government-funded provision by ACE organisations and adult education institutions by program type, 2002

22% Adult Literacy and
Basic Education

40% Vocational Education
15% English as a
Second Language

18% General Preparatory

5% Victorian Certificate of Education

Government-funded provision is for education and training provided from State and Commonwealth funds allocated by the ACFE Board and VLESC.
Source: Department of Education & Training
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Participation

Learning Towns

More than 13 million student contact hours were
delivered in ACE organisations and adult education
institutions in 2002 across almost 473,000 module
enrolments. The Government funded over 6.9 million
of these student contact hours.

The Government’s Learning Towns initiative began in
2000. Learning Towns develop collaborative learning
partnerships and link ACE organisations to other
educational providers, industry, local government
and community activity. They:

Participants ranged from young adults to older people
and were drawn from educationally, culturally and
linguistically diverse backgrounds. More women than
men participated.

• support and promote lifelong learning to enhance
the portability of learning

All reported participation is for the 2002 calendar
year unless otherwise indicated.

Learning communities
The ACE sector supports the Government’s Growing
Victoria Together strategy by promoting the value of
lifelong learning. Funding of $4 million has been
allocated per year to ACE Clusters and Learning Towns.

ACE Clusters
Funding continued for the ACE Clusters program
across Victoria, enabling ACE organisations to
work cooperatively to enhance their efficiency and
effectiveness. Since their establishment in 2000, there
has been a 12 per cent increase in participation in
the program. There are 75 ACE Clusters comprising
approximately 350 providers and over 75 per cent
of eligible ACE organisations.
The current focus of the ACE Clusters program is
quality assurance to support the implementation of
the AQTF in the ACE sector and improve outcomes
for learners.

Outstanding Tutor Award winner Kathy Donaghey
has been teaching ESL at Vermont South
Community House for more than 12 years
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• create new educational opportunities for learners
• maximise pathways between education sectors.
There are currently ten Learning Towns in
Albury/Wodonga, Ballarat, Bendigo, Geelong,
Horsham, Kyabram, Mt Evelyn, Wangaratta/Benalla,
Shire of Buloke and Shires of Southern Gippsland.

Mobile computer learning libraries
The Mobile Computer Learning Libraries program
was introduced in 2002. Approximately $1.5 million
over three years will be invested to deliver flexible
learning technologies to groups and individuals in
small community settings throughout Victoria.

Connected ACE
Connected ACE has assisted approximately 160 rural
ACE organisations to access reliable online services.
Broadband and satellite technologies have been
deployed to improve:
• the quality of teaching and learning environments
• access to Internet-based information
• administrative processes in ACE organisations.

Outstanding Learner, Frank Prisco, Sussex Neighbourhood House, completed
his primary schooling in Italy more than 60 years ago. He is now completing
a Certificate in Spoken and Written English in preparation for graduate studies
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Networking the Nation, a partnership between the
Victorian Government and the Commonwealth
Department of Communications, Information
Technology and the Arts, provided over $1.9 million
for this initiative for the period 2000–03.

ACE infrastructure
This program provides funds to improve facilities
of ACE organisations. The Government committed
$9 million through the Community Support Fund
over a three-year period to support renovations,
extensions and refurbishments. The program attracted
an additional contribution of $16 million from the
community.

Refugees
In October 2002, the Department provided funding
of $100,000 to the Fitzroy Learning Network to
develop a sustainable and transferable framework
for ACE organisations to support refugees, temporary
protection visa holders and asylum-seekers to
undertake education and training. This funding
enabled the Network to support the target group’s
full participation in the Victorian community and
develop their spoken and written English.

VCE in ACE
In 2001 and 2002, two VCE pilots for young people
were conducted in the ACE sector. Two key issues
emerged from these pilots: firstly, a better understanding of VCE delivery in the ACE sector was needed
and, secondly, ACE staff teaching the VCE required
greater support and professional development. Two
VCE support projects have been funded to explore
these issues and to provide advice to the ACFE Board
regarding ongoing support. It is anticipated that these
projects will be completed by the end of 2003.

Schools Partnership Delivery program
The Minister for Education and Training has endorsed
guidelines and funding arrangements for the ACE and
Schools Partnership Delivery program. This program
supports collaborative arrangements between the ACE
and schools sectors to assist students under 15 years
of age.

Victorian Certificate of Applied Learning

Over 9000 students aged 15–19 were enrolled
in ACE in 2002, a 13 per cent increase over the
previous year.

In 2003, the Department commenced the statewide
implementation of the VCAL to improve the pathways
for young people from secondary school to work
and/or further education and training. Four ACE
organisations implemented the VCAL in 2002. In
addition, through partnership arrangements, many
other ACE organisations are involved in delivery of
the VCAL to students in secondary schools and TAFE
institutions.

Youth Pathways program

Professional development

In 2002–03, $3.5 million was allocated for the
Youth Pathways program to provide funds to ACE
organisations to deliver accredited education and
training and provide support to early school leavers.
During this period, 1219 students were enrolled in
the program, which targets 15–19-year-olds who
have left school before completing Year 12 and are
unemployed. The program aims to re-engage these
young people with learning, and to support them
to develop a MIP plan. Eight hundred students
were supported. At 31 December 2002, of the
543 students who had left their ACE providers,
467 (86 per cent) of them had a MIP plan. Of the
remaining 14 per cent, 12 per cent withdrew
before a plan was developed
and 2 per cent were
unwilling to participate in
developing a plan.

Professional development has continued to be an
important focus for the sector during 2002. Funding
was provided to:

Young people in ACE

• Association of Neighbourhood Houses and
Learning Centres

BRACE offers innovative
programs for young
people aged 15–19 in
the Ballarat area

Training and tertiary education

• Victorian Association for the Teaching of English
to Speakers of Other Languages and Multicultural
Education
• Victorian Adult Literacy and Basic Education
Council
• University of the Third Age (U3A) Network Victoria
• Adult Resource and Information Service
• The Centre, Wangaratta.
LearnScope is an ANTA-funded professional
development project in the ACE sector aimed at
improving the skills of teaching staff in the areas of
e-learning and new flexible learning technologies.

It is centred on e-learning skills needed for flexible
delivery in the workplace. In 2003, nine ACE
organisations secured over $100,000 for LearnScope
projects. These included:
• workshops and seminars
• resources for professional development in
curriculum development and teaching
• ICT
• neighbourhood house governance
• dissemination of information, publications,
newsletters, telephone information and support.

Quality
Compliance with the AQTF standards was supported
through a wide range of strategies.
• Nineteen strategic audits of ACE organisations
were conducted and indicated high levels of
compliance.

The AQTF Evidence Guide was
developed to help ACE organisations
compile evidence capable of
demonstrating compliance with the
standards for registered training
organisations under the AQTF

• Eighteen ACFE Regional Council staff were trained
as recognition training consultants to support ACE
organisations in quality improvement under the
AQTF.
• The ACE Clusters program broadened its focus to
include projects to support quality improvement
in ACE practice.
• The Victorian Aboriginal Education Association
Incorporated was funded to encourage and assist
Koorie ACE organisations to achieve AQTF
compliance.

Higher education
While the Commonwealth Government has
responsibility for funding Victoria’s public
universities, the State Government has responsibility
for ensuring that universities are accountable to the
Victorian community.

The Cultural Heritage program run by the Education Centre
Gippsland won the Outstanding Program Award as part of the
Victorian Adult Learners’ Week Awards 2002
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The State Government approves the establishment
of Victoria’s universities, as well as granting land for
new campuses and setting the legislation under
which universities operate. In addition to its
regulatory role, the State Government engages in
strategic partnerships with universities to encourage
the provision of high-quality teaching, research
and research infrastructure. This includes ensuring
that while universities increasingly operate in
international markets and global networks, they also
remain relevant to their local communities. The State
Government provides targeted funding to promote
the development of universities in regional infrastructure and initiatives in science, technology and
innovation research.
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There are eight public Victorian universities, one
private university (Melbourne University Private)
and two campuses of the Australian Catholic
University operating in Victoria. Some are multicampus, with both metropolitan and regional
campuses. Five universities are dual-sector
institutions with TAFE divisions.

Higher Education Ministerial
Statement
In October 2002, the Higher Education Ministerial
Statement was released. Informed by a Victorian
higher education forum and seven research papers
commissioned by the Department, the Statement
set out the Government’s strategies for positioning
universities to meet changing knowledge and skill
demands from the community and industry.

Student enrolments in higher education, Victoria, 2002

Australian Catholic University (3,742)

Victoria University of Technology (17,418)

Deakin University (31,184)
University of Melbourne (37,359)
La Trobe University (23,832)
University of Ballarat (5,992)
Swinburne University (13,007)
Monash University (48,491)
RMIT University (34,578)

Actual enrolments at 31 March 2002, including overseas students, were 9.8 per cent higher than in 2001.
Source: Data provided to the Department of Education & Training by universities

Performance measures: higher education
Measure

Quantity
Universities participating in cooperative arrangements in
regional areas
Government-funded postgraduate ICT research scholarship
commencements
Teacher scholarships taken up
Quality
Private providers complying with quality standards
Direct costs of accrediting for-profit providers recovered
through fees
Timeliness
Private provider applications assessed within six months

Cost
Total output cost ($ million)

2002 target

2002 actual

8

8

35

36

220

248

Comments (where appropriate)

Data refers to the financial year.
Target exceeded within existing budget.

100%

100%

100%

95%

75%

89%

Review of supporting documents
and improved advice to applicants
contributed to a speedier approval
process and improved standards and
timeliness.

2.4

1.6

Actual cost reflects changes to the
method of calculation.
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Several initiatives have been implemented, including
the establishment of a Ministerial Higher Education
Roundtable to promote the Government’s strategic
engagement with universities, an inter-departmental
Higher Education Coordination Committee to
coordinate government activity in the higher
education sector, and regional higher education
and outer-urban working parties to address issues
of higher education participation in underrepresented regions.

Liaison with the Commonwealth
The Department represents and promotes the
interests of Victorian universities to the Commonwealth and encourages the Commonwealth to
meet its obligation to ensure that universities are
adequately resourced. This includes addressing the
significant implications of the Commonwealth
Statement on higher education, Our Universities:
Backing Australia’s Future, released with the 2003
Federal Budget. New partnership arrangements are
being sought with the Commonwealth to further
coordinate and enhance higher education provision
across the State, including planning related to
the range and location of programs offered and
the number of university places allocated. The
Department also encourages the Commonwealth
to acknowledge the specific needs of regional and
rural university campuses.

Regulation
The Department’s role includes developing and
implementing legislation for the universities
established in Victoria. The Department monitors
universities’ governance and compliance with
reporting requirements, coordinating the preparation
and tabling of universities’ annual reports in the
Victorian Parliament. The Department also initiated
new procedures for the appointment of university
council members.

comparable with those of public universities.
The Department also oversees the application and
approval process for institutions seeking to become
approved private providers. Approval is subject to
a rigorous review conducted by expert panels that
make recommendations to the Minister for Education
and Training through the Higher Education Advisory
Committee. This review process ensures that high
standards, comparable to those of public universities,
are maintained.
The Australian Universities’ Quality Agency carries
out audits of universities’ quality assurance processes,
as well as of State and Territory higher education
accrediting authorities. Victoria was the first State
accrediting authority to be formally audited and
received a number of commendations for exemplary
practice in its approval processes.
Victoria is a national leader in developing criteria
and procedures to determine the basis on which
applications from private providers for accreditation
and authority to conduct higher education courses
are assessed, particularly following the adoption of
MCEETYA National Protocol for Higher Education
Approval Processes. It has also developed criteria
and procedures for applications for the endorsement of higher education courses for delivery to
international students from all higher education
providers, including universities.
In 2002:
• four new private provider higher education courses
were accredited
• four new private providers were authorised
to conduct higher education courses
• three established private providers were
reaccredited and re-authorised to conduct higher
education courses
• five interstate universities were endorsed to offer
higher education courses in Victoria
• 38 private providers were approved to operate
in Victoria

Accreditation
Publicly funded universities offer most of the higher
education programs in Victoria, but private providers
can be authorised to conduct programs accredited
under the Tertiary Education Act 1993. The
Department accredits private providers of higher
education courses to ensure standards are

The Higher Education Ministerial Statement, launched by the
Minister for Education and Training, Lynne Kosky, in October 2002,
recognises the crucial role Victorian universities play in fulfilling the
challenges and aspirations of an innovation economy
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• three new private provider courses were endorsed
for delivery to overseas students
• 415 new public university courses and 1844
amended public university courses were endorsed
for registration on the Commonwealth Register of
Institutions and Courses for Overseas Students.

Access and participation
The Government supports clear targets to increase
participation by under-represented groups and seeks
to maximise opportunities for access to universities.
Clearer pathways between higher education and
TAFE sectors will provide further means of access.
Regional and outer-urban higher education working
parties are considering strategies to maximise
provision in under-represented areas.
The total undergraduate student enrolment in
Victoria, including domestic fee-paying and
international students, increased from 145,098 in
1998 to 157,178 in 2002, a growth of 8.3 per cent.
Postgraduate enrolments increased from 39,038 in
1998 to 55,347 in 2002, a 41.8 per cent increase
over five years and a 17.7 per cent increase from the
previous year.

VET and higher education pathways
The Government continues to work with the
Australian Qualifications Framework Advisory Board
towards the development and provision of qualifications that offer both vocational education and
training and higher education outcomes through
related ‘nested’ qualifications with full-credit study
across the sectors.

International students
Victoria is an increasingly attractive destination
within a competitive international market. The
Government supports and encourages universities
to maintain and expand Victoria’s market leadership
in international higher education.
The number of overseas students studying at
metropolitan and regional universities in Victoria
continued to increase. In 2002, 43,480 international
students were enrolled at Victorian universities, an
increase of 19.8 per cent over the previous year.
International students now make up over 20 per cent of
the student population in Victorian universities. Victoria
had 28.8 per cent of the total number of 185,058
international students studying in Australia in 2002.

University governance
The responsibility for ensuring the effective governance
of public universities rests with the State Government.
The Government’s reforms arising out of the Review
of University Governance undertaken in 2002 set out
a strengthened accountability framework and firmly
placed the responsibility for the commercial activities
of universities with university councils. Recommendations of the Review have been implemented through
the University Acts (Amendment) Act 2003. These
reforms will enable Victorian universities to better
position themselves to take the greatest advantage of
future commercial opportunities, while maintaining
a high level of public accountability. The Victorian
Government has led the way in university governance.
The Commonwealth policy to develop a national
governance protocol for higher education is based
on the outcomes of the Victorian Review.

Award completions in higher education, Victoria, 2001

Victoria University of Technology (3,986)

Australian Catholic University (1,108)
Deakin University (7,457)

University of Melbourne (10,525)
La Trobe University (6,199)
University of Ballarat (1,475)
Swinburne University (2,661)
Monash University (13,128)
RMIT University (6,974)

Award completions in 2001 increased by 10.4 per cent compared with 2000.
Source: Data provided to the Department of Education & Training by universities
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Resource management
Resource management includes asset and property
management and investment in the provision of ICT
to the TAFE sector.

Asset management

Work continues on the development of the
Warrnambool campus of South West Institute of TAFE.
During 2002–03, Stage 1 was completed and Stage 2
commenced. At a total cost of $14.3 million, this
development will reshape training delivery at this
campus. A Stage 3 project is being considered for
funding.

Monitoring of TAFE assets is part of the Departmentwide Asset Management strategy. With the implementation of the TAFE facility management system, more
detailed information about the condition of the
building stock, plant and equipment will enable
improved asset investment decisions.

Property management

During 2002–03, parts of the Richmond and Coburg
campuses of Kangan Batman Institute of TAFE and
parts of the Collingwood and Parkville campuses of
Northern Melbourne Institute of TAFE were declared
surplus to use.

• a new campus at Bullock Island (Lakes Entrance)
as a joint venture between East Gippsland Institute
of TAFE and RMIT

Asset investment
In 2002–03, the TAFE Infrastructure program provided
$118.7 million in funding for capital and ICT infrastructure purposes (combining both State and
Commonwealth funding). While new facilities were
funded to replace out-of-date infrastructure, there was
an emphasis on refurbishing existing building stock.
Of significance were major TAFE refurbishment
works to Buildings 56 and 57 at RMIT and the
redevelopment of the Moorabbin campus of the
Holmesglen Institute of TAFE.
A $15.6 million refurbishment program is under way
at the city campus of the Gordon Institute of TAFE.

During 2002–03, new property was acquired for:
• the Automotive Centre of Excellence at Docklands
• a new Swan Hill campus for Sunraysia Institute
of TAFE

• expansion of the Central Gippsland Institute of
TAFE’s Newborough campus by the acquisition
of the former Lowanna Secondary College.

Information and communication
technology
The Department is incorporating the integration
of hardware, communications and software into
infrastructure development projects to better align
student needs to training programs. Bandwidth
connection to TAFE institutions and local area
networks is improving.
A new $1.5 million ICT project is being funded
by the Department and project-managed by Central
Gippsland Institute of TAFE to connect all participants
of the Gippsland Education Precinct.

Kangan Batman Institute of TAFE’s Automotive Centre of Excellence will be situated in the
Docklands precinct, just kilometres away from Australia’s major automotive manufacturers
The Automotive Centre
of Excellence
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Policy, strategy and
information services

These outputs involve the provision of:
– policy and strategy advice to the Ministers
and Executive, including post-compulsory
education and training
– Ministerial and support services for portfolio
statutory authorities and advisory bodies
– international education and training services
– public information and promotion services.
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Outlook
In 2003–04, the Department will:
• support the portfolio Ministers and the Secretary
to fulfil their roles and responsibilities, including
compliance with applicable legislation
• consolidate stakeholder management and ensure
effective relationships with key stakeholders within
the Department, statutory authorities, other
agencies and the community to deliver better
education and training policy and outcomes
• develop and implement planning, performance
management and reporting frameworks and
processes to underpin the effective operation of
the Department in delivering the Government’s
policy priorities
• drive strategic change initiatives to improve
education and training outcomes for all Victorians
• evaluate activities across the Department to ensure
that they are focused on the Government’s
priorities for education and training
• contribute to developing the Minister’s blueprint
for education.

Policy, strategy and
executive services
The Department provides and coordinates advice
to the Ministers and statutory authorities in the areas
of Department-wide planning, policy development
and resource allocation for school education, postcompulsory education and training, TAFE, ACE and
higher education.
The Department also provides executive, legal and
administrative services to the Ministers, Parliamentary
Secretaries, the Secretary and Directors.

Yearly management cycle
In 2002–03, major activities in the coordination of
the Department’s yearly management cycle included:
• developing a strategic framework to improve
business planning across the Department
• developing integrated corporate statements and
business plans for the Department
• developing long-term strategies to achieve the
Government’s goals and targets for education
and training
• developing the Department’s budget submissions,
culminating in the 2003–04 State Budget
• evaluating major activities and programs within the
Department
• preparing presentations and briefings to the Public
Accounts and Estimates Committee of the Victorian
Parliament
• managing the preparation of the portfolio annual
reports for 2001–02
• supporting the operation of the statutory
authorities.

Performance measurement and
reporting
The Department undertook further work in 2002–03
to refine and improve the way in which it measures
progress towards achievement of the Government’s
priorities, including the goals and targets for
education and training. Progress towards
achievement of the goals and targets is reported
on page 6.
The Department also reviewed its suite of output
performance measures and added a number of new
measures, particularly in relation to the middle years
of schooling. The revisions will take effect in the
2003–04 financial year.
The Department supports systems that provide
nationally comparable performance information.
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Performance measures: policy, strategy and executive services
Measure

2002 target

2002 actual

Comments (where appropriate)

Quantity
Correspondence prepared for Ministers’ and Executive
Group’s signature or responded to on behalf of Ministers

9000

8530

Briefings prepared for Ministers’ and Executive Group’s signature

5000

4700

155

171

Proportion of LLENs with a membership of every government
secondary school, TAFE institution and ACE provider within
their boundary

100%

Not available

LLEN strategic plans forwarded to and approved by VLESC

100%

100%

Quality
Executive satisfaction that services received meet relevant
quality standards

90%

90%

Timeliness
Correspondence prepared for Ministers’ signatures or responded
to on behalf of Ministers within predetermined timelines

95%

50%

The 2002 State election and
consequent machinery-of-government
changes had an impact on the
Department’s ability to meet the target.
The Department continues to improve
internal processes to meet the target.

21.9

20.5

Actual cost reflects lower central
office expenditure.

Number of partnership agreements between education,
training and employment providers and agencies lodged
with LLENs during the year

Cost
Total output cost ($ million)

Post-compulsory education and
training policy
Four of the Government’s goals and two of the targets
focus on post-compulsory education and training and
improved outcomes for young people.
The Department supports programs and initiatives
such as VET in Schools, the VCE and VCAL, the Youth
Pathways program in TAFE and ACE, MIP plans, the
On Track initiative and the LLENs. Each contributes
to ensuring that multiple education and training
pathways and support through to employment are
available to young people. Several areas of the
Department and a range of providers are responsible
for these programs. This can involve the schools,
TAFE and ACE sectors in a variety of collaborative
arrangements.

Victorian Learning and Employment Skills
Commission
VLESC has a broad advisory role to Government
on post-compulsory education, training and

The target was established during the
early implementation of the LLEN
initiative. LLENs are successfully
implementing the partnership model
for improving education and training
outcomes for young people. The
number of partnership agreements is
greater than expected initially.
91.5% of government secondary
schools and all TAFE institutions are
involved in the LLENs. 60% of mediumto-large ACE organisations are involved
in LLENs and the ACE sector is
represented through broad membership of the LLENs and on committees
of management.

employment. VLESC is also the State training agency
for Victoria under the ANTA Agreement. Full details
of the achievements of VLESC are provided in the
VLESC Annual Report 2002–03.
In 2002–03, VLESC:
• commenced work to develop a consultation
document on a post-compulsory framework for
education and training for young people aged 15–24
• supported the 31 LLENs in developing local
partnerships to achieve sustained improvements
in education, training and employment outcomes
for young people
• initiated two major projects – securing long-term
sustainable financing arrangements for the VET
sector, and developing a framework for assessing
demand and establishing priorities for vocational
education and training in Victoria
• published the Review of Industry Advice on Training
• undertook a review of TAFE governance
• initiated four research projects as part of its
research agenda
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• contributed to the New National VET Strategy
2004–10
• developed and published the VLESC vision
• sponsored the Outstanding Student of the Year
Award for an Apprentice in the Victorian Training
Awards
• established two VLESC standing committees – the
Post Compulsory Education and Training Standing
Committee and the State Training Agency Standing
Committee.

The MIP program was successfully expanded across
schools, TAFE providers and ACE organisations
in 2003. This program negotiates a pathway to
continued education, further training or employment
for young people, and uses the development of a
pathway plan as a significant planning tool.

Local Learning and Employment Networks

MIP providers are required to plan their student
program taking into account the priorities of their
LLEN. A cross-sectoral evaluation of the MIP program
undertaken by the University of Melbourne found the
program had been successful in:

Thirty-one LLENs were established across Victoria in
2001 and 2002.

• assisting young people to develop skills to manage
their pathways throughout their working life

LLENs develop and broker strategic and distinctive
local partnerships with a wide range of stakeholders,
including education and training providers, industry
and community organisations, to achieve sustained
improvements in the education, training and
employment outcomes for young people.

• developing young people’s understanding and
knowledge about education, training and
employment

All 31 LLENs’ strategic plans were received and
approved by VLESC. The LLENs have formed over
350 partnerships between education, training and
employment providers and agencies. Of these,
171 have been formalised through memoranda
of understanding.

Information about the MIP program in schools
appears on page 29.

LLENs have played a key role in raising awareness
of the VCAL and VET in Schools with schools and
employees and in local communities.
For more information on the LLENs, see the VLESC
Annual Report 2002–03.

Marielle completed Year 12 at Lyndale Secondary
College in 2002. She has commenced a two-year
diploma course at Holmesglen Institute of TAFE in
building design and construction
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• promoting effective movement through the
transition phase from compulsory schooling
to further education, training and employment.

TAFE institutions also supported young people
through the MIP program. See page 59 for further
information.
Details on the MIP program in the ACE sector can
be found on page 65.

On Track
The On Track initiative, which commenced in 2003,
builds on the MIP program. On Track follows up
both government and non-government school

Daniel, a Year 10 student at Langwarrin Secondary College,
polishes the canopy of a Mustang as part of his work
placement with Peninsula Vocational Education and Training
at the Westernport Airfield, Tyabb
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students through a telephone survey after they leave
school, and offers them further advice if they are not
in education, training or full-time employment.
Information collected about destinations of postYear 12 students is published, contributing to meeting
the commitment by the Minister for Education and
Training to improve the quality of reporting to parents
and the Victorian public on education outcomes. The
data will also contribute to a comprehensive picture
of what happens to young people during the first five
years of leaving school.
In 2003, over 35,000 Victorian students who were
enrolled in Year 12 in 2002 participated in the first
On Track survey. Destination data was published
in daily newspapers, highlighting the diversity of
pathways young people pursue after leaving school,
including university, TAFE or other vocational
education and training, apprenticeships or
traineeships, and employment. Research into
destinations of 2002 Years 10 and 11 school leavers
will be completed later in 2003.
Young people not in education, training or full-time
employment at the time of the survey who requested
further assistance were linked with local programs
and services by LLENs through On Track Connect.

Coordination with the Commonwealth
Victoria has focused on creating synergies with
Commonwealth programs that enhance Victoria’s
efforts to assist young people achieve improved
educational outcomes. Following the signing
of Stepping Forward – a joint declaration by
Commonwealth, State and Territory Ministers
for Education, Training, Employment, Youth and

The Highlands LLEN and Ballarat Learning Exchange
work together to provide an education, training and
career advisory information centre.

Community Services – Victoria has ensured an
effective sharing of information and joint action
to enhance pathways for young people.
A key example of this has been the cooperation
between the Commonwealth-funded Enterprise
and Career Education Foundation, which provides
structured workplace learning coordination funds
for clusters of Victorian schools and LLENs across
the State. In 14 cases, the Foundation clusters have
integrated with LLENs to provide enhanced services
for local schools, industry and students.

Improved transport arrangements
In 2001, a number of LLENs highlighted access to
transport as one of the major difficulties in increasing
engagement of young people aged 15–19 in
education and training. Achievements for 2002–03
included the following:
• The Highlands LLEN Youth Bus project piloted the
use of spare seats on the free school bus service by
young people who attend education and training
providers other than schools. This has now been
implemented across the State with the assistance
of LLENs in a number of areas.
• The Wimmera VET in Schools bus transports
130 rural young people to their VET provider in
Horsham. This project is funded in 2003 through
a one-off grant from the Department and
contributions from parents. Future funding is
contingent on evaluation of the program and
identification of a sustainable funding source.

Research and evaluation
The Department’s Research strategy and its Evaluation
plan underpin the planning, conduct and use of highquality research and evaluation to inform policy
development and enhance program planning and
delivery.
The priority areas for research and evaluation for
2002–03 included:
• key influences on educational outcomes
• progress towards the goals and targets
• student destinations and pathways
• students at risk of disengagement from education
and training
• human and social capital
• evaluation capacity building.

National Competition policy
In 1995, the Commonwealth, State and Territory
governments agreed to implement the National
Competition policy to promote greater competition
and encourage economic growth. Two requirements
of the policy are:
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areas provide the interface between the Department
and the Ministers on day-to-day matters and ensure
the Department’s administrative support functions
operate effectively.

• legislative reviews to eliminate restrictions on
competition
• competitive neutrality to ensure consistency in
pricing of services and/or facilities.

The Department provides advice on portfolio policy
and funding relationships with other Victorian
government departments, State jurisdictions and
Commonwealth agencies. The Department supports
the Minister for Education and Training, the Minister
for Education Services and the Secretary as members
of MCEETYA and the Australian Education Systems
Officials Committee (AESOC). It also provides advice
to Commonwealth and State parliamentary inquiries
and reviews on education and training policy.

The Department has complied with the requirements
of National Competition policy and is continuing to
report to the Department of Treasury and Finance as
required regarding implementation.

Legislative reviews
The Department did not undertake any reviews of
legislation under the National Competition policy
in 2002–03.

Competitive neutrality
The Department was involved in one complaint for
the year 2002–03. The issues raised were considered
by the Competitive Neutrality Complaints Unit
(Department of Treasury and Finance) to be outside
the scope of the Competitive Neutrality policy and
resulted in termination of the investigation.

International education
The provision of education and training to students
from overseas remains a strong element of Victoria’s
export trade. International education is expected to
expand consistently over time. In the first quarter of
2003, education services were the sixth largest export
for Australia.

External and inter-governmental
relations

The Department’s international services include:

The Department supports the Ministers and the
Department’s Executive in fulfilling their responsibilities across the portfolio, including Ministerial and
Executive support functions, inter-agency relations,
legal services, privacy services and administration.

• marketing, recruitment, assessment and placement
services for full fee-paying overseas students in
Victorian government schools, and generic
marketing support for TAFE providers and the
higher education sector

Services provided across the Department include
the coordination of briefings, correspondence,
Community Cabinet, Parliamentary services, Cabinet
and legislation, archives and records management,
Freedom of Information and the Ombudsman. These

• marketing of the Department’s capabilities and
programs to international communities
• organisation of overseas delegations and study
tours to Victorian education and training
institutions and agencies

Performance measures: international education
Measure

2002 target

2002 actual

Comments (where appropriate)

15,000

15,814

800

1060

Target exceeded due to increased
demand.

150%

121%

Data is for a financial year. Future
reporting will be for a financial year.

80%

86%

As above.

80%

72%

The result is due to a poor response
rate (20%) and a high sampling error.

80%

83%

5.5

7.7

Quantity
Overseas student study tour days into Victoria
Overseas students recruited to study in Victorian government
schools in the year
Costs met by revenue raised from delivery of adult international
study tours into Victoria
Costs met by revenue raised from the delivery of international
projects and programs
Quality
Satisfaction of agents with overseas student programs/
services offered
Satisfaction of clients with services provided in relation to
projects and programs
Cost
Total output cost ($ million)
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Actual cost reflects a large increase in
the number of overseas students
studying in Victoria.
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International students commencing study in Victorian government schools, January – June 2003

8.8% Other
1.8% Thailand
2.6% Indonesia
3.8% Hong Kong
4.2% Malaysia
43.3% China
5.4% Vietnam

12.0% Japan

14.1% Korea
Nearly 70 per cent of international students enrolling for the first time in Victorian government schools came from China, Korea and Japan.
Source: Department of Education & Training

• organisation and implementation of teacher and
principal exchange programs, student exchange
and student study tours
• delivery of associated consultancy and training
services to international clients.

Full fee-paying overseas students

More than 200
metropolitan and
non-metropolitan
government
schools are
registered to enrol
overseas students

Victoria continues to be a market leader in the
recruitment of international students into the
government school sector. As at 30 June 2003,
there were 2510 international students enrolled
in government schools compared with 2123 at the
same time last year, an increase of 18.2 per cent.

Student study tours
The short-term student study tour program continued
with 1486 students visiting 90 metropolitan, rural and
regional schools for a total of 15,814 student days,
compared with 16,962 student days in the previous
year. Most of the groups were from Japan.

Exchanges and language support
A total of 111 native-speaker assistants provided
support to teachers and students studying languages
in government schools. This compares to 150 in
2001–02, with reduced interest from Japan.
There has also been a reduction in the number of
teachers and principals participating in the International Teaching Fellowship exchange program (52
in 2002–03 compared with 67 in the previous year).
The continuing weakness of the Australian dollar
during 2001 and 2002 was an important deterrent.
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Students from South Korea participate in a school
visit to Princes Hill Primary School in North Carlton

Longer-term programs included exchanges with
Canada, France, Switzerland, the United Kingdom
and the United States of America. Short-term
exchange programs included Cambodia, Denmark,
France (Bordeaux) and Italy (Milan).

International delegations

International projects
The Department continues to develop its role as a
partner in the delivery of offshore education and
training projects. These included the following
partnerships with the Overseas Projects Corporation
of Victoria and International Training Australia in the
Asia-Pacific Region:

Victorian education and training programs continued
to attract strong interest from practitioners overseas.
A total of 43 delegation programs were organised
over the past year, the same number as the previous
year. The number of international participants in
these programs was 396 compared to 488 in the
previous year. International unrest and the impact
of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS) on
international travel were the major contributors to
the downturn in numbers.

• Institutional Strengthening Project in Samoa,
funded by AusAID and managed by the Overseas
Projects Corporation of Victoria, and regarded
by AusAID as an example of best practice in
development assistance projects.

Programs focusing on schools and vocational
education and training were organised for delegates
from Bangladesh, Cambodia, China, India, Japan,
Korea, Laos, Maldives, Mexico, Philippines, Samoa,
Saudi Arabia, Sri Lanka, Taiwan, Thailand, United Arab
Emirates, United Kingdom, Uzbekistan and Vietnam.

• Asian Development Bank education sector project
in Samoa, managed by Overseas Projects
Corporation of Victoria.

Particular note should be made of the Philippines–
Australia Basic Education Assistance for Mindanao
project funded by AusAID. Two teams of
administrators from Mindanao in the southern
Philippines participated in intensive three-week
training programs in Victoria.
Evaluation surveys distributed to participants reveal
a high level of satisfaction with programs. Survey
items included level of satisfaction with program
organisation, quality of presentations, quality of
education visits, and information and support
materials supplied.
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Korean teachers enjoy a weekend break in
their program to learn more about Victoria

• Basic Education of Girls project in Laos, funded
by AusAID and the Asian Development Bank.
• Secondary Education Development and
Improvement project in the Philippines, funded by
the Asian Development Bank.

• Primary English language curriculum development
project in Laos, in conjunction with AMES.
Victoria has continued to coordinate the UNESCO
Associated Schools Project on behalf of the
Commonwealth.
The Department coordinated the OECD ‘Learning
Cities and Regions’ international conference in
October 2002. The Department conducted a followup conference for participants from the Asia-Pacific
Region, ‘Challenges in the Development of Education
and Training in the Asia-Pacific Region’.
The Department continues to coordinate the
provision of Victorian Government support for the
reconstruction of education in East Timor.

DE&T Annual Report 2002–03

TAFE sector
In Victoria 108 registered training organisations,
including 19 TAFE institutions, are approved to
deliver training to overseas students. Over 700
courses are offered to an increasing number of
overseas, full fee-paying students. Victoria’s growing
international reputation generated increased interest
from international delegates seeking to understand
more about Victoria’s VET system.
International Training Australia (ITA) continues to
represent the Victorian TAFE sector in large international projects. Overseas contract work that ITA

has managed in project activity is now in excess
of $60 million. In association with Victorian TAFE
providers, ITA is working directly with governments
in Vietnam, Indonesia, Malaysia, Laos, China, Saudi
Arabia and the Philippines. It is also undertaking
direct training projects throughout South-East Asia
and the Pacific, and is continuing with a number of
industry and institutional strengthening projects in
Malaysia, China, Samoa, New Caledonia, French
Polynesia, Thailand, Fiji, East Timor and Vanuatu.
In 2002–03, ITA continued to provide opportunities
for staff development through job placement and the
participation of staff from TAFE institutions in the

New international projects in the TAFE sector, 2002–03
Project

Country

Value

Funding

TAFE institution

Pacific In-Country Training Sub Program

Samoa/Fiji

A$50,000

AusAID

Chisholm

AusAID Education Period Contracts

Indonesia

A$30,000

AusAID

Various

RE Ross Trust Regional Fellowship Program

The Pacific

A$900,000
(3 years)

RE Ross Trust

TAFE sector

RE Ross Trust Regional Fellowship Program

East Timor

A$180,000

RE Ross Trust

TAFE sector

Short Course Training for New Caledonia

New Caledonia

A$400,000

AusAID

William Angliss
Holmesglen

Middle Management Training for French Polynesia

French Polynesia

A$550,000
(2 years)

AusAID

Swinburne
Holmesglen

Department of Vocational Education (Thailand)
and Automotive Training Centre

Thailand

A$715,000

Department of
Vocational Education

Not yet defined

Higher and Technical Education Department Study Tour

Laos

US$20,000

Asian Development
Bank

Various

Guizhou Investigative Study Tour

China

US$75,000

Commercial

Swinburne

Yunnan Copper Training Program

China

US$30,000

Commercial

Box Hill

Shenzhen Transportation Study Tour

China

US$89,000

Commercial

Kangan Batman

Delegates from the southern Philippines take the opportunity to thank the
Department for its support and hospitality by singing a traditional song

Canadian student Laurel Condon receives some
culinary tips from Box Hill Institute of TAFE’s chefteacher Darrel Cummins during her exchange visit
under the Global Education Network program
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remain important priorities. The Department
has been working to develop industry relations
across the higher education, TAFE/VET, school and
ELICOS sectors, and to promote cooperation in the
development of strategies to enhance Victoria’s
international market position.

compilation of project bids for small and large
projects. Over 100 personnel from across the
Victorian TAFE sector have participated in ITA
projects since 1995. The table on page 79 provides a
summary of new projects contracted during 2002–03.
In 2002–03, ITA contributed over 20 per cent of all
offshore project revenue for the Victorian TAFE sector.
This included offshore training and curriculum
delivery of accredited programs, Asian Development
Bank-funded technical and vocational projects and
English language training and testing.

Several consultative mechanisms have been
established to inform the continued development of
Victoria’s industry position. In particular, the Victorian
International Education Consultative Group acts as
a voice from industry stakeholders on key issues in
international education.

The Auditor General’s Report on Public Sector
Agencies, Overseas Operations of Victorian TAFE
Institutes, surveyed TAFE institutions on their
assessment of the benefits delivered from involvement in overseas projects with ITA. The report found
that 65 per cent of TAFE institutions reported an
increase in their capacity to undertake aid-funded
work, 55 per cent commented on financial benefits to
the institution, and 18 per cent reported an increase
in profile in the marketplace.

Key activities being pursued by the Group include:
• a joint research project initiated by the Victorian
International Director’s Committee in conjunction
with the Department to investigate ways to
strengthen Victoria’s ‘brand position’ in key
overseas markets
• a research proposal developed to investigate future
demand and supply issues affecting Victoria’s
international education industry
• an International Education Week proposed as a joint
industry and State Government initiative to celebrate
the contribution international education makes to
cultural diversity and the benefits to the State.

Industry development
The Higher Education Ministerial Statement released
in 2002 commits the Victorian Government to
strengthening Victoria’s international education
leadership. It communicates the Government’s
commitment to working collaboratively with
Victorian universities to investigate cross-sectoral
initiatives and minimise regulatory and structural
barriers to growth in export education. It expressed
a policy commitment to enter into partnership
arrangements with each of the Victorian universities
to align higher education provision with longer-term
State development priorities.

Public information
and promotion
The Department promotes education and training
opportunities throughout Victoria in a variety of ways.
Education Times is the main communication link
within the school education sector. The newspaper
is published fortnightly during school terms and is
available online at <www.sofweb.vic.edu.au/edtimes/
index.htm>.

Cross-sectoral industry growth and the strengthening
of Victoria’s leading international education position

Performance measures: public information and promotion
Measure

Quantity
Responses to telephone and email information queries
Publications published online

Quality
Reader satisfaction with news publications
Customer satisfaction with the quality of the telephone
information service
Cost
Total output cost ($ million)
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2002 target

2002 actual

60,000

62,223

50%

70%

95%

97%

95%

Not available

6.3

7.3

Comments (where appropriate)

Online publishing has become standard
practice and led to an increase against
the target.

The Department has moved to the
industry standard for call centres of
‘calls answered within 20 seconds’.
Actual cost reflects an increase in the
communications budget during the year.
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Success is a quarterly newsletter that highlights
excellence in all areas of the VET sector across the
State. It is distributed to TAFE institutions, registered
training organisations, the ACE sector, Victorian
businesses and industry bodies, and other training
providers.
Major publications in 2002–03 included literacy
and numeracy booklets, the Teacher Recruitment Kit,
the 2003 Back to School Kit, the A-Z Guide 2003,
the TAFE Courses Directory 2003 and The Victorian
Government’s Three-year Report on Education and
Training.
Education Line provides a telephone and email
information service for school staff, parents, students
and other community members. During 2002–03,
Education Line assisted with 12,726 telephone and
2660 email enquiries. Respectively, these figures are
10.5 per cent lower and 83.8 per cent higher than the
previous year. The increase in email enquiries
is attributed to greater use of the Internet in Victoria
and overseas.

TAFE Course Line provides statewide information
and referral services for TAFE-accredited and short
courses conducted in Victoria and interstate by TAFE
institutions and private providers. During 2002–03,
TAFE Course Line assisted with more than 47,000
enquiries. The volume of calls was similar to the
previous year but levels of service improved.
Eighty-one per cent of calls were answered within
20 seconds, up from 74 per cent in 2001–02. Call
centre research shows that customers deem a 20second wait for their call to be answered to be fair
and reasonable.
The top ten courses for which there were enquiries
in 2002–03 were nursing, languages, industrial skills,
information technology, building, community
services, TAFE Course Directory requests, real estate,
business and management, and software packages.
The TAFE Course Line telephone number is 131 823.
In 2002–03, a number of awards were held to
promote and celebrate education and training in
Victoria. Key awards included:

Education Line contact details are (03) 9637 2222
and freecall 1800 809 834. The email address is
<edline@edumail.vic.gov.au>.

• Victorian Education Excellence Awards,
recognising and rewarding outstanding leaders
and teachers in government schools

Information requested by callers, 2002–03

• Premier’s VCE Awards, recognising outstanding
achievement in the VCE

Category

Number of calls

Per cent

Publications

2,204

17.3

Department policy

1,429

11.2

Term dates and public holidays

523

4.1

Zones for primary and secondary schools

161

1.3

School charges and parent contributions

156

1.2

Transfers – intrastate, interstate and overseas

471

3.7

Employment and recruitment

811

6.4

EMA

334

2.6

Complaints

516

4.1

General information
Total

6,121

48.1

12,726

100.0

• Victorian Training Awards, celebrating and
rewarding excellence in the Victorian training
sector
• Adult Learners’ Week Awards, recognising
excellence in Victoria’s ACE sector.

Education Times, published fortnightly
during school terms, and the quarterly
Success magazine keep stakeholders
abreast of current developments in
education and training
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Statutory authorities
and other bodies
Fifty-three statutory authorities
and other bodies work with
the education and training
communities to provide direct
education and training provision
and/or advice to the Minister for
Education and Training and the
Minister for Education Services.

Overview
The Minister for Education and Training and the Minister
for Education Services are accountable to the Victorian
Parliament for the performance of the Department. In the
discharge of their responsibilities the Ministers received
advice from several education and training statutory
authorities in 2002–03, as indicated in the table below.
The Department works in conjunction with statutory
authorities to achieve the Government goals and
targets for education and training and the delivery of
Government-funded education and training outputs.
Staff who support some of these authorities are on the
Department’s payroll, as reflected in the workforce
data on pages 21 and 135–7. Some of the authorities
produce annual reports in their own right. These reports
can be accessed from the Department’s website
<www.det.vic.gov.au>. The reports of the Registered
Schools Board and the Merit Protection Boards are
included in this report.
Information about the remaining 47 statutory authorities
and other bodies in the portfolio is presented on
pages 87–9.
Selected statutory authorities and their reporting
requirements
Agency
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Minister

Annual report

ACFE Board

Education and Training

Separate report

Merit Protection Boards

Education Services

See pages 83–7

Registered Schools Board

Education and Training

See pages 45–6

VCAA

Education and Training

Separate report

VLESC

Education and Training

Separate report

VQA

Education and Training

Separate report
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Merit Protection Boards
The Merit Protection Boards were established in 1993
under the Teaching Service Act 1981 to:
• advise the Minister about principles of merit and
equity to be applied in the teaching service
• hear reviews and appeals in relation to decisions
made under the Teaching Service Act or any
other Act
• advise the Minister or the Secretary about any
matter referred to them by the Minister or the
Secretary relating to merit and equity in the
teaching service
• hear reviews and appeals in relation to any
decision prescribed by the regulations to be a
decision in respect of which there is a right of
review by or appeal to a Merit Protection Board.
There are seven Teaching Service Merit Protection
Boards, each of which comprises a chair, a nominee
of the Secretary and a nominee of the former Standards
Council of the Teaching Profession. Most members are
part-time.
The Public Sector Merit Protection Boards comprise
three members, an independent chair, a nominee
of the Secretary and a staff member. The Public
Sector Boards make a recommendation to the Senior
Chair of the Merit Protection Boards, who has the
delegation from the Secretary to hear and determine
public sector grievances.
The Senior Chair, Mr Ian Adams, and the Secretary’s
nominee, Mr Ray Wilkinson, are full-time members
of the Boards. Ms Beverly Trease is the Registrar.

Part-time members
Chairs
Mr John Coulson, Principal,
Wellington Secondary College
Ms Avis Grahame, Senior Education Officer,
Southern Metropolitan Region
Ms Helen Jackson, Principal,
Pascoe Vale Girls Secondary College
Mr Eric Keenan, Principal,
Sunbury Secondary College
Mr Francis O’Dea, Principal,
Noble Park Secondary College
Ms Bronwyn Valente, Principal,
University High School

Full-time staff from the Merit Protection Boards gather in the hearing
room: (from the foreground) Ian Adams (Senior Chair), Beverly Trease
(Registrar), Ray Wilkinson (Secretary’s nominee), Shaun Corbidge and
Robyn Angove. Absent: Meaghan Maguire

Secretary’s nominees
Ms Leonie Fitzgerald, Principal,
Dandenong South Primary School
Ms Denise Howes, Principal,
Eltham North Primary School
Mr Alex Misfud, Senior Education Officer,
Southern Metropolitan Region
Ms Christine Scott, Principal,
North Fitzroy Primary School (resigned July 2002)
Mr Arthur Toussaint, Principal,
Galvin Park Secondary College (retired May 2003)
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Although there was a marked decrease in the number
of promotion grievances heard due to the decline in
Experienced Teacher with Responsibility (ETWR)
grievances, the percentage of grievances upheld
increased significantly. For example, 41 per cent of
promotion grievances were upheld compared with
only 19.6 per cent the previous year. This increase
can be explained in part by the heightened awareness arising from the ETWR grievance process in
the previous year. Issues identified by the Boards
in relation to selection include the use of selection
criteria that are not in accordance with the relevant
Teaching Service Order, misleading or inaccurate
selection panel reports and perceptions of bias in
relation to selection panel membership.

Teacher nominees
Ms Lorraine Dell, Ormond Primary School
Ms Aniko Kariko, Trafalgar High School
Ms Jennifer Pringle, Mount Waverley
Secondary College
An amendment to the Teaching Service Act gave
responsibility to the Minister to nominate teacher
members to Boards after calling for expressions of
interest. At 30 June 2003, there were four vacancies
for teacher members and three vacancies for
Secretary’s nominees.
The Merit Protection Boards provide an independent
mechanism to hear appeals and grievances for
employees of the Department and associated
statutory authorities. Appeals and grievances include
transfer and promotion, discipline, incapacity,
grievances of a general personal nature, including
sexual harassment and discrimination, and appeals
in relation to police records checks. Appeals and
grievances are heard in the metropolitan area and
regional centres, as appropriate.

The number of personal grievances heard reflects
a continuing decline. The proportion upheld has
reduced by 10 per cent to 40 per cent compared
with the previous year. The main issues arising from
personal grievances relate to referral of excess
teachers, change in time fraction without
consultation, and the refusal of decision makers
to consider flexible work options.

Members of the Merit Protection Boards have a duty
to act as individuals in an independent and objective
manner in their function of attempting to achieve
a fair resolution of the grievance. The grievance
procedures of Merit Protection Boards are consistent
with the principles of procedural fairness.

Of the four discipline appeals received, two were
withdrawn, one was deemed to have lapsed and
the other is pending.

Public sector
In 2002–03, the Merit Protection Boards for the
public sector received 42 grievances, 21 of which
were heard. There were 31 school services officer
(SSO) grievances, of which 11 were upheld. There
were 11 grievances from public servants, none of
which was upheld. There has been a continuing
small increase in the number of grievances lodged
by SSO staff over the last three years.

Access to the Merit Protection Boards is available to
all employees of the Department, including Principal
Class officers, teachers, school-based non-teaching
staff and public servants.

Appeals and grievances
Teaching service
During the year to 30 June 2003, the Merit Protection
Boards for the teaching service received a total of
122 appeals and grievances, comprising 46
promotion grievances, 72 personal grievances and
four discipline appeals. Of those heard, 39 per cent
(31) were upheld.

Merit protection accreditation
In response to a request from the Minister, the Merit
Protection Boards continue to provide training in
the principles of merit and equity for Principal Class
officers, teachers, SSO staff and VPS staff employed

Teaching service – appeals and grievances, 2002–03
Category

Received

Upheld

Disallowed

Withdrawn

Pending

No jurisdiction, Conciliated

Total

out of time
or lapsed
M

M

F

M

F

M

F

M

F

M

F

M

F

Promotion

22

24

5

9

11

6

3

4

1

2

2

3

–

–

46

Personal

27

45

6

11

14

11

2

10

–

2

4

3

1

8

72

Discipline
Total

84

F

3

1

–

–

–

–

2

–

–

1

1

–

–

–

4

52

70

11

20

25

17

7

14

1

5

7

6

1

8

122
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Teaching service – personal grievances by category, 2002–03

6% Classification
12% Leave

13% Selection

56% Conditions of employment

13% Salary and allowances

The majority of personal grievances related to teachers’ conditions of employment – referral of excess teachers, performance assessment
and teacher allotments.
Source: Merit Protection Boards

Public sector – appeals and grievances, 2002–03
Category

Received
M

F

SSO staff
Personal

2

Promotion

–

Total SSO

2

Upheld

Disallowed

M

F

M

F

23

–

10

–

6

–

1

–

29

–

11

–

5

Withdrawn

Pending
M

F

Lapsed
M

F

Conciliated
M

Total

M

F

F

4

–

3

1

2

1

3

–

1

25

1

–

1

–

1

–

1

–

1

6

–

4

1

3

1

4

–

2

31
4

VPS staff
Personal

3

1

–

–

1

–

1

1

1

–

–

–

–

–

Discipline

–

1

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

1

–

–

1

Promotion

3

3

–

–

3

1

–

–

–

1

–

1

–

–

6

Total VPS

6

5

–

–

4

1

1

1

1

1

–

2

–

–

11

Total VPS
and SSO

8

34

–

11

4

6

1

5

2

4

1

6

–

2
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in the Department. Since 2002, all selection panels
are required to include a merit-accredited employee
as a member of the panel. In the last 12 months, the
Board ran 30 seminars in which 1638 employees
were trained. Since the inception of these training
programs, a total of 23,648 employees have been
trained.

Principals
Over the last 12 months, 128 members of the
Principal Class were accredited in seminars
conducted by the Boards in metropolitan and country
centres. Accredited Principal Class officers are
available to serve on Principal Class selection panels.
Since the inception of training programs, 2979
members of the Principal Class have been trained.

Brochures outlining issues
relating to personal and
selection grievances for public
servants complement the series
of brochures on grievances and
appeals for members of the
teaching service
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Statutory authorities and other bodies

SSO – personal grievances by category, 2002–03

4% Police checks
8% Selection

16% Salary and allowances

72% Conditions of employment

The majority of personal grievances related to school services officers’ conditions of employment – discipline, flexible work options and referral of excess staff.
Source: Merit Protection Boards

Teachers
Over the last 12 months, 1147 teachers were
accredited in merit protection in seminars conducted
by the Boards in metropolitan and country centres.
Of these, 85 teachers were reaccredited. The total
number of teachers accredited is 17,510.
Teachers who have been accredited are available to
assist principals with personnel management decision
making in schools, where panels must include a merit
protection-accredited teacher. These panels are for
teacher selection, higher duties, special payments,
employment annulment after unsatisfactory probation,

extension of probation period, deferral of increment
and non-endorsement of teaching practice for leading
teacher accreditation.

SSO and VPS
Over the last 12 months, 204 SSO staff and 132 VPS
staff were accredited in merit protection. The total
number of SSO and VPS staff accredited is 3159.
Accredited SSO staff are available to assist principals
in decision making concerning selection, higher
duties, special payments and deferral of increments.

Employees trained in merit protection by region, July 2002 – June 2003
Region

Teachers

Principal Class

SSO

VPS

Total

Western Metropolitan

196

Northern Metropolitan

177

30

66

8

300

16

33

3

Eastern Metropolitan

229

175

32

20

2

229

Southern Metropolitan

276

31

39

–

346

Barwon South Western

98

4

12

4

118

Central Highlands Wimmera

42

2

3

1

48

Loddon Campaspe Mallee*
Goulburn North Eastern
Gippsland
Corporate
Total

–

–

–

–

–

104

29

15

1

149

79

11

16

2

108

–

–

–

111

111

1147

155

204

132

1638

*This region did not provide any training programs in 2002–03, but concentrated programs in the first half of 2003–04.
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Over the past twelve months, there has been a
marked increase in the number of newly appointed
teachers attending these programs. Their evaluations
of the program indicate that they find the program
particularly valuable as new employees. This view
is also supported by other participants.

TAFE institute councils

Other activities

Box Hill Institute of TAFE Council
465 Elgar Road
Box Hill Victoria 3128
(03) 9286 9222
www.bhtafe.edu.au

The Merit Protection Boards continued to provide
advice to the Department on merit and equity issues
in relation to major policy initiatives at the request of
the Department. The Boards also provided advice
when existing policies were reviewed.
The Senior Chair and the Secretary’s nominee were
invited to talk to many meetings of principals and
assistant principals across the State. They conducted
professional development programs on request for
members of the corporate personnel services unit,
Principal Class officers, field officers of the principals’
associations and the Australian Education Union
Principal Class Association.
The Merit Protection Boards’ website provides
employees with access to information about the
appeal and grievance process and the accreditation
programs run by the Boards. It allows employees to
lodge appeal and grievance applications online.
This facility is being used increasingly by employees.
The website address is <www.mpb.vic.gov.au>.
The Senior Chair and the Secretary’s nominee
attended the annual conference of the Public Sector
Appeals Boards, held in Hobart in September 2002.

Other statutory
authorities and bodies
Other statutory authorities and bodies in the
education and training portfolio include VIT, 14 TAFE
institute councils, nine regional councils of ACFE,
the boards of two adult education institutions, the
councils of eight Victorian universities and 13
industry training boards. All of these authorities
and bodies report to the Minister for Education
and Training.

Victorian Institute of Teaching
Victorian Institute of Teaching
Level 13, 589 Collins Street
Melbourne Victoria 3000
(03) 9616 0830
1300 888 067
www.vit.vic.edu.au

Bendigo Regional Institute of TAFE Council
McCrae Street
Bendigo Victoria 3550
(03) 5434 1555
www.britafe.vic.edu.au

Central Gippsland Institute of TAFE Council
Corner Princes Drive and Monash Way
Morwell Victoria 3814
(03) 5120 4500
www.gippstafe.vic.edu.au
Chisholm Institute of TAFE Council
121 Stud Road
Dandenong Victoria 3175
(03) 9212 5000
www.chisholm.vic.edu.au
East Gippsland Institute of TAFE Council
48 Main Street
Bairnsdale Victoria 3875
(03) 5152 0700
www.egtafe.vic.edu.au
Gordon Institute of TAFE Council
2 Fenwick Street
Geelong Victoria 3220
(03) 5225 0500
www.gordontafe.edu.au
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE Council
Fryers Street
Shepparton Victoria 3630
1300 733 111
www.gotafe.vic.edu.au
Holmesglen Institute of TAFE Council
Batesford Road
Holmesglen Victoria 3148
(03) 9564 1555
www.holmesglen.vic.edu.au
Kangan Batman Institute of TAFE Council
Pearcedale Parade
Broadmeadows Victoria 3047
(03) 9279 2222
www.kangan.edu.au
Northern Melbourne Institute of TAFE Council
St Georges Road
Preston Victoria 3072
(03) 9269 1200
www.nmit.vic.edu.au
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South West Institute of TAFE Council
Timor Street
Warrnambool Victoria 3280
(03) 5564 8911
www.swtafe.vic.edu.au

Goulburn Ovens Murray Regional Council of ACFE
13 Lowry Place
Benalla Victoria 3672
(03) 5762 4655
www.gomacfe.net

Sunraysia Institute of TAFE Council
Benetook Avenue
Mildura Victoria 3500
(03) 5022 3666
www.sunitafe.edu.au

Loddon Campaspe Mallee Regional Council of ACFE
Havlin Street East
Bendigo Victoria 3550
(03) 5442 4300
www.acfelcm.vic.edu.au

William Angliss Institute of TAFE Council
555 La Trobe Steet
Melbourne Victoria 3000
(03) 9606 2111
www.angliss.vic.edu.au

Northern Metropolitan Regional Council of ACFE
Suite 11–14, 420 Victoria Street
Brunswick Victoria 3056
(03) 9940 1405
www.acfenmr.vic.edu.au

Wodonga Institute of TAFE Council
15 McKoy Street
Wodonga Victoria 3690
(02) 6055 6600
www.wodonga.tafe.edu.au

Southern Western Port Regional Council of ACFE
Suite 5, Level 1, Dolphin House
405 Nepean Highway
Frankston Victoria 3199
(03) 9783 4199
http://home.vicnet.net.au/~swpacfe

Regional Councils of ACFE
Barwon South Western Regional Council of ACFE
40 Brougham Street
Geelong Victoria 3220
(03) 5221 8248
www.acfebsw.vic.edu.au
Central Highlands Wimmera
Regional Council of ACFE
Level 1, 1220 Sturt Street
Ballarat Victoria 3350
(03) 5332 3989
www.acfechw.vic.edu.au
Central Western Metropolitan
Regional Council of ACFE
29 Cobden Street
North Melbourne Victoria 3051
(03) 9326 7647
www.acfecwm.vic.edu.au
Eastern Metropolitan Regional Council of ACFE
Rear, 1st Floor, 25 Ringwood Street
Ringwood Victoria 3134
(03) 9879 4000
www.acfeemr.vic.edu.au
Gippsland Regional Council of ACFE
Cnr Haigh and Kirk Streets
Moe Victoria 3825
(03) 5127 6000
www.acfegip.vic.edu.au.
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Adult education institution boards
Adult Multicultural Education Services Board
255 William Street
Melbourne Victoria 3000
(03) 9926 4666
www.ames.vic.edu.au
Centre for Adult Education Board
256 Flinders Street
Melbourne Victoria 3000
(03) 9652 0611
www.cae.edu.au

Victorian university councils
Deakin University Council
221 Burwood Highway
Burwood Victoria 3124
(03) 9244 6100
www.deakin.edu.au
La Trobe University Council
Corner Plenty Road and Kingsbury Drive
Bundoora Victoria 3083
(03) 9473 8888
www.latrobe.edu.au
Monash University Council
Wellington Road
Clayton Victoria 3800
(03) 9905 4000
www.monash.edu.au
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RMIT University Council
124 La Trobe Street
Melbourne Victoria 3000
(03) 9925 2000
www.rmit.edu.au
Swinburne University Council
John Street
Hawthorn Victoria 3122
(03) 9214 8000
www.swin.edu.au
University of Ballarat Council
13 Service Street
Ballarat Victoria 3350
(03) 5332 3969
www.ballarat.edu.au
University of Melbourne Council
Grattan Street
Parkville Victoria 3052
(03) 8344 4000
www.unimelb.edu.au
Victoria University of Technology Council
Corner Nicholson and Buckley Streets
Footscray Victoria 3011
(03) 9688 4000
www.vu.edu.au

Other bodies: Industry training boards
Automotive Industry Training Board
464 St Kilda Road
Melbourne Victoria 3004
(03) 9866 1292
www.atv.org.au
Business Services, Finance and
Property Industry Training Board
Suite E, 222–224 Church Street
Richmond Victoria 3121
(03) 9429 0004
www.bsv.org.au
Community Services and
Health Industry Training Board
180A Palmerston Street
Carlton Victoria 3053
(03) 9347 0377
www.intraining.org.au
Cultural and Recreation Industry Training Board
Level 5, 313–315 Flinders Lane
Melbourne Victoria 3000
(03) 9614 5566
www.artv.org.au

Electrotechnology, Printing, Information and
Communications Industry Training Board
29 Drummond Street
Carlton Victoria 3053
(03) 9654 1299
www.eisa.net.au/~epic
Engineering Industry Training Board
1378A Toorak Road
Burwood Victoria 3125
(03) 9889 0966
www.estb.com.au
Food Industry Training Board
Suite 10, Skipping Girl Place
651–653 Victoria Street
Abbotsford Victoria 3067
(03) 9428 7744
www.foodindustrytraining.com.au
Furnishing Industry Training Board
Level 1, 132–138 Leicester Street
Carlton South Victoria 3053
(03) 9348 1640
www.vfitb.org.au
Primary Industry Training Board
Suite 10, Skipping Girl Place
651–653 Victoria Street
Abbotsford Victoria 3067
(03) 9428 9811
www.psv.com.au
Process Manufacturing Industry Training Board
1378A Toorak Road
Burwood Victoria 3125
(03) 9889 0233
www.mlvic.com
Tourism and Hospitality Industry Training Board
Level 5, 313–315 Flinders Lane
Melbourne Victoria 3000
(03) 9621 1777
www.tourismtrainingvic.com.au
Transport and Distribution Industry Training Board
Level 3, 33 Walsh Street
West Melbourne Victoria 3003
(03) 9326 7211
www.careersintransport.org
Wholesale, Retail and Personal
Services Industry Training Board
Suite 10, Skipping Girl Place
651–653 Victoria Street
Abbotsford Victoria 3067
(03) 9428 9722
www.vicwraps.com.au
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Statement of financial performance
for the year ended 30 June 2003

Notes

2003
$’000

2002
$’000
5,323,808

Revenue from ordinary activities
Output appropriations

4

5,533,613

Special appropriations

4

238

–

Revenue from other parties

4

478,409

457,964

6,012,260

5,781,772

3,057,154

Expenses from ordinary activities
Employee benefits

6

3,199,207

Depreciation and amortisation

6

219,927

169,063

Grants and other payments to service providers

6

Resources provided free of charge or for nominal consideration

7

1,057,699
1,818

1,037,677

1(r)

565,236

578,601

6

789,697

866,098

65,410

16,749

5,898,994

5,727,406

6

113,266

54,366

Net result for the reporting period

14(c)

113,266

54,366

Net increase in asset revaluation reserve

14(a)

874,476

542,879

Adjustments resulting from adoption of new
accounting standard

14(c)

Capital asset charge
Supplies and services
Other expenses from ordinary activities

Result from ordinary activities

Total revenues, expenses, revaluation and other
adjustments recognised directly in equity
Total changes in equity other than those resulting
from transactions with Victorian State Government
in its capacity as owner on behalf of the Crown.

14(d)

(742)

2,064

–

873,734

542,879

987,000

597,245

The above statement of financial performance should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2003

Notes

2003
$’000

2002
$’000

Current assets
Cash assets

8

401,640

399,917

Receivables

9

200,750

236,734

Prepayments

10

7,173

3,500

609,563

640,151

135,732

118,358

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Receivables

9

Other financial assets

6,375

15,752

7,445,353

6,438,361

Total non-current assets

7,587,460

6,572,471

Total assets

8,197,023

7,212,622

Property, plant and equipment

11

Current liabilities
Payables

12

170,093

244,088

Provisions

13

125,616

122,105

Other current liabilities

16

9,115

8,648

304,824

374,841

696,379

670,170

696,379

670,170

Total liabilities

1,001,203

1,045,011

Net assets

7,195,820

6,167,611

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Provisions

13

Total non-current liabilities

Equity
Contributed capital

14(b)

4,588,016

4,546,757

Reserves

14(a)

1,438,779

Accumulated surplus

14(c)

2,313,255
294,549

Total equity

14(d)

7,195,820

6,167,611

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

20

13,803

12,850

Commitments for expenditure

21

247,005

249,425

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 30 June 2003

Notes

2003
$’000

2002
$’000

5,517,698

5,396,666

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from Government
Receipts from other entities

499,159

Payments to suppliers and employees

(5,256,559)

Goods and Services Tax recovered from the ATO

148,233

Interest received
Capital asset charge
Net cash inflow from operating activities

25

421,185
(4,929,447)
138,394

18,802

16,573

(565,236)

(578,601)

362,097

464,770

(430,531)

(389,664)

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, plant and equipment
Redemptions from investments

9,377

(14,765)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

3,420

4,998

Net cash (outflow) from investing activities

(417,734)

(399,431)

57,360

13,344

57,360

13,344

Cash flows from financing activities
Capital contributions from owner

14(b)

Net cash inflow from financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash held
Cash at the beginning of the financial year
Cash at the end of the financial year

8

1,723

78,683

399,917

321,234

401,640

399,917

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2003
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Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of accounting
This general-purpose financial report has been prepared in
accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994, Australian
Accounting Standards, Statements of Accounting Concepts and
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting
Standards Board, and Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views.
The financial report is prepared in accordance with the historical
cost convention except for assets and liabilities, which, as noted,
are reported at valuation. The accounting policies adopted, and the
classification and presentation of items, are consistent with those of
the previous year, except where a change is required to comply
with an Australian Accounting Standard or Urgent Issues Group
Consensus View. Where practicable, comparative amounts are
presented and classified on a basis consistent with the current year.
The financial report includes all transactions of the State’s 1615
primary and secondary schools. All transactions between the
Department and schools have been eliminated as required by
Australian Accounting Standards.
The accrual basis of accounting has been applied except to the
extent that schools operate on a cash basis. The schools’ balances
for cash, investments, creditors and operating leases incorporated
into these financial statements are those held by them as at
31 December 2002.

(b) The Government Department reporting entity
The financial statements include all the controlled activities of the
Department and all resources controlled by the Department
which are applied to carry on its functions.

Administered resources
The Department administers but does not control certain
resources on behalf of the Victorian Government. It is
accountable for the transactions involving those administered
resources, but does not have the discretion to deploy the
resources for achievement of the Department’s objectives. Such
administered transactions include Commonwealth funds onpassed by the Department to Victorian non-government schools.
The accrual basis of accounting has been used in the reporting
and recognition of the administered resources.
Transactions and balances relating to these administered
resources are not recognised as departmental revenues, expenses,
assets or liabilities within the body of the financial statements but
are disclosed in note 23.

Trust funds
The Department has received monies in a trustee capacity for
various trusts including prizes and scholarships. As the Department
performs only a custodial role in respect of these monies and
because the monies cannot be used for achievement of the
Department’s objectives, they are not recognised in the statement
of financial performance and statement of financial position of

the Department. The transaction balances are reported in note 23.

Administrative changes
On 31 December 2002, the output Youth was transferred from the
Department of Education & Training to the Department for
Victorian Communities (see note 3).
On 28 February 2002, the Employment Programs Division was
transferred from the Department of Education & Training to the
Department of Innovation, Industry and Regional Development.

(c) Objectives and funding
The objectives of the Department of Education & Training are to:
• improve the standards of literacy and numeracy in primary
schooling
• increase the percentage of young people who successfully
complete Year 12 or its equivalent
• increase the percentage of adults taking up education and
training and so increase the overall level of educational
attainment and literacy levels in Victoria
• increase the level of participation and achievement in
education and training in rural and regional Victoria and
among groups where it is presently low
• make near universal participation in post-school education
and training the norm in our society.
The Department provides support and advisory services to the
Minister for Education and Training and the Minister for Education
Services, as well as a number of statutory bodies. The Department
is predominantly funded by accrual-based parliamentary
appropriations for the provision of outputs.

(d) Outputs of the Department
Information about the Department’s output activities and the
expenses, revenues, assets and liabilities which are reliably
attributable to those output activities is set out in the Departmental
Outputs Schedule (note 2). Information about expenses, revenues,
assets and liabilities administered by the Department are given in
the Schedule of Administered Items (note 23).

(e) Revenue recognition
All revenue received by the Department is generally required to
be paid into the Consolidated Fund.
Revenue becomes controlled by the Department when it is
appropriated from the Consolidated Fund by the Victorian
Parliament and applied to the purposes defined under the relevant
appropriation act. Additionally, the Department is permitted
under section 29 of the Financial Management Act 1994 to have
certain receipts annotated to the annual appropriation. The
receipts which form part of a section 29 agreement are received
by the Department and paid into the Consolidated Fund as
administered revenue (note 23). At that point, section 29
provides for an equivalent amount to be added to the annual
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Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

appropriation. In respect to revenue from the provision of
outputs, Commonwealth grants and sales of non-current physical
assets, the Department may be permitted under section 29 of the
Financial Management Act 1994 to have this revenue initially paid
into the Consolidated Fund and an equivalent amount is provided
by appropriation. In these instances the revenue ‘received’ by the
Department is administered and disclosed in note 23.
Revenue is recognised for each of the Department’s major
activities as follows:

(i) Output revenue
Revenue from the outputs the Department provides to
Government is recognised when those outputs have been
delivered and the Treasurer has certified delivery of those
outputs in accordance with specified performance criteria.

(ii) Commonwealth grants
Grants payable by the Commonwealth are recognised as revenue
when the Department gains control of the underlying assets.
Where grants are reciprocal, revenue is recognised as
performance occurs under the grant. Non-reciprocal grants are
recognised as revenue when the grant is received or receivable.
Conditional grants may be reciprocal or non-reciprocal
depending on the terms of the grant.

(iii) Contributions
Contributions of services and non-current assets are recognised at
their fair value when the Department obtains control over these
resources. Other revenue items are recognised as they are earned.
All other amounts of revenue over which the Department does
not gain control are disclosed as administered revenue in the
schedule of administered revenues and expenses (note 23).
Interest revenues are recognised as they accrue.

(f) Acquisitions of assets
The cost method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of
assets. Cost is measured as the fair value of the assets given up or
liabilities undertaken at the date of acquisition plus incidental
costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Assets acquired at no
cost, or for nominal consideration, are initially recognised at their
fair value at the date of acquisition.

(g) Cash
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes shortterm deposits, which are readily convertible to cash on hand and
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, net of
outstanding cheques yet to be presented by the Department’s
suppliers and creditors (note 8).

Debts known to be uncollectable are written off. A provision for
doubtful debts is raised when some doubt as to collection exists.

(i) Revaluations of non-current assets
Subsequent to the initial recognition as assets, non-current
physical assets, other than plant and equipment, are measured
at fair value. Plant and equipment are measured at cost. A full
valuation of all the Department’s land and buildings, including
Crown land controlled by the Department, was undertaken by
the Office of the Valuer-General as at 30 June 1997. Land and
buildings will be revalued on a progressive three-year cycle in
accordance with the Victorian Government policy ‘Revaluation
of Non-current Physical Assets’. Revaluations are made with
sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount of each
asset does not differ materially from its fair value at the reporting
date. However, where movements within the classes of assets
are material, the entire class of assets are subject to detailed
revaluation. The assets to be revalued in each year of the
progressive revaluation period will be based on a similar
percentage of the total value of the class prior to revaluation.
This approach is based on the carrying amount of the class to
be equally proportioned over the period of the progressive
revaluation.
In the current year approximately 413 school sites were subject to
a detailed valuation (330 school sites in 2001–02) (refer note 11).
Land not subject to detailed valuation is adjusted annually using
indices provided by the Office of the Valuer-General.
Revaluation increments are credited directly to the asset
revaluation reserve, except that, to the extent that an increment
reverses a revaluation decrement in respect of that class of asset
previously recognised as an expense in net result, the increment
is recognised immediately as revenue in the net result.
Revaluation decrements are recognised immediately as expenses
in the net result, except that, to the extent that a credit balance
exists in the asset revaluation reserve in respect of the same class
of assets, they are debited directly to the asset revaluation reserve.
Revaluation increments and decrements are offset against one
another within a class of non-current assets.

(j) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the
net cost of each item of property, plant and equipment (excluding
land and work in progress) over its expected useful life to the
Department. Estimates of the remaining useful lives for all assets
are reviewed at least annually. The expected useful lives for the
financial years ended 30 June 2003 and 30 June 2002 and
depreciation rates are as follows:

(h) Receivables

96

All debtors are recognised at the amounts receivable, as they are
due for settlement at no more than 30 days from the date of
recognition.

Buildings – permanent

Collectability of debtors is reviewed on an ongoing basis.

Plant and equipment

Buildings – relocatable and
other improvements

Useful life
Years

2003
%

2002
%

60

1.7

1.7

40

2.5

2.5

4–20

5–25

5–25
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Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Where items of plant and equipment have separately identifiable
components which are subject to regular replacement, those
components are assigned useful lives distinct from the item of
plant and equipment to which they relate.

(k) Other financial assets – investments
Investments are brought to account at cost. Where there
has been a permanent diminution in the value of any individual
investment, a provision for diminution in value is made. Interest
revenues are recognised as they accrue.

(l) Leased non-current assets
A distinction is made between finance leases, which effectively
transfer from the lessor to the lessee substantially all the risks and
benefits incidental to ownership of leased non-current assets,
and operating leases, under which the lessor effectively retains
substantially all such risks and benefits.
Finance leases are capitalised. A lease asset and liability are
established at the present value of minimum lease payments.
Lease payments are allocated between the principal component
of the lease liability and the interest expense.
The lease asset is amortised on a straight-line basis over the term
of the lease, or, where it is likely that the Department will obtain
ownership of the asset, the expected useful life of the asset to the
Department. Lease assets held at the reporting date are being
amortised over periods ranging from 5 to 15 years.
Other operating lease payments are charged to the statement
of the financial performance in the periods in which they are
incurred, as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from
the leased assets.

(m) Restrictive nature of cultural and heritage assets and
Crown land
During the reporting period, the Department may hold cultural
assets, heritage assets and Crown land. Cultural and heritage
assets are held for exhibition, education, research and/or
historical interest. Such assets, including Crown land, are deemed
worthy of preservation because of the social rather than financial
benefits they provide to the community. The nature of these assets
means that there are certain limitations and restrictions imposed
on their use and/or disposal.

(n) Leasehold improvements
The cost of improvements to or on leasehold properties is
amortised over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated
useful life of the improvement to the Department, whichever is
the shorter. Leasehold improvements held at the reporting date
are being amortised over 4 to 14 years at a rate of 7 to 25 per cent.

and which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are
usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

(p) Employee benefits
(i) Wages, salaries and annual leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
benefits and annual leave expected to be settled within
12 months of the reporting date, are recognised in respect of
employees’ services up to the reporting date, and are measured at
the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
In the reporting periods prior to 30 June 2003, provisions for
employee benefits (annual leave) were measured using
remuneration rates current at reporting date. For the period
ending 30 June 2003, the Department is required by AASB 1028
‘Employee Benefits’ to measure provisions for employee benefits
at remuneration rates expected to apply when the obligation is
settled, including the expected future increase in remuneration
rates.
The transitional arrangements of AASB 1028 on adoption at 1 July
2002 give rise to an adjustment to opening annual leave liabilities
and a corresponding change to accumulated surplus/(deficit).
The impact of this change is:
$’000
Decrease
Increase

Accumulated surplus
Annual leave provision

(742)
742

(ii) Long-service leave
The liability for long-service leave expected to be settled within
12 months of the reporting date is recognised as a current liability
and is measured in accordance with (i) above. The liability for
long-service leave expected to be settled more than 12 months
from the reporting date is recognised in the provision for
employee benefits and is measured at the present value of
expected future payments to be made in respect of services
provided by employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is
given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of
employee departures and periods of service. Expected future
payments are discounted using interest rates on national
Government guaranteed securities with terms to maturity that
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

(iii) Superannuation
The amount charged to the statement of financial performance in
respect of superannuation represents the contributions by the
Department to the superannuation funds (note 22).

(o) Trade and other creditors

(iv) Termination benefits

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services
provided to the Department prior to the end of the financial year

Liabilities for termination benefits are recognised when a detailed
plan for the terminations has been developed and a valid
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Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

expectation has been raised in those employees affected that the
terminations will be carried out. The liabilities for termination
benefits are recognised in other creditors unless the amount or
timing of the payments is uncertain, in which case they are
recognised as a provision.
Liabilities for termination benefits expected to be settled within
12 months are measured at the amounts expected to be paid
when they are settled. Amounts expected to be settled more than
12 months from the reporting date are measured as the estimated
cash outflows, discounted using interest rates on national
Government guaranteed securities with terms to maturity that
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

(v) Employee benefit oncosts
Employee benefit oncosts, including payroll tax, are recognised
and included in employee benefit liabilities and costs when
the employee benefits to which they relate are recognised as
liabilities.

(q) Goods and Services Tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of GST except
where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable, in which
case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset
or part of an item of expense. The net amount of GST recoverable
from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) is
included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of
financial position. The GST component of a receipt or payment is
recognised on a gross basis in the statement of cash flows in
accordance with Accounting Standard AAS 28, ‘Statement of
Cash Flows’.

(r) Capital asset charge
The capital asset charge is imposed by the Department of Treasury
and Finance and represents the opportunity cost of capital
invested in the non-current physical assets used in the provision
of outputs. For the 2002–03 financial year, the basis of the charge
is 8 per cent of the budgeted estimate of the carrying amount of
controlled non-current physical assets.

(s) Resources provided and received free of charge or for
nominal consideration
Contributions of resources and resources provided free of charge
or for nominal consideration are recognised at their fair value.
Contributions in the form of services are only recognised when a
fair value can be reliably determined and the services would have
been purchased if not donated.

(t) Contributed capital
Consistent with UIG Abstract 38, ‘Contributions by Owners
Made to Wholly-owned Public Sector Entities’, appropriations
for additions to net assets have been designated as contributed
capital. Other transfers that are in the nature of contributions or
distributions have also been designated as contributed capital.
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(u) Maintenance and repairs
Property, plant and equipment is managed as part of an
ongoing maintenance program. The costs of this maintenance are
charged as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to the
replacement of a component of an asset, in which case the costs
are capitalised and depreciated in accordance with note 1(j).
Other routine operating maintenance, repair costs and minor
renewals are also charged as expenses as incurred.

(v) Intangible assets and expenditure carried forward
(i) Software
Significant costs associated with the acquisition or development
of computer software are capitalised and amortised on a straightline basis over the period of the expected benefit, which varies
from three to five years.

(ii) Website costs
Costs in relation to websites controlled by the Department are
charged as expenses in the period in which they are incurred
unless they relate to the acquisition of an asset, in which case
they are capitalised and amortised over their period of expected
benefit. Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during the
planning phase of a website, and ongoing costs of maintenance
during the operating phase are considered to be expenses. Costs
incurred in building or enhancing a website, to the extent that
they represent probable future economic benefits controlled by
the Department that can be reliably measured, are capitalised as
an asset and amortised over the period of the expected benefit,
which varies from three to five years.

(w) Rounding of amounts
Amounts in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest
thousand dollars or in other cases, to the nearest dollar.
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Note 2 Departmental outputs

Departmental outputs performed during the year ended 30 June
2003, and the objectives of these outputs are summarised below.

School education
Description of outputs
Policy development, regulation and management of the Victorian
government school system, including:
• a safe and effective learning environment through the
provision of appropriately trained and qualified teachers in a
properly resourced and maintained physical environment
• high-quality curriculum delivery to prescribed content and
performance standards in the eight Key Learning Areas in
Years P–10, and in accordance with the requirements of the
Victorian Certificate of Education and Victorian Certificate of
Applied Learning in Years 11 and 12
• provision of a range of programs specifically designed to
increase the quality of student learning and school
management
• provision of specialist services designed to increase the quality
of student learning or social needs
• financial support to and regulation of non-government
schooling.

Objectives
These outputs make a significant contribution to the achievement
of the following departmental objectives:
• improve the standards of literacy and numeracy in primary
schooling
• increase the percentage of young people who successfully
complete Year 12 or its equivalent
• increase the percentage of adults taking up education and
training and so increase the overall level of educational
attainment and literacy levels in Victoria
• increase the level of participation and achievement in
education and training in rural and regional Victoria and
among groups where it is presently low
• make near-universal participation in post-school education
and training the norm in our society.

Training and tertiary education
Description of outputs
These outputs involve the provision of training and tertiary
education services to the Victorian community. These services are
provided through a number of programs and service providers.
The role of the Department varies from direct service provision to
accreditation and monitoring.

Objectives
These outputs make a significant contribution to the achievement
of the following departmental objectives:
• increase the percentage of young people who successfully
complete Year 12 or its equivalent
• increase the percentage of adults taking up education and
training and so increase the overall level of educational
attainment and literacy levels in Victoria
• increase the level of participation and achievement in
education and training in rural and regional Victoria and
among groups where it is presently low
• make near-universal participation in post-school education
and training the norm in our society.

Policy, strategy and information services
Description of outputs
These outputs involve the provision of policy and strategy advice
to the Ministers, and Ministerial and support services for the
various statutory authorities and advisory bodies in the portfolio.
This includes services relating to international education, public
information and promotion.

Objectives
These outputs make a significant contribution to the achievement
of the following departmental objectives:
• improve the standards of literacy and numeracy in primary
schooling
• increase the percentage of young people who successfully
complete Year 12 or its equivalent
• increase the percentage of adults taking up education and
training and so increase the overall level of educational
attainment and literacy levels in Victoria
• increase the level of participation and achievement in
education and training in rural and regional Victoria and
among groups where it is presently low
• make near-universal participation in post-school education
and training the norm in our society.

Changes in outputs
The Youth output was transferred from the Department of
Education & Training to the Department for Victorian
Communities as a consequence of a restructure of administrative
arrangements on 31 December 2002 (see note 3).
Related assets and liabilities were transferred to the Department
for Victorian Communities at their book value. These assets and
liabilities were part of the Youth output.
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100
986,079

Total changes in equity other than those resulting
from transactions with Victorian State Government
in its capacity as owner on behalf of the Crown
652,754

109,875
542,879
–

(4,750)

(4,750)
–
–

(810,624)

(10,544)
(1,763)
(640,171)
–
(126,574)
(29,588)
(1,984)

805,874

806,200
–
–
(326)

(300,885)
(693,294)
(994,179) (1,021,091)
7,065,241

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Net assets/(liabilities)

*Youth transferred to the Department for Victorian Communities from 31 December 2002 (see note 3).

6,047,313

(353,808)
(667,283)

7,068,404

8,059,420

Total assets

615,501
6,452,903

599,569
7,459,851

Assets and liabilities
Assets
Current assets
Non-current assets

135,297

(343)

(115)
(228)

135,640

8,602
127,038

132,833

(9,695)

(9,527)
(168)

142,528

23,780
118,748

(48,041)

(48,041)
–
–

(744,287)

(3,514)
(1,500)
(625,246)
–
(108,835)
(4,871)
(321)

696,246

696,148
–
–
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Training and
tertiary education
2003
2002
$’000
$’000

Departmental outputs schedule – assets and liabilities as at 30 June 2003

112,345
874,476
(742)

(5,050,450) (4,939,352)

Total expenses

Net result for the reporting period
Net increase in asset revaluation reserve
Adjustment to accumulated surplus

(3,173,480) (3,039,916)
(217,951)
(167,233)
(411,727)
(399,177)
(1,818)
(2,064)
(438,564)
(469,534)
(743,717)
(845,010)
(63,193)
(16,418)

Expenses
Employee benefits
Depreciation and amortisation
Grants and other payments
Resources provided free of charge or for nominal consideration
Capital asset charge
Supplies and services
Other expenses from ordinary activities

5,049,227

5,162,795

Total revenue

4,599,101
–
–
450,126

4,692,213
238
–
470,344

2002
$’000

Revenue
Output appropriations
Special appropriations
Resources received free of charge or for nominal consideration
Revenue from other parties

2003
$’000

School education

–

–

–
–

–

–
–

151

151
–
–

(5,272)

(752)
(9)
(4,252)
–
(2)
(257)
–

5,423

5,400
–
–
23

2003
$’000

650

(278)

(172)
(106)

928

870
58

1,380

1,380
–
–

(5,741)

(1,353)
(30)
(4,010)
–
(58)
(290)
–

7,121

6,072
–
–
1,049

2002
$’000

Youth*

Departmental outputs schedule – controlled revenue and expenses for the year ended 30 June 2003

(4,717)

(6,681)

(3,824)
(2,857)

1,964

1,392
572

5,520

5,520
–
–

(32,648)

(14,431)
(204)
(1,549)
–
(96)
(16,135)
(233)

38,168

29,800
–
–
8,368
6,012,260

5,533,613
238
–
478,409
5,781,772

5,323,808
–
–
457,964

Departmental
total
2003
2002
$’000
$’000

(304,824)
(696,379)

8,197,024

609,563
7,587,461

987,000

113,266
874,476
(742)

(374,841)
(670,170)

7,212,622

640,151
6,572,471

597,245

54,366
542,879
–

(13,185) 7,195,821

6,167,611

(13,947) (1,001,203) (1,045,011)

(11,334)
(2,613)

762

–
762

(8,848)

(8,848)
–
–

(38,026) (5,898,994) (5,727,406)

(12,371) (3,199,207) (3,057,154)
(300) (219,927)
(169,063)
(9,244) (1,057,699) (1,037,677)
–
(1,818)
(2,064)
(174) (565,236)
(578,601)
(15,927) (789,697)
(866,098)
(10)
(65,410)
(16,749)

29,178

22,487
–
–
6,691

Policy, strategy and
information services
2003
2002
$’000
$’000
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Note 3 Restructuring of administrative arrangements

Administrative Arrangements Order (no. 187) 2003 made under
section 3 of the Administrative Arrangements Act 1983 transferred
the functions and employees of the Youth output from the
Department of Education & Training to the Department for
Victorian Communities. The effective date of this transfer was
31 December 2002.
For the period up to 31 December 2002, the Department of
Education & Training has recognised revenue and expenses
amounting to $5.4 million and $5.2 million respectively.
The total revenues and expenses recognised by the Department
for Victorian Communities for the period 1 January 2003 to
30 June 2003 are $5.7 million and $5.9 million respectively.

A declaration was made pursuant to section 27 of the Public
Sector Management and Employment Act 1998, which transferred
the function of Employment and the employees in the
Employment Programs Division carrying on that function from
the Department of Education & Training to the Department of
Innovation, Industry and Regional Development. The effective
date of this transfer was 28 February 2002.

In respect of the activities relinquished, the following
assets and liabilities were transferred:

2003
$’000

2002
$’000

Assets
Prepayments
Receivables
Plant and equipment
Total assets

877

–

1,100

701

33

52

2,010

753

Liabilities
Payables
Provisions
Accumulated funds
Total liabilities
Net capital contribution from the Crown

1,569

–

223

337

–

701

1,792

1,038

218

(285)

Note 4 Revenue
Operating

Non-operating
2003
2002
$’000
$’000

2003
$’000

2002
$’000

Output appropriations

5,533,613

5,323,808

–

–

Special appropriations

238

–

–

–

5,533,851

5,323,808

–

–

382,132

367,728

3,420

4,999

4,510

3,057

–

–

–

–

18,802

16,573

69,545

65,607

–

–

456,187

436,392

22,222

21,572

5,990,038

5,760,200

22,222

21,572

Revenue by source

(a) Revenue from Government

(b) Revenue from other parties
Schools revenue
Provision of services
Interest
Other revenue

Total revenue

101

102

2003

2002

–

–

–

–

–

–

5,315,212 5,159,134 155,721 48,742

–

–

5,315,212 5,159,134 155,721 48,742

2002

Advance from
Treasurer
($’000)

Appropriation Act

–

–

–

–

2003

–

55,982

70,362

2003

–

13,344

91,734

Section 35
advances
($’000)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

715

–

–

715

–

–

–

–

1,378

–

1,378

–

–

–

–

–

2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

Section 30 Section 32
($’000)
($’000)

Financial Management Act 1994

2002

Section 29
($’000)

24,913 126,344 105,078

–

–

24,913

2002

Section 3(2)
($’000)

5,599,370

–

57,360

5,542,010

2003

–

57,360

5,337,867 5,590,973

–

13,344

2003

–

–

5,337,152 8,397

–

13,344

715

–

–

715

2002

Variance*
($’000)

5,323,808 8,397

2002

Appropriations
applied
($’000)

5,324,523 5,533,613

Total
parliamentary
authority
($’000)
2003
2002

238
238

Volunteers workers compensation
Total

Section 34 of the Education Act 1958

2003
$’000

Purpose

Authority

(b) Summary of compliance with special appropriations
Appropriations applied

–

–

2002
$’000

*The variance of $8,397,000 represents an advance from the Treasurer, initially approved, of $6,500,000 for budget pressures but not claimed due to savings achieved as well as $1,897,000 carry-over for the provision
of outputs comprising a quantity of teacher scholarships and some school programs to be delivered in 2003–04. (In 2002 a $715,000 variance in appropriation applied reflected an under-delivery in the total number of
teaching scholarships.)

Total

Payments made on
behalf of the State

Administered

Additions to net assets

Provision for outputs

Controlled

2003

Annual
appropriation
($’000)

The following table discloses the details of the various parliamentary
appropriations received by the Department for the year. In accordance with
accrual output-based management procedures, ‘provision for outputs’ and
‘additions to net assets’ are disclosed as ‘controlled’ activities of the
Department. Administered transactions are those that are undertaken on
behalf of the State over which the Department has no control or discretion.

(a) Summary of compliance with annual parliamentary appropriations
Financial report

Note 5 Summary of compliance with annual parliamentary appropriations
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Note 6 Result from ordinary activities

Result from ordinary activities includes the following
specific net gains and expenses:

Net gains
Consideration from the disposal of assets
Carrying amount

2003
$’000

2002
$’000

3,420
(22,793)

4,998
(15,553)

(19,373)

(10,553)

Expenses
Employee benefits
Salary and wages – Departmental employees
Salary and wages – staff employed by school councils
Superannuation
Annual leave and long-service leave expense
Other oncosts (FBT, payroll tax and workcover levy)

2,431,928
149,292
273,809
152,332
191,846

2,308,392
151,402
254,087
158,579
184,694

Total employee benefits

3,199,207

3,057,154

Depreciation
Buildings
Plant and equipment

93,948
125,499

89,048
79,327

Total depreciation

219,447

168,375

480

688

Total depreciation and amortisation

219,927

169,063

Grants and other payments
Grants to Victorian Curriculum and Assessment Authority
Grants to Victorian Learning and Employment Skills Commission
Grants to Victorian Qualifications Authority
Grants to Victorian Institute of Teaching
Grants to Adult, Community and Further Education Board
Grants to non-government schools
Grants to external organisations
Conveyance and Education Maintenance Allowance payments

27,695
596,141
3,418
1,063
28,722
292,128
74,698
33,834

25,467
569,273
1,800
–
27,098
283,444
95,471
35,124

Total grants and other payments

1,057,699

1,037,677

Other charges against assets
Bad and doubtful debts – debtors

325

81

43,161

44,238

Supplies and services
Administration
Maintenance
Operating leases
Requisites
Other

357,565
187,683
43,161
190,251
11,037

374,377
228,193
43,801
208,082
11,645

Total supplies and services

789,697

866,098

Amortisation
Leasehold improvements

Rental expense relating to operating leases
Minimum lease payments
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Note 7 Resources provided free of charge or for nominal consideration

2003
$’000

2002
$’000

1,771

1,363

47

–

–

701

1,818

2,064

2003
$’000

2002
$’000

368,440

341,328

33,200

58,589

Total cash

401,640

399,917

The above figures are reconciled to cash at the end of the
financial year in the statement of cash flows as follows:

401,640

399,917

Balance per statement of cash flows

401,640

399,917

Victorian Curriculum and Assessment Authority
Rent provided free of charge at 1 Railway Parade,
Camberwell and 41 St Andrews Place, East Melbourne
Victorian Institute of Teaching
Net value of assets provided free of charge
Employment Programs Division
Net asset transfers of entity from Department of Education &
Training to Department of Innovation, Industry and Regional Development
Total resources provided free of charge or for nominal consideration

Note 8 Cash assets
Amounts held by schools*
Departmental operating bank accounts

Cash at bank
Due to the State of Victoria’s investment policy and government
funding arrangements, government departments generally do not
hold a large cash reserve in their bank accounts other than trust
funds held on behalf of third parties. Cash received by a
department from the generation of revenue is generally paid into
the State’s bank account, known as the Public Account. Similarly,
any departmental expenditures, including those in the form of
cheques drawn by the Department for the payment of goods and
services to its suppliers and creditors are made via the Public
Account. The process is such that the Public Account would
remit to the Department the cash required for the amount drawn
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on the cheques. This remittance by the Public Account occurs
upon the presentation of the cheques by the Department’s
suppliers or creditors.
*The schools’ cash and investment balances for 2002–03 are held
by the Department’s schools across Victoria and are reported as at
31 December 2002. The balances for 2001–02 were balances
held by schools as at 31 December 2001.
Amounts held by schools include term investments one year or
less of $89,096,127 ($78,295,000 in 2002).
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Note 9 Receivables

2003
$’000

2002
$’000

Current
Amounts owing from the State Government

174,811

169,558

Sale of property

–

20,301

GST receivables

16,612

20,008

WorkCover
Other debtors

Less: Provision for doubtful debts
Total current receivables

311

154

9,517

26,900

201,251
(501)

236,921
(187)

200,750

236,734

135,608

118,228

Non-current
Amounts owing from the State Government
Other debtors
Less: Provision for doubtful debts
Total non-current receivables

191
(67)

185
(55)

135,732

118,358

Current

200,750

236,734

Non-current

135,732

118,358

336,482

355,092

2003
$’000

2002
$’000

6,577

2,650

596

850

7,173

3,500

Aggregate carrying amount of receivables

Total aggregate carrying amount of receivables

Note 10 Prepayments
Prepayments
Prepaid operating expenses
Prepaid grants to other organisations
Total prepayments
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Note 11 Property, plant and equipment

2003
$’000

2002
$’000

Land
Crown land
At cost
At independent valuation

26,397
3,185,427

22,174
2,626,481

Total land

3,211,824

2,648,655

Buildings
At cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation

At valuation 1996–97
Less: Accumulated depreciation

At valuation 1997–98
Less: Accumulated depreciation

At valuation 1998–99
Less: Accumulated depreciation

At valuation 1999–2000
Less: Accumulated depreciation

At valuation 2000–01
Less: Accumulated depreciation

At valuation 2001–02
Less: Accumulated depreciation

At valuation 2002–03
Less: Accumulated depreciation

Total buildings at valuation
Total accumulated depreciation – buildings at valuation

Total written-down value buildings

Leasehold improvements – at cost
Less: Accumulated amortisation
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260,538
(4,571)

210,619
(4,621)

255,967

205,998

3,631
(3,459)

65,133
(10,862)

172

54,271

2,196
(345)

92,012
(9,911)

1,851

82,101

7,706
(1,078)

597,589
(49,433)

6,628

548,156

435,875
(36,063)

457,906
(25,306)

399,812

432,600

933,183
(47,267)

938,098
(23,774)

885,916

914,324

1,076,443
(32,677)

1,082,697
–

1,043,766

1,082,697

1,112,768
–

–
–

1,112,768

–

3,571,802
(120,889)

(3,233,435)
(119,286)

3,450,913

3,114,149

3,706,880

3,320,147

8,720
(2,978)

8,252
(2,499)

5,742

5,753

Total buildings and leasehold improvements

3,712,622

3,325,900

Total written-down value land and buildings

6,924,446

5,974,555
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Note 11 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

2003
$’000

2002
$’000

Plant and equipment
At cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation

798,952

992,340

(514,189)

(702,896)

284,763

289,444

Plant and equipment under finance lease

–

2,236

Less: Accumulated amortisation

–

(2,236)

–

–

284,763

289,444

Work in progress

236,144

174,362

Total work in progress

236,144

174,362

7,445,353

6,438,361

Total plant and equipment at written-down value
Work in progress

Total written-down value property, plant and
equipment including work in progress

on the carrying amount of the class to be equally proportioned
over the period of the progressive revaluation. In the current year,
approximately 413 school sites were subject to a detailed
valuation (330 school sites in 2001–02). Land not subject to
detailed valuation is adjusted annually using indices provided by
the Office of the Valuer-General. Revaluation increments and
decrements are offset against one another within a class of noncurrent assets.

Valuations of land and buildings
The basis of valuation of land and buildings adopted for those
assets revalued as at 30 June 2003 is fair value, being the
depreciated current replacement cost of the asset’s remaining
future economic benefits. The latest revaluations as at 30 June
2003 were based on independent assessments.
Prior to 30 June 2002, the basis of valuation of the land and
building revalued was deprival value, being the loss an entity
would incur if deprived of the service potential embodied in the
asset. Those revaluations were based on independent assessments.

Reconciliations

The assets to be revalued in each year of the progressive
revaluation period will be based on a similar percentage of the
total value of the class prior to revaluation. This approach is based

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of property,
plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the current
financial year are set out below.

Land

Buildings

Leasehold
improvements

Plant and
equipment

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Work in
progress
buildings
$’000

2,648,655

3,320,147

5,753

289,444

174,362

6,438,361

7,503

192,379

485

163,860

–

364,227

Expenditure on work in progress

–

–

–

11,562

267,142

278,704

Transfers to completed assets

–

–

–

–

(205,310)

(205,310)

2003
Carrying amount at start of year
Additions

Disposals
Revaluation increments (note 14)

(500)
556,163

(15,581)

(17)

318,313

–

Net transfers upon restructure (note 3)

–

Depreciation/amortisation (note 6)

–

(93,948)

Other adjustments

3

(14,430)

Carrying amount at end of year

3,211,824

–

3,706,880

–
(480)
1
5,742

(22,793)
–

Total
$’000

–

(38,891)

–

874,476

(33)

–

(33)

(125,499)

–

(219,927)

(31,778)

(50)

(46,254)

284,763

236,144

7,445,353
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Note 12 Payables

2003
$’000

2002
$’000

Salaries, wages and oncosts

56,665

40,359

Accrued payments to non-government schools

66,292

71,599

–

2,889

Accrued grants and transfers
Government schools’ creditors*

5,203

5,203

Capital expenditure

20,352

13,330

Operating expenditure#

21,581

110,708

170,093

244,088

*The schools’ creditors balances for 2002–03 are held by the Department’s schools across Victoria and are reported as at 31 December
2002. The balances reported for 2001–02 were the balances held by the schools as at 31 December 2001.
#In 2001–02 the Department recognised a capital asset charge (CAC) payable of $40 million. The CAC payable was created to
recognise the receipt of an invoice from the Department of Treasury and Finance that was not paid by the Department.

Note 13 Provisions
2003
$’000

2002
$’000

123,340

122,105

846

–

1,430

–

125,616

122,105

Employee benefits (note 22)

696,379

670,170

Total non-current

696,379

670,170

Current
Employee benefits (note 22)
Legal expenses
Sabbatical leave
Total current
Non-current

Aggregate carrying amount of provisions
Current

125,616

122,105

Non-current

696,379

670,170

Total aggregate carrying amount of provisions

821,995

792,275

Employee benefits

819,719

792,275

846

–

1,430

–

821,995

792,275

Legal expenses
Sabbatical leave

Movements in provisions
Movements in each class of provision during the financial year,
other than employee benefits, are set out below:

2003
$’000
Legal expenses
Carrying amount at the start of the year
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Sabbatical leave

–

–

Additional provisions recognised

846

1,430

Carrying amount at the end of the year

846

1,430
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Note 14 Equity and movements in equity

2003
$’000

2002
$’000

2,313,255

1,438,779

2,313,255

1,438,779

1,438,779

895,900

874,476

542,879

2,313,255

1,438,779

(a) Reserves
Asset revaluation reserve

Movements
Asset revaluation reserve
Balance 1 July 2002
Revaluation increment of Crown land and buildings during the year
Balance 30 June 2003
(b) Contributed capital
Balance as at beginning of reporting period
Deemed contributed capital opening balance
Capital contribution by the State Government (note 5)
Assets received free of charge
Net capital contributed upon restructure (note 3)
Equity transfers to other government entities
Transfer from accumulated surplus
Balance 30 June 2003

4,546,757

–

–

4,535,986

57,360

13,344

148

–

(218)

285

(16,081)

(2,858)

50

–

4,588,016

4,546,757

(c) Accumulated surplus
Accumulated surplus as at beginning of reporting period
Less deemed contributed capital opening balance
Transitional adjustment annual leave (note 1p(i))
Transfer to contributed capital

182,075

4,663,695

–

(4,535,986)

(742)

–

(50)

–

Net result for the reporting period

113,266

54,366

Accumulated surplus as at 30 June 2003

294,549

182,075

6,167,611

5,559,596

987,000

597,245

41,259

10,770

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves
The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and
decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets, as
described in accounting policy note 1(i).
Total equity at the beginning of the financial year
Total changes in equity recognised in the statement of financial performance
Changes in contributed capital
Transfer to contributed capital
Total equity at the end of the financial year

(50)
7,195,820

–
6,167,611
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Note 15 Financial instruments
(a) Credit risk exposures
The credit risk on financial assets of the Department, which have
been recognised on the statement of financial position, other than
investments in shares, is generally the carrying amount, net of any
provisions for doubtful debts.

(b) Interest rate risk exposures
The Department’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective
weighted average interest rate by maturity periods is set out in the
following table. For interest rates applicable to each class of asset
or liability, refer to individual notes to the financial statements.
Exposure arises predominantly from assets bearing variable
interest rates as the Department intends to hold fixed rate assets
to maturity.

2003

notes

Fixed interest maturing in:
1 year or less
Over 1 to
More than
5 years
5 years
$’000
$’000
$’000

Weighted
average
interest rate

Floating
interest
$’000

Non-interest
bearing
$’000

Total

–

–

–

–

33,200

33,200

4.03%, 4.37%

279,344

89,096

–

–

–

368,440

–

–

–

–

336,482

336,482

–

–

4,913

894

568

6,375

279,344

89,096

4,913

894

370,250

744,497

–

–

–

–

170,093

170,093

–

–

–

–

170,093

170,093

279,344

89,096

4,913

894

200,157

574,404

Non-interest
bearing
$’000

Total

$’000

Financial assets
Cash – Department

8

Cash – schools

8

Receivables

9

Other financial assets

4.63%

Financial liabilities
Payables

12

Net financial assets

2002

notes

Fixed interest maturing in:
1 year or less
Over 1 to
More than
5 years
5 years
$’000
$’000
$’000

Weighted
average
interest rate

Floating
interest
$’000
–

–

–

–

58,589

58,589

4.53%, 4.22%

263,033

78,295

–

–

–

341,328

–

–

–

–

355,092

355,092

–

–

13,855

1,245

652

15,752

263,033

78,295

13,855

1,245

414,333

770,761

–

–

–

–

244,088

244,088

–

–

–

–

244,088

244,088

263,033

78,295

13,855

1,245

170,245

526,673

$’000

Financial assets
Cash – Department

8

Cash – schools

8

Receivables

9

Other financial assets

4.53%, 4.26%

Financial liabilities
Payables

Net financial assets
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Note 15 Financial instruments (continued)
(c) Net fair value of financial assets and liabilities
(i) On-balance sheet
The net fair value of cash and cash equivalents and non-interest bearing
monetary financial assets and financial liabilities of the Department
approximates their carrying amounts.
The carrying amounts and net fair values of financial assets and liabilities
at reporting date are:
2003
Carrying
amount
$’000

2002
Net fair
value
$’000

Carrying
amount
$’000

Net fair
value
$’000

On-balance sheet financial instruments
Financial assets
33,200

33,200

58,589

58,589

Cash – schools

Cash – Department

368,440

368,440

341,328

341,328

Receivables

336,482

336,482

355,092

355,092

6,375

6,375

15,752

15,752

744,497

744,497

770,761

770,761

Payables

(170,093)

(170,093)

244,088

244,088

Non-traded financial liabilities

(170,093)

(170,093)

244,088

244,088

Net fair
value
$’000

Carrying
amount
$’000

Other financial assets
Non-traded financial assets
Financial liabilities

(ii) Off-balance sheet
The Department has potential financial liabilities, which may arise from
certain contingencies disclosed in note 20. As explained in that note, no
material losses are anticipated in respect of any of the contingencies and
the net fair value disclosed below is the estimate of amounts which
would be payable by the Department as consideration for the
assumption of those contingencies by another party.
2003
Carrying
amount
$’000

2002
Net fair
value
$’000

Off-balance sheet financial instruments
Financial assets (see note 20)
Contingencies

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

13,803

–

12,850

–

13,803

–

12,850

Financial liabilities (see note 20)
Contingencies

None of the classes of financial assets and liabilities are readily traded on
organised markets in standardised form.
Net fair value is exclusive of costs that would be incurred on realisation
of an asset, and inclusive of costs that would be incurred on settlement
of a liability.
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Note 16 Other current liabilities

2003
$’000

2002
$’000

Unearned revenue

9,115

8,648

Total other current liabilities

9,115

8,648

Note 17 Ministers and Accountable Officers
In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the
Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994,
the following disclosures are made regarding responsible persons
for the reporting period.

Minister for Education Services and Minister for Youth Affairs

Names

Jacinta Allan, MP

The persons who held the above positions in the Department are
as follows:

Acting Minister for Education Services

Monica Gould, MP

Minister for Education Services

Lynne Kosky, MP

Minister for Education and Training
Lynne Kosky, MP

1 July 2002 to 5 December 2002

5 December 2002 to 30 June 2003

25 December 2002 to 5 January 2003
27 January 2003 to 5 February 2003

1 July 2002 to 30 June 2003

Secretary
Acting Minister for Education and Training

Stuart Hamilton

1 July 2002 to 14 December 2002

Monica Gould, MP

Jennifer Westacott

16 December 2002 to 4 May 2003

1 July 2002 to 14 July 2002
5 August 2002 to 9 August 2002

Jacinta Allan, MP

Grant Hehir

5 May 2003 to 30 June 2003

6 January 2003 to 24 January 2003
22 April 2003 to 24 April 2003
5 June 2003 to 20 June 2003

Remuneration
Remuneration received or receivable by the Accountable Officer
(excluding those acting in the position) in connection with the
management of the Department during the reporting period was
in the range of:
2003

2002

$40,000–$49,999

1

–

$130,000–$139,999

1

–

$140,000–$149,999

1

–

$280,000–$289,999

–

1

Amounts relating to Ministers are reported in the financial
statements of the Department of Premier and Cabinet.

Other transactions
Other related transactions and loans requiring disclosure under
the Directions of the Minister for Finance have been considered
and there are no matters to report.
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Note 18 Remuneration of executives

The numbers of executive officers, other than Ministers and
Accountable Officers, and their total remuneration during the
reporting period are shown in the first two columns in the table
below in their relevant income bands. The base remuneration of
executive officers is shown in the third and fourth columns. Base
remuneration is exclusive of bonus payments, long-service leave
payments, redundancy payments and retirement benefits.
Several factors have affected total remuneration payable to
executives over the year. A number of employment contracts were
completed during the year and renegotiated and a number of
executives received bonus payments during the year. These bonus

Income band

payments depend on the terms of individual employment
contracts. Some contracts provide for an annual bonus payment
whereas other contracts include the payment of bonuses only
on the successful completion of the full term of the contract.
A number of these contract completion bonuses became
payable during the year
A number of executive officers retired, resigned or were
retrenched in the past year. This has had a significant impact on
total remuneration figures due to the inclusion of annual leave,
long-service leave and retrenchment payments.

Total remuneration
2003
2002
Number
Number

Base remuneration
2003
2002
Number
Number

$0,000–$9,999

–

–

–

$10,000–$19,999

–

–

–

1
2

$60,000–$69,999

–

–

1

–

$80,000–$89,999

–

–

2

1

$90,000–$99,999

–

–

1

1

$100,000–$109,999

3

6

3

7

$110,000–$119,999

7

5

9

7

$120,000–$129,999

5

9

8

8
13

$130,000–$139,999

9

11

15

$140,000–$149,999

8

8

4

4

$150,000–$159,999

10

3

3

2

$160,000–$169,999

2

2

2

1

$170,000–$179,999

3

1

–

–

$180,000–$189,999

1

1

2

1

$190,000–$199,999

2

2

–

1

$270,000–$279,999

–

1

–

–

Total numbers

50

49

50

49

Total amount

$7,068,930

$6,812,510

$6,439,032

$5,943,544

Note 19 Remuneration of auditors
Audit fees paid or payable to the Victorian Auditor-General’s
Office for audit of the Department’s financial report:
2003
$’000

2002
$’000

Paid as at 30 June 2003

105

80

Payable as at 30 June 2003

171

188

Total audit fees

276

268
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Note 20 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Details and estimates of contingent liabilities are as follows:

Quantifiable contingent liabilities

Claims for damages

Unquantifiable contingent liabilities
The Department has the following unquantifiable contingent
liabilities:
(i) Indemnities provided by the Department to the
Commonwealth in funding contracts entered with the
Commonwealth throughout the year. Each indemnity is
limited to $10 million for personal injuries and property
damage, and $50 million for damages arising out of Internet
usage.
(ii) Indemnities provided by the Department to teachers,
volunteer workers, school chaplains and school councils.
This indemnity for teachers protects them against liability for
personal injuries to students provided the teacher was not
drunk, not engaged in a criminal offence and not engaged in
outrageous conduct, and was in the course of the teacher’s
employment.

2003
$’000

2002
$’000

13,803

12,850

13,803

12,850

(iii) Indemnities provided by the Department to members
of school councils. The Education Act 1958 provides a
comprehensive indemnity to members of school councils
for any legal liability, whether in contract, negligence,
defamation etc.
(iv) The Government also provides an indemnity for persons
employed under the Public Sector Management and
Employment (PSME) Act 1998.
No material losses are anticipated in respect of any of the above
unquantifiable contingent liabilities.
None of the above contingent liabilities are secured over any
assets of the Department.

Unquantifiable contingent assets
The Department does not have any unquantifiable contingent
assets.

Note 21 Commitments for expenditure
2003
$’000

2002
$’000

95,900

95,668

2,883

3,873

–

–

98,783

99,541

Within one year

44,497

47,852

Later than one year but not later than five years

69,370

67,412

Later than five years

34,355

34,620

148,222

149,884

Capital commitments
Commitments for the acquisition of buildings, plant and equipment
contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities:
Within one year
Later than one year but not later than five years
Later than five years
Total capital commitments
Operating leases*
Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to
non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

Total operating leases

*The Department leases equipment including photocopiers, computers, motor vehicles and property with varying lease terms.
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Note 22 Employee benefits

2003
$’000

2002
$’000

Annual leave

48,490

50,732

Long-service leave

74,181

71,373

669

–

123,340

122,105

696,379

670,170

696,379

670,170

819,719

792,275

58,929

57,291

2003
Rate

2002
Rate

Weighted average rates of increase in annual employee
entitlements to settlement of the liabilities

4.60%

4.60%

Weighted average discount rates

4.86%

5.82%

8 years

8 years

15.50%

15.50%

Provision for employee benefits
Current (note 13)

Executive Officer bonus

Non-current (note 13)
Long-service leave

Aggregate employee benefit liability
Employee numbers
Average number of employees during the financial year

As explained in notes 1(p)(ii) the amounts for long-service leave are
measured at their present value. The following assumptions were
adopted in measuring present values:

(a) Long-service leave

Weighted average terms to settlement of the liabilities
(b) Superannuation
Name of scheme
State Superannuation Fund – Revised Scheme
State Superannuation Fund – New Scheme 0% contributor

9.00%

8.00%

State Superannuation Fund – New Scheme 3% contributor

9.00%

8.50%

State Superannuation Fund – New Scheme 5% contributor

9.50%

9.50%

State Superannuation Fund – New Scheme 7% contributor

10.00%

10.00%

VicSuper*
State Employees Retirement Benefits Scheme
Other Private Schemes**

9.00%

8.00%

12.50%

12.50%

n/a

n/a

*Under the VicSuper Scheme, employer contributions are payable only if the member is paid more than $450 in gross salary in a
particular month. This is consistent with Commonwealth Superannuation Guarantee legislation.
**The rate for other private schemes is not disclosed as these payments are predominantly the result of performance-related payments
which vary by individual.
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Note 22 Employee benefits (continued)
Government Employees’ Superannuation Fund
No liability is recognised in the statement of financial position for the
Department’s share of the State’s unfunded superannuation liability.
The State’s unfunded superannuation liability has been reflected in
the financial statements of the Department of Treasury and Finance.
However, superannuation contributions for the reporting period are
included as part of salaries and associated costs in the statement of
financial performance of the Department.
The name and details of the major employee superannuation funds and
contributions made by the Department are as follows:
Contribution
for the year

Contribution
for the year

2003
$’000

Fund
State Superannuation Fund
(defined benefit scheme)
VicSuper (accumulation scheme)
State Employees Retirement Benefits Scheme
(defined benefit scheme)
Other private schemes
Total

The bases for contributions are determined by the various schemes.
All employees of the Department are entitled to benefits on retirement,
disability or death from the Government Employees’ Superannuation
Fund. This fund provides defined lump-sum benefits based on years of
service and final average salary.
The above amounts were measured as at 30 June of each year, or in the
case of employer contributions they relate to the years ended 30 June.

Note 23 Administered items
In addition to the specific Departmental operations, which are included
in the statement of financial position, statement of financial performance
and statement of cash flows, the Department administers or manages
activities on behalf of the State. The transactions relating to these State
activities are reported as administered items in this note. Administered
transactions give rise to revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and are
determined on an accrual basis. Administered revenue includes the
proceeds from the sale of administered surplus land and buildings.
Administered liabilities include government expenses incurred but yet to
be paid. Administered assets include government revenues earned but
yet to be collected.
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2002
$’000

Contribution
outstanding
at year end
2003
$’000

Contribution
outstanding
at year end
2002
$’000

180,341

180,430

14,400

14,609

89,879

62,554

–

–

3,729

3,889

298

317

405

145

–

–

274,354

247,018

14,698

14,926

14,985
2,724
3,011
(9)
13,968

34,679

3,177

3,177

Administered assets
Receivables
Investments
Prepayments
Other
Property, plant and equipment

Total

Administered liabilities
Creditors and accruals

Total

2,758

2,758

4,241

1,282
106
2,861
(8)
–

–

–

–

–
–
–
–
–

–

–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–

–
–

–
–
–
–

$’000

2003

–

–

–

–
–
–
–
–

–

–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–

–
–

–
–
–
–

$’000

2002

Training and tertiary education
2003

2002

–
–

–

–

–
–
–
–
–

–

–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–

–
–

–
–
–
–

$’000

–

–

–
–
–
–
–

–

–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–

–
–

–
–
–
–

$’000

Youth

*Revenue associated with the sale of these assets is recorded in the financial statements of the Department of Treasury and Finance.
**This amount relates to Commonwealth and other monies received by the Department and paid to the Consolidated Fund.

2,636

Revenue less expenses

(2,833)

1,495,805

1,552,908

Total

936,697
80,915
112
2,866
475,215
–

Administered expenses
Commonwealth on-passing to
non-government schools
General recurrent grant
1,016,245
Other
82,970
Prizes and scholarships
119
WDV of assets sold*
2,113
Amounts paid to Consolidated Fund** 440,158
Other
11,303

315,986
145,887

329,461
125,902

1,492,972

936,711
80,901
143
13,344

1,016,316
83,029
160
676

1,555,544

Total

Administered
Administered revenue
Commonwealth on-passing to
non-government schools
General recurrent grants
Other
Prizes and scholarships
Proceeds from sale of assets
Commonwealth general recurrent
grants government schools
Other

2002

$’000

2003

$’000

School education

–

–

–

–
–
–
–
–

–

–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–

–
–

–
–
–
–

$’000

2003

–

–

–

–
–
–
–
–

–

–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–

–
–

–
–
–
–

$’000

2002

Policy, strategy and
information services

3,177

3,177

34,679

14,985
2,724
3,011
(9)
13,968

2,636

1,552,908

1,016,245
82,970
119
2,113
440,158
11,303

1,555,544

329,461
125,902

1,016,316
83,029
160
676

$’000

2003

2,758

2,758

4,241

1,282
106
2,861
(8)
–

(2,833)

1,495,805

936,697
80,915
112
2,866
475,215
–

1,492,972

315,986
145,887

936,711
80,901
143
13,344

$’000

2002

Departmental total

DE&T Annual Report 2002–03

Note 23 Administered items (continued)
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Note 24 Ex-gratia payments

The Department made the following ex-gratia payments. Included in the
total amount are the following ex-gratia payments in bands of $10,000
arising as a result of personal injury claims involving students and third
parties and settlement of legal action taken under the Equal Opportunity
Act and the Workplace Relations Act.
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2003
number

2002
number

$0–$9,999

64

72

$10,000–$19,999

28

13

$20,000–$29,999

–

14

$30,000–$39,999

11

7

$40,000–$49,999

4

5

$50,000–$59,999

3

1

$60,000–$69,999

1

–

$70,000–$79,999

–

1

$80,000–$89,999

–

–

$90,000–$99,999

1

1

$100,000–$109,999

3

1

$110,000–$119,999

1

–

$120,000–$129,999

2

–

$130,000–$139,999

–

1

$140,000–$149,999

–

–

$150,000–$159,999

–

1

$170,000–$179,999

–

1

$180,000–$189,999

1

–

$210,000–$219,999

–

1

$250,000–$259,999

–

–

$270,000–$279,999

–

1

$490,000–$499,999

–

–

$1,040,000–$1,049,999

–

1

Total number of payments

119
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Total amount of payments

$2,376,424

$3,458,000
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Note 25 Reconciliation of net results for the reporting period to net cash
inflow from operating activities
2003
$’000

2002
$’000

Net result for the reporting period

113,266

54,366

Depreciation and amortisation

219,927

169,063

Net (gain)/loss on sale of non-current assets

19,390

10,553

Write back of assets

46,287

81,743

47

701

Decrease (increase) in receivables

17,510

44,671

Decrease (increase) in prepayments

(4,550)

168

(79,447)

66,502

Net transfers free of charge
Change in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from restructuring

Increase (decrease) in payables
Increase (decrease) in other current liabilities

468

1,892

Increase (decrease) in employee entitlements

29,199

35,111

362,097

464,770

Net cash inflow from operating activities

Note 26 Events occurring after reporting date
In the interval between the end of financial year and the date of this
report there has not arisen any item, transaction or event of a material or
unusual nature likely to affect significantly the operations of the
Department in subsequent financial years.
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Appendix 1 Consistency of budget and financial reporting
Introduction
The Government’s budgeting framework reports each
department’s financial estimates in the annual State Budget
Papers on a basis that consolidates all budget sector
agencies within the Department.
Budget sector agencies are those agencies owned by the
State Government that receive the majority of their income
from State Government sources.
The financial statements provided in this appendix are
consistent with those published in the 2002–03 Budget Paper
Number 3 – Budget Estimates. Provision of the statements in
this appendix allows comparison of the actual financial results
of the Department’s consolidated budget sector agencies
with the estimates published in the Budget Papers. This is
consistent with the Government’s commitment to more
transparent financial reporting.
The total resources made available to a department are
applied to three uses:
• provision of outputs
• asset investment
• payments on behalf of the State.
The financial statements on the following pages support
the Department’s provision of outputs. The information
provided includes the statement of financial performance,
the statement of financial position and the statement of cash
flows for the Department, which are presented in the format

consistent with the AAS29 accounting standard. However,
for the purposes of this report they have been divided into
controlled and administered items.
Controlled items reflect those resources applied by the
Department to carry out its functions and provide outputs.
Administered items refer to those resources over which
the Department cannot exercise direct control. Authority is
provided through an appropriation for payments made on
behalf of the State. Under the AAS29 standard, these items
would normally appear as notes to the financial statements.
The financial statements consolidate information for the
following portfolio entities:
• Department of Education & Training (including
government schools)
• Adult, Community and Further Education Board
• Adult Multicultural Education Services
• Centre for Adult Education
• Driver Education Centre of Australia Limited
• International Fibre Centre Limited
• Merit Protection Boards
• Registered Schools Board
• Victorian Curriculum and Assessment Authority
• Victorian Institute of Teaching.
• Victorian Learning and Employment Skills Commission
• Victorian Qualifications Authority
• 14 TAFE institutes and five universities with TAFE divisions.
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Statement of financial performance for the year ended 30 June 2003
Controlled items

2002–03

actual

budget

($ million)

($ million)

(%)

5,533.6
0.2
n/a
461.6
315.4
296.4

5,362.8
0.3
0.7
485.5
258.1
271.6

3.2
(4.0)
n/a
(4.9)
22.2
9.1

6,607.3

6,378.9

3.6

3,901.8
288.1
555.7
565.2
1,140.0
1.2
0.7

3,729.4
265.1
572.5
565.2
1,040.8
n/a
1.3

4.6
8.7
(2.9)
n/a
9.5
n/a
(49.2)

6,452.6

6,174.3

4.5

Result from ordinary activities

154.7

204.6

(24.4)

Net result for the reporting period

154.7

204.6

(24.4)

Net increase in asset revaluation reserve

1,016.0

n/a

n/a

Total revenues, expenses and revaluation adjustments recognised directly in equity

1,016.0

n/a

n/a

Total changes in equity other than those resulting from transactions with the
Victorian State Government in its capacity as owner on behalf of the Crown

1,170.7

204.6

n/a

2002–03

Variation(a)

1

2
3
2

Total
Expenses from ordinary activities
Employee benefits (c)
Depreciation and amortisation
Grants and other payments
Capital asset charge
Supplies and services (d)
Other expenses from ordinary activities
Borrowing costs

4
5
6
7

Total

Administered items

Administered revenue
Sale of goods and services
Commonwealth grants
Other

Notes

8

Total
Administered expenses
Grants and other payments
Purchase of supplies and services
Payments into the Consolidated Fund
Total
Revenue less expenses

8
9

2002–03
actual

budget

($ million)

($ million)

2.0
1,552.7
(1.6)

1.7
1,392.8
0.6

14.6
11.5
n/a

1,553.1

1,395.1

11.3

1,099.3
11.3
440.2

961.0
n/a
445.3

14.4
n/a
(1.2)

1,550.8

1,406.4

10.3

2.3

(11.3)

n/a

(a) Variation between 2002–03 actual and 2002–03 budget.
(b) Includes revenue for services delivered to parties outside of government.
(c) Includes salaries and allowances, superannuation contributions and payroll tax.
(d) Includes payments to non-government organisations for delivery of services.
Notes
The variations for controlled items can be explained as follows:
Note 1
The variation reflects additional appropriation funding for the achievement of the Government’s reform and demand strategy to ensure progress towards
meeting the Government’s goals and targets for education and training. This has resulted in increased numbers of students remaining in education over time.
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2002–03

Revenue from ordinary activities
Output appropriations
Special appropriations
Resources received free of charge or for nominal consideration
Sale of goods and services
Commonwealth grants
Other revenue and revenue from other parties (b)

Notes

(%)
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Note 2
The offsetting variation is due to changes in the allocation of the proceeds from the sale of goods and services by schools and TAFE institutions.
Note 3
The variation reflects increased Commonwealth revenue from the Australian National Training Authority for TAFE institutions.
Note 4
The variation represents progress towards the achievement of the Government’s goals and targets. This has resulted in resourcing for enrolment growth,
salary increases and additional teachers to reduce class sizes.
Note 5
The variation is due to asset purchases by schools from locally raised funds and by TAFE institutions from Commonwealth funds. These asset purchases are not funded for depreciation.
Note 6
The variation reflects grants and other payments to external providers offset by additional funding in other expenses in schools and TAFE institutions.
Refer to note 7 on supplies and services.
Note 7
The variation reflects increased purchases funded from higher additional revenue from locally raised revenue and government funding for schools and TAFE institutions.

The variations for administered items can be explained as follows:
Note 8
The variation reflects an increase of Commonwealth funding for schools under the current Commonwealth funding model.
Note 9
The increase reflects the transfer of the International Fibre Centre building to Deakin University.

Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2003
Controlled items

Variation(a)

2002–03

2002–03

actual

budget

($ million)

($ million)

477.3
156.1
69.8
8.4
12.6
1.2

468.9
133.2
126.6
7.6
7.2
2.3

1.8
17.2
(44.9)
11.1
74.3
(49.1)

725.3

745.8

(2.8)

384.2
8.9
9,116.2
0.5
13.1

433.1
17.4
8,142.8
0.1
11.8

(11.3)
(48.9)
12.0
n/a
11.1

9,522.9

8,605.1

10.7

10,248.2

9,350.9

9.6

181.5
2.9
181.8
75.9

262.3
2.2
174.1
76.8

(30.8)
33.5
4.4
(1.2)

442.0

515.4

(14.2)

2.6
781.0
n/a

3.4
801.5
1.9

(23.0)
(2.6)
n/a

783.6

806.8

(2.9)

Total liabilities

1,225.6

1,322.2

(7.3)

Net assets

9,022.5

8,028.7

12.4

Assets
Current assets
Cash assets
Other financial assets
Receivables
Inventories
Prepayments
Other assets

Notes

1
2

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Receivables (b)
Other financial assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Other

3
4

Total non-current assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Payables
Interest-bearing liabilities
Provisions (c)
Other

5

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities
Provisions
Amounts owing to other departments
Total non-current liabilities

6

(%)
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Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2003
Admimistered items

Assets
Current assets
Cash assets
Receivables
Prepayments
Other financial assets

Notes

7

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

4

2002–03

actual

budget

($ million)

($ million)

(%)

n/a
16.5
3.0
1.3

0.1
0.1
2.9
1.2

n/a
n/a
5.2
5.8

20.8

4.2

n/a

14.0

n/a

n/a

Total non-current assets

14.0

n/a

n/a

Total assets

34.8

4.2

n/a

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Payables
Other

0.2
3.0

(0.1)
2.9

n/a
5.2

Total current liabilities

3.2

2.8

17.0

31.5

1.5

n/a

Net assets

(a) Variation between 2002–03 actual and 2002–03 budget.
(b) Includes cash balances held in trust in the Public Account.
(c) Includes employee benefits and superannuation.
Notes
The variations for controlled items can be explained as follows:
Note 1
The variation was due to an increase in grant funds held by TAFE institutions for future capital works.
Note 2
The variation reflects improved recovery of receipts by schools and TAFE institutions and the settlement of a major debtor relating to the machinery-of-government
transfer of Employment Division.
Note 3
The variation reflects output revenue earned by the Department from the Government. This revenue is yet to be drawn down to meet cash flow needs.
The balance is directly influenced by the level of accruals and creditors at balance day.
Note 4
The variation is due to the significant revaluation of property assets, offset by a large write-off of school assets associated with the review of the capitalisation
of assets below the $1000 threshold.
Note 5
The variation reflects the timing of payments to creditors, reducing the value of accounts payable at year-end due to the efficiency of the new e-commerce
payment system implemented in 2002–03.
Note 6
The variation is consistent with the amount of long-service leave paid to employees during the year.

The variation for administered items can be explained as follows:
Note 7
The variation represents outstanding monies from property sales.
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Statement of cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2003
Controlled items

Notes

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating receipts
Receipts from Government
Receipts from other entities
Interest received
Other revenue

Operating payments
Payments for supplies, grants and employees
Capital asset charge
Borrowing costs expense

Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Net proceeds from capital contribution by State Government
Net proceeds of borrowings

2002–03

actual

budget

($ million)

($ million)

Variation(a)
(%)

5,533.9
310.5
33.8
847.5

5,546.1
489.8
19.7
246.7

(0.2)
(36.6)
71.8
n/a

1

6,725.7

6,302.3

6.7

2

(5,648.3)
(565.2)
(0.7)

(5,282.6)
(565.2)
(1.3)

6.9
n/a
(49.2)

(6,214.2)

(5,849.1)

6.2

511.5

453.2

12.9

(534.3)
10.0
13.6
(0.8)

(463.7)
1.5
n/a
n/a

15.2
n/a
n/a
n/a

(511.4)

(462.2)

10.7

n/a
(0.8)

(0.1)
n/a

Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Investing receipts
Payments for property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Payments for investments
Repayment of loans by other entities

2002–03

3

(100.0)
n/a

Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities

(0.8)

(0.1)

n/a

Net increase (decrease) in cash held

(0.7)

(9.1)

(92.0)

Cash at beginning of period

478.0

478.0

n/a

Cash at the end of financial year

477.3

468.9

1.8
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Statement of cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2003
Admimistered items

Notes

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating receipts
Receipts from Government
Interest received
Other revenue

2002–03

2002–03

actual

budget

($ million)

($ million)

(%)

1,552.8
0.1
2.5

1,392.8
0.1
2.2

11.5
16.7
10.7

4

1,555.4

1,395.1

11.5

(1,539.3)

(1,406.4)

9.5

4

(1,539.3)

(1,406.4)

9.5

16.1

(11.3)

n/a

(1.8)
(13.5)
(0.8)

n/a
11.2
n/a

n/a
n/a
n/a

(16.1)

11.2

n/a

Cash at beginning of period

n/a

n/a

n/a

Cash at the end of financial year

n/a

n/a

n/a

Operating payments
Payments for supplies, grants and employees
Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Investing receipts
Payments for property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Payments for investments

5

Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities

(a) Variation between 2002–03 actual and 2002–03 budget
Notes
The variations for controlled items can be explained as follows:
Note 1
Refer to notes 1 and 3 of the statement of financial performance and to notes 2 and 3 of the statement of financial position.
Note 2
Refer to notes 4, 6 and 7 of the statement of financial performance and to note 5 of the statement of financial position.
Note 3
The variation relates to expenditure in school and TAFE programs. Refer to note 4 of the statement of financial position.

The variations for administered items can be explained as follows:
Note 4
Refer to note 8 of the statement of financial performance.
Note 5
Refer to note 9 of the statement of financial performance and to note 7 of the statement of financial position.
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Appendix 2 Portfolio statistics
School education

Number of schools by type and sector,
Victoria, February 1999–2003

Equivalent full-time students in government schools,
Victoria, February 2003

School type

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

Government
Primary
Primary–secondary
Secondary
Special
Language
Total

1243
42
267
80
3
1635

1239
43
266
79
4
1631

1235
43
264
79
4
1625

1232
47
262
80
4
1625

1223
49
261
78
4
1615

Catholic
Primary
Primary–secondary
Secondary
Special
Total

383
10
91
6
490

386
10
88
6
490

387
10
87
7
491

386
10
86
7
489

384
10
86
7
487

Independent
Primary
Primary–secondary
Secondary
Special
Total

61
115
14
8
198

63
119
15
8
205

61
119
17
8
205

61
126
16
9
212

62
127
17
9
215

All schools
Primary
Primary–secondary
Secondary
Special
Language
Total

1687
167
372
94
3
2323

1688
172
369
93
4
2326

1683
172
368
94
4
2321

1679
183
364
96
4
2326

1669
186
364
94
4
2317

Early years

Preparatory
Year 1
Year 2
Year 3
Year 4

44,292.0
44,176.8
44,458.6
44,848.8
45,330.6

Middle years

Year 5
Year 6
Ungraded
Primary total
Year 7
Year 8
Year 9

45,089.2
43,918.4
20.0
312,134.4
39,388.1
37,324.7
38,582.5

Year 10
Year 11
Year 12
Ungraded
Secondary total
Special
Language
Total

36,650.4
35,881.2
30,852.6
61.2
218,740.7
6,517.0
917.0
538,309.1

Later years

Source: Department of Education & Training

Source: Department of Education & Training

Equivalent full-time students by student type and sector, Victoria, February 1999–2003
Student type

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

Government
Primary
Secondary
Special
Language
Total

306,218.0
216,367.4
5,413.6
1,073.0
529,072.0

309,539.9
215,921.3
5,671.7
802.0
531,934.9

311,007.9
217,557.1
5,944.3
902.9
535,412.2

312,689.2
216,858.8
6,170.5
844.0
536,562.5

312,134.4
218,740.7
6,517.0
917.0
538,309.1

Catholic
Primary
Secondary
Special
Total

102,004.4
77,670.8
161.8
179,837.0

101,961.0
77,992.5
167.0
180,120.5

101,773.5
78,920.0
179.0
180,872.5

101,519.6
79,744.1
170.4
181,434.1

99,665.2
80,626.2
171.2
180,462.6

Independent
Primary
Secondary
Special
Total

34,789.0
55,687.6
298.5
90,775.1

36,309.6
57,409.9
296.7
94,016.2

36,964.3
59,344.8
274.8
96,583.9

38,319.9
61,747.8
299.6
100,367.3

39,381.2
64,194.3
310.8
103,886.3

All schools
Primary
Secondary
Special
Language
Total

443,011.4
349,725.8
5,873.9
1,073.0
799,684.1

447,810.5
351,323.7
6,135.4
802.0
806,071.6

449,745.7
355,821.9
6,398.1
902.9
812,868.6

452,528.7
358,350.7
6,640.5
844.0
818,363.9

451,180.8
363,561.2
6,999.0
917.0
822,658.0

Source: Department of Education & Training
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Average class sizes in government schools,
Victoria, February 1999–2003

Apparent retention rates (per cent), Victoria, August 1998–2002

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

Primary classes
Average class size – all classes
Average class size – Prep
Average class size – P–2
Average class size – Years 3–6

25.4
23.2
24.3
26.2

24.6
21.9
23.3
25.6

24.0
21.1
22.4
25.2

23.5
20.4
21.8
24.8

22.9
19.7
21.0
24.3

Secondary English classes
Average class size – all classes
Average class size – Year 12

22.7
21.0

22.6
21.0

22.5
21.2

22.2
20.6

22.0
20.2

1998

1999

2000

2001

2002

Years 10–12
Government
All schools
Males – all schools
Females – all schools

73.7
79.1
72.5
85.8

73.5
78.7
71.9
85.5

74.4
79.7
73.1
86.4

76.8
81.6
76.1
87.2

77.5
82.9
77.1
88.7

Years 7–12
Government
All schools
Males – all schools
Females – all schools

69.1
75.9
68.5
83.7

69.8
76.2
68.5
84.2

71.1
77.2
69.2
85.8

73.7
79.3
72.2
86.7

74.4
80.9
73.4
88.7

Source: Department of Education & Training

Years 10–12 and Years 7–12 apparent retention rates refer to the Year 12 enrolment
of students in full-time school education expressed as a proportion of the enrolments
at Year 10 two years earlier or Year 7 five years earlier. Apparent retention rates
calculated for February are higher than for August as a number of Year 12 students
leave during the year.
Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics, Schools Australia, cat. no. 4221.0 and unpublished data for 2002

Training and tertiary education
Student contact hours of training and further education by Australian Qualifications Framework levels, Victoria, 1998–2002
Level

1998

1999

2000

2001

2002

AQF 1–2 and equivalent

19,537,340

22,822,199

23,934,124

24,624,468

24,366,505

AQF 3–4 and equivalent

31,401,677

33,805,163

36,596,457

42,069,620

44,269,738

AQF 5–6 and above and equivalent

25,512,160

24,554,807

26,509,241

28,885,916

30,880,479

Secondary

1,725,915

1,449,314

1,201,244

1,297,126

1,332,544

Preparatory

1,646,952

1,246,122

1,144,641

816,155

630,101

Module only

2,703,756

3,429,734

3,102,217

3,128,182

3,479,010

Not defined
Total

4,192,889

4,446,459

3,824,034

3,181,799

3,154,676

86,720,689

91,753,798

96,311,958

104,003,266

108,113,053

Numbers for 1998–2001 have been modified to reflect changes in classifications.
Source: Department of Education & Training
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Student contact hours of training and further education by industry group, Victoria, 1998–2002
Industry

1998

1999

2000

2001

2002

12,396,617

12,099,707

12,627,710

13,241,001

12,791,607

Automotive

2,879,414

2,815,024

2,996,225

2,803,249

2,644,410

Building and construction

4,853,075

5,089,459

5,389,661

5,454,055

5,500,968

16,500,041

17,411,319

17,772,383

17,528,726

17,782,252
11,355,030

Further education

Business services
Community services and health

7,765,460

8,118,003

8,117,995

9,809,963

Cultural and recreation

6,568,306

6,727,923

7,224,556

7,786,376

8,642,486

Electrotechnology and communications

8,269,135

8,301,464

9,698,652

12,065,354

12,211,759

General manufacturing

5,491,510

5,776,863

5,004,382

5,040,299

5,421,878

Metals and engineering

4,621,819

3,965,889

3,730,612

3,663,910

3,754,041

Primary and forest

3,885,471

4,228,315

4,504,297

4,484,012

4,937,665

Public administration and safety

193,463

494,611

560,553

456,939

411,063

Tourism and hospitality

6,945,944

7,239,500

8,160,264

8,114,423

8,207,337

Transport and storage

1,182,869

1,624,972

2,222,357

3,346,940

3,080,930

Wholesale, retail and personal services

2,273,136

3,297,066

4,134,722

5,590,750

5,966,087

Not industry specific (including module only)

2,894,429

4,563,683

4,167,589

4,617,269

5,405,540

86,720,689

91,753,798

96,311,958

104,003,266

108,113,053

Total

Data refers to all funding sources, excluding hobby, recreation and leisure (non-VET) activity.
Numbers for 1998–2001 have been modified to reflect changes in classifications.
Source: Department of Education & Training

Adult and community education
Government-funded provision by ACE organisations by region and adult education institutions, Victoria, 2002
ALBE
Region

BSW

E

2,408

ESL
SCH

184,584

VCE

GenPrep

VocEd

Total

E

SCH

E

SCH

E

SCH

E

SCH

E

SCH

606

38,750

166

15,493

4,980

154,912

11,954

290,842

20,114

684,581

CHW

842

48,889

8

1,651

–

–

4,755

83,166

11,653

202,183

17,258

335,889

CWM

1,978

152,533

6,610

430,722

15

3,600

3,200

131,137

5,058

118,399

16,861

836,391

EM

2,826

157,331

1,249

65,439

118

16,192

6,383

154,048

21,174

499,586

31,750

892,596

GIP

2,972

117,659

21

1,534

–

–

7,460

143,976

10,208

203,579

20,661

466,748

GOM

2,662

158,233

143

27,082

198

27,810

5,722

96,749

9,411

197,847

18,136

507,721

LCM

3,763

202,323

111

3,275

134

7,106

5,275

188,058

14,840

375,566

24,123

776,328

NM

2,168

143,595

2,021

132,797

179

13,872

3,567

91,887

11,503

319,912

19,438

702,063

SWP

3,579

214,588

2,979

158,506

60

5,780

5,577

122,030

14,080

339,022

26,275

839,926

98

6,280

1,921

44,478

–

–

–

–

5,417

137,396

7,436

188,154

1,648

132,118

1,530

144,960

1,688

232,316

2,048

100,515

3,019

144,289

9,933

754,198

17,199 1,049,194

2,558

322,169

AMES
CAE
Total

24,944 1,518,133

48,967 1,266,478

118,317 2,828,621

211,985 6,984,595

E = enrolments
SCH = student contact hours
Government-funded provision is for education and training provided from State and Commonwealth funds allocated by the ACFE Board and VLESC.
The ACFE regions are abbreviated as follows: Barwon South Western (BSW), Central Highlands Wimmera (CHW), Central Western Metropolitan (CWM), Eastern Metropolitan (EM),
Gippsland (GIP), Goulburn Ovens Murray (GOM), Loddon Campaspe Mallee (LCM), Northern Metropolitan (NM), Southern Western Port (SWP).
Adult Multicultural Education Services (AMES)
Centre for Adult Education (CAE)
ACE organisations assigned the program categories of Adult Literacy and Basic Education (ALBE), ESL, VCE, General Preparatory (GenPrep), and Vocational Education (VocEd) to their
reported enrolments and student contact hours.
Source: Department of Education & Training
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Total reported adult, community and further education provision for ACE organisations and adult education institutions,
Victoria, 1998–2002
Region

Enrolments

Student contact hours

1998

1999

2000

2001

2002

1998

1999

2000

2001

BSW

27,154

36,751

45,340

38,043

39,340

756,290

745,923

1,236,345

1,021,919

1,069,466

CHW

24,261

24,561

25,671

24,496

28,024

465,502

529,565

464,377

526,217

491,162

CWM

24,682

24,529

24,328

23,288

24,270

1,076,652

1,010,256

965,117

1,058,608

1,015,956

EM

40,422

47,530

50,632

51,869

59,500

994,975

1,484,638

1,437,659

1,311,723

1,441,593

GIP

27,463

27,312

23,117

21,759

25,292

515,882

545,618

512,215

526,883

534,254

GOM

35,543

35,243

35,351

29,062

30,952

736,557

839,802

728,578

697,354

802,591

LCM

28,545

34,638

34,671

32,507

36,629

696,871

828,949

862,228

834,037

995,565

NM

16,838

22,469

24,368

26,722

28,324

614,401

793,426

733,909

833,206

892,671

SWP

27,403

38,497

42,988

43,542

45,328

1,205,322

1,344,174

1,175,715

1,276,327

1,284,216

CAE

64,684

64,035

60,364

62,674

56,338

1,908,419

1,896,027

1,560,892

1,598,856

1,510,263

AMES

31,620

92,480

103,297

113,753

98,625

3,128,022

2,802,034

3,058,205

3,216,979

2,983,912

Total

348,615

448,045

470,127

467,715

472,622

12,098,893

12,820,412

12,735,240

12,902,109

13,021,649

Total reported adult, community and further education provision is for all funding sources, including fee-for-service activity.
Almost 90 per cent of provision at AMES is funded by other sources, including the Commonwealth Government. This funding is short-term contracted delivery.
Source: Department of Education & Training

Higher education
Student enrolments and load in higher education institutions, Victoria, 1998–2002
1998

1999

2000

2001

2002

1998–2002
% change

Enrolments
Postgraduate
Undergraduate
Other
Total

39,038
145,098
1,132
185,268

40,050
145,842
1,097
186,989

40,864
146,987
1,086
188,937

47,013
148,154
1,200
196,367

55,347
157,178
3,078
215,603

+41.8
+8.3
+171.9
+16.4

Load (EFTSU)*
Postgraduate
Undergraduate
Other
Total

22,864
123,713
461
147,038

23,433
123,937
827
148,197

24,126
124,721
759
149,606

26,517
125,720
874
153,111

30,106
130,706
952
161,764

+31.7
+5.7
+106.5
+10.0

*Equivalent full-time student unit
Figures as at 31 March of each year, and include all students.
Source: Data provided to the Department of Education & Training by universities
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Appendix 3 Reporting on target groups
On coming to office, the Government pledged a whole-ofgovernment reporting approach in relation to cultural
diversity, women, youth and Indigenous affairs.

2001 to 1916 in 2002. This was primarily in response to the
increase in the number of new-arrival school students in
Victoria.

This appendix provides highlights of the Department’s
activities that are of particular relevance to these four
community areas.

The percentage of eligible primary students in regular
schools receiving ESL support increased from 90.1 in 2001 to
91.7 in 2002. The percentage of eligible secondary students
in regular schools receiving ESL support increased from 94.3
in 2001 to 95.2 in 2002.

Cultural diversity
The Department recognises that individuals and groups
facing particular challenges to achieving in education and
training because of cultural or linguistic background must be
supported to participate in education and training, achieve
learning success and undertake continuous learning.
Schools, including specialist English language schools
and centres, help build proficiency in English and other
languages, and help shape student attitudes to cultural
diversity through multicultural education.
TAFE institutions and ACE organisations have a central role in
equipping adults from culturally and linguistically diverse
backgrounds with the English proficiency and the vocational
skills they need to function effectively in the workforce and in
society, or to proceed to other forms of education and
training.
The Department’s workforce management and development
practices help to ensure that its workforce is well equipped
to work with the diverse Victorian community.

Highlights
• Intensive full-time programs in English language schools
and centres and part-time programs or targeted support
were provided for 1916 new arrival students through the
Outposting program, the Geelong and Shepparton English
Language programs, and the Isolated English as a Second
Language Student Support program.
• $660,000 was provided for interpreting and translation
services in government schools.
• A range of accredited and non-accredited English as a
second language programs were provided by TAFE
institutions and ACE organisations.
• An Employment Skills Centre was established to offer
careers and employment guidance to people from
culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds.

Performance measures
The Department’s key performance measures on cultural
diversity relate to the provision of:
• intensive ESL support for new arrival students in English
language schools and centres and regular schools
• support for other eligible ESL students in regular schools.
The number of new-arrival primary and secondary school
students receiving intensive support increased from 1535 in

These performance measures are reported annually in the
State Budget Papers.

Women
The Department makes a major contribution to the
achievement of the priorities for women outlined in Valuing
Victoria’s Women: Forward Plan 2000–2003, particularly
those priorities related to the education, work and economic
independence.
The Department’s services for women are provided through
schools, TAFE institutions and other registered training
organisations and ACE organisations. These services aim to:
• equip women with the education and training they need
to have high-quality jobs, a full and creative life and
opportunities to contribute to their communities
• provide a working environment responsive to the needs
of women.

Highlights
• The Access Training and Employment Centre was funded
to provide advice on training needs and opportunities for
women, particularly in emerging and non-traditional
industries.
• Examples of best practice in assisting women to maximise
opportunities in the labour market through relevant training
and support services were identified and disseminated
throughout the TAFE sector.
• The Women Leadership and Technology Pilot Program
2002, which assisted women to lead, drive and use new
technologies in the schools sector, received a Public Sector
Award for Excellence in People Management.
• Online workplace discrimination and sexual harassment
training was made available to all teachers and Department
staff.
• In 2003, six Julia Flynn Scholarships were awarded to
women, enabling outstanding potential leaders to
undertake postgraduate leadership and management
training.

Performance measures
Key features of the Department’s performance on women’s
and girls’ education and training include the following.
• The Years 7–12 August 2002 apparent retention rate for
girls in Victoria was 88.7 per cent compared with
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80.7 per cent for girls nationally. The Years 7–12 apparent
retention rate refers to the Year 12 enrolment of students
in full-time education expressed as a proportion of Year 7
enrolment five years earlier.
• Women represented 47.5 per cent of the total 513,971
persons participating in vocational education and training in
Victoria in 2002.

Youth
The Department provides education and training services
through schools, TAFE institutions and other registered
training organisations and ACE organisations. These
services make a major contribution to the achievement
of the priorities for young people outlined in the whole-ofgovernment Respect framework, particularly those related to
the theme of learning and working.

Performance measures
The Department’s key performance measures for youth are
the Government’s targets for education and training. Details
of progress towards the targets are on page 6. Further
information on achievements relating to youth are contained
in the sections on school education (pages 22–47) and
training and tertiary education (pages 48–70)

Indigenous affairs
The Department recognises the importance of working with
the Indigenous community to improve Indigenous students’
participation and achievement levels in education and
training.
Two key strategies frame the partnership between the
Department and the Indigenous community. These
strategies, Yalca and Wurreker, focus on developing policy,
programs and services for and by the Koorie community.

Yalca
Yalca supports a birth-to-death philosophy of education,
placing the student at the centre of education policy and
decision making. Yalca acknowledges the importance of local
partnerships and recognises the role of Local Aboriginal
Education Consultative Groups in determining local education
and training needs.
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Wurreker
The Wurreker strategy aims to improve the participation of
Koorie students in VET. It is designed to support:
• improved completion rates for Koorie students
• participation in courses at higher levels
• better outcomes for individuals and communities both in
terms of employment and community enhancement.
The Wurreker strategy recognises the need for an equal
partnership between Government, education and training
organisations and Local Aboriginal Education Consultative
Groups in policy development, planning and delivery to
ensure quality outcomes for Koorie students are achieved.

Highlights
Significant commitments to the principles of Yalca and
Wurreker and initiatives to support the Indigenous
community were maintained by the Department in 2002–03.
These included the following achievements.
• Key programs such as the Koorie Literacy Links (P–4),
Koorie Middle Years Literacy Links (Years 7–9) and Koorie
Middle Years Numeracy Links (Years 5–6) continued.
• Four Koorie Open Door Education campuses continued to
operate in Victoria, providing culturally inclusive curriculum
and appropriate learning and teaching programs.
• Koorie education development officers, Koorie educators
and Koorie home school liaison officers were employed to
support Koorie students.
• Key initiatives in the TAFE sector included the development
of a Koorie website and a Koorie pocket reference on TAFE
programs, and the employment of 14 Koorie liaison
officers.

Performance measures
The Department collects data on the enrolments of Koorie
students in schools by year level and school type in August
each year. In 2002, there were 5955.1 equivalent full-time
Koorie students enrolled in government schools in Victoria,
1.1 per cent of the total student cohort.
The Department has established a range of performance
measures relating to Koorie students, including the percentage
of Koorie primary school students reaching national benchmarks in reading and numeracy. These will be reported each
year in the State Budget Papers from 2003–04 onwards.
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Appendix 4 Workforce statistics
It excludes:
• staff who ceased duty prior to the last fortnight of June 2003
• staff on leave without pay (including family leave)
• casual employees and contractors
• ACFE Regional Council staff
• VIT staff
• staff employed directly by individual school councils
• staff employed by TAFE institutions
• staff employed by Industry Training Advisory Boards
• LLEN regional staff
• VLESC regional staff.

The following equivalent full-time (EFT) workforce data
includes:
• staff on pay (including paid leave) who were employed
by the Department in the last fortnight of June 2003
• ongoing and fixed-term staff
• the chairs of the ACFE Board, the Victorian Schools
Innovation Commission and the Merit Protection Boards
• VLESC secretariat staff
• LLEN development and support staff

Schools
Teaching EFT staff in schools by substantive classification and sex on pay, June 1999–2003
Males
Classification

Primary
Principal Class
Teaching staff
School Support
Teaching Service
Instructors
Subtotal
Secondary
Principal Class
Teaching staff
School Support
Teaching Service
Instructors
Subtotal
Total

1999

2000

2001

Females
2002

2003

1999

2000

2001

Total
2002

2003

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

1,144.0 1,094.0 1,082.0 1,042.0 1,019.0
2,922.2 3,047.7 3,058.4 3,070.1 3,117.1

711.6
750.0
806.5
839.5
882.8
13,497.0 14,232.8 14,535.6 14,873.9 15,014.4

1,855.6 1,844.0 1,888.5 1,881.6 1,901.8
16,419.2 17,280.4 17,594.0 17,944.0 18,131.5

–
1.7
–
–
–
2.6
–
3.0
8.3
5.4
4,068.8 4,143.3 4,143.4 4,120.3 4,141.5

1.0
4.7
1.0
–
–
1.9
1.0
6.9
10.1
7.6
14,211.5 14,988.4 15,350.0 15,723.6 15,904.9

1.0
6.4
1.0
–
–
4.5
1.0
9.9
18.3
13.0
18,280.3 19,131.8 19,493.4 19,843.9 20,046.4

584.0
578.0
562.0
550.0
553.8
7,536.6 7,402.7 7,349.3 7,330.8 7,376.4

269.0
283.9
319.0
344.4
373.9
9,184.7 9,373.0 9,667.8 9,979.6 10,303.5

853.0
861.9
881.0
894.3
927.7
16,721.3 16,775.7 17,017.0 17,310.4 17,679.9

–
–
–
–
–
78.7
79.8
84.9
111.3
117.2
8,199.3 8,060.6 7,996.2 7,992.0 8,047.4

1.0
1.0
1.0
–
–
32.1
33.6
43.1
51.1
45.3
9,486.8 9,691.5 10,030.8 10,375.1 10,722.6

1.0
1.0
1.0
–
–
110.8
113.4
128.0
162.3
162.5
17,686.1 17,752.1 18,027.0 18,367.1 18,770.0

12,268.1 12,203.9 12,139.6 12,112.4 12,188.9

23,698.3 24,680.0 25,380.8 26,098.6 26,627.4

35,966.4 36,883.8 37,520.4 38,211.0 38,816.4

Source: Department of Education & Training
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Non-teaching EFT staff in schools by substantive classification and sex on pay, June 1999–2003
Males
Classification

Females

Total

Level

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

SSO1
SSO2
SSO3
SSO4
SSO5
SSO6
SSO7

261.1
82.2
51.5
28.2
15.4
19.0
6.0
463.4

303.6
84.1
72.0
24.8
14.9
24.0
11.0
534.4

329.0
96.9
70.5
39.4
16.0
24.8
12.0
588.6

387.0
119.3
73.4
45.7
28.3
24.4
16.0
694.0

413.6
136.3
84.6
47.9
27.4
23.4
19.8
752.9

4282.8
1030.9
496.0
317.4
142.6
54.8
32.0
6356.5

4775.5
1055.0
562.7
369.9
171.4
69.1
37.0
7040.5

5136.0
1103.3
603.5
411.6
198.0
72.4
44.0
7568.8

5387.6
1163.3
632.4
442.1
216.6
88.6
54.2
7984.7

5456.9
1223.5
658.0
456.2
243.4
95.7
61.9
8195.5

4543.9
1113.1
547.5
345.6
158.0
73.8
38.0
6819.9

5079.1
1139.2
634.7
394.7
186.3
93.1
48.0
7575.0

5465.0
1200.2
674.0
451.0
214.0
97.2
56.0
8157.4

5774.6
1282.7
705.7
487.8
244.9
113.0
70.2
8678.8

5870.5
1359.7
742.6
504.1
270.8
119.1
81.7
8948.5

VPS1
VPS2
VPS3
VPS4
VPS5

Subtotal
Other

2.3
5.5
28.2
64.9
–
100.9
1.5

1.0
1.0
25.5
62.5
–
90.0
0.5

1.0
1.0
25.7
61.0
–
88.7
1.0

1.0
1.0
20.2
67.2
–
89.4
–

1.0
1.0
20.6
67.7
–
90.3
0.2

7.0
20.0
141.4
166.5
1.0
335.9
8.9

5.0
13.0
142.9
173.5
–
334.3
6.7

4.7
13.9
135.3
183.2
–
337.1
5.7

4.7
11.5
133.0
188.6
–
337.8
2.1

4.7
16.7
129.7
192.9
–
344.0
0.7

9.3
25.5
169.6
231.4
1.0
436.8
10.4

6.0
14.0
168.4
236.0
–
424.3
7.2

5.7
14.9
161.0
244.2
–
425.8
6.7

5.7
12.5
153.2
255.8
–
427.2
2.1

5.7
17.7
150.3
260.6
–
434.3
0.9

Total

565.8

624.9

678.3

783.4

843.4

6701.2

7381.5

7911.5

8324.6

8540.2

7267.0

8006.5

8589.8

9108.1

9383.6

School services
officer

Subtotal
Victorian Public
Service

Source: Department of Education & Training

Central office and regions
EFT staff in central office, regional locations, extension services and statutory authorities by substantive classification and sex on pay,
June 1999–2003
Males
Classification

Level

Teaching staff
Executive officer EO1
EO2
EO3
Subtotal
Victorian Public
Service

Subtotal
Ministerial staff
Other
Total

VPS1
VPS2
VPS3
VPS4
VPS5

Total

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

54.4
2.0
17.0
45.9
64.9

44.2
1.0
15.0
34.9
50.9

46.2
2.0
13.0
27.9
42.9

37.2
2.0
16.0
27.9
45.9

40.5
2.0
19.0
25.9
46.9

70.0
–
6.0
18.0
24.0

70.1
–
6.0
17.0
23.0

75.9
–
8.0
16.0
24.0

66.2
–
11.0
14.0
25.0

65.9
–
11.0
17.0
28.0

124.4
2.0
23.0
63.9
88.9

114.3
1.0
21.0
51.9
73.9

122.1
2.0
21.0
43.9
66.9

103.4
2.0
27.0
41.9
70.9

106.4
2.0
30.0
42.9
74.9

12.8
70.1
186.8
206.4
95.0
571.1

10.8
73.1
167.6
198.3
94.0
543.8

7.8
68.5
181.8
223.2
113.4
594.7

7.0
73.9
191.4
234.2
120.6
627.1

11.5
70.5
184.6
243.8
123.0
633.4

29.4
189.7
240.2
228.0
57.6
744.8

29.2
162.2
201.2
226.4
56.6
675.6

30.8
192.5
242.3
307.9
67.6
841.1

31.1
206.5
257.3
331.8
85.2
911.8

27.3
216.8
276.0
322.9
9.6
942.6

42.2
259.8
427.0
434.4
152.6
1315.9

40.0
235.3
368.8
424.7
150.6
1219.4

38.6
261.0
424.1
531.1
181.0
1435.7

38.1
280.4
448.7
566.0
205.8
1538.9

38.8
287.3
460.5
566.7
222.6
1575.9

–
–

–
2.0

–
3.0

4.0
6.0

4.0
8.0

–
9.2

–
11.6

–
8.8

7.0
10.0

10.0
14.0

–
9.2

–
13.6

–
11.8

11.0
16.0

14.0
22.0

690.4

640.9

686.8

720.2

732.7

848.0

780.3

949.7

1020.0

1060.5

1538.4

1421.2

1636.5

1740.2

1793.2

Source: Department of Education & Training
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Reconciliation of executive officers as at 30 June 2003
Number of executive officers classified into ongoing
and special projects
All
Class

Ongoing

No.

Variation

No.

EO1

2

0

2

EO2

30

+3

EO3

43

+1

Total

75

+4

Special projects

Variation

No.

Variation

0

0

0

29

+2

1

+1

43

+2

0

–1

74

+4

1

0

These figures include seven executive officers in portfolio statutory authorities.

Breakdown of executive officers by sex for ongoing and special projects
Ongoing
Male
Class

No.

Female

Variation

No.

Special projects
Vacancies

Male

Female

Variation

No.

No.

Variation

No.

Vacancies

Variation

No.

EO1

2

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

EO2

19

+3

10

–1

1

0

0

1

+1

1

EO3

26

–1

17

+3

3

0

–1

0

0

3

Total

47

+2

27

+2

4

0

–1

1

+1

4

Reconciliation of executive numbers

Executives with remuneration over $100,000 (includes separated executives)
Add

Less

2002

2003

78

70

Vacancies (see table above)

4

4

Executives employed with total remuneration below $100,000

7

9

Accountable Officer (Secretary)

1

1

–15

–5

75

79

Separations

Total executive numbers at 30 June
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Appendix 5 Senior officers as at 30 June 2003
Addresses of the key business areas are provided. The
telephone number for all sections of the Department is
(03) 9637 2000, except where otherwise specified.

Michael Conn
Assistant General Manager, Special Projects

Resource Management

Department of Education & Training
2 Treasury Place
East Melbourne Victoria 3002
Grant Hehir, Secretary

Office of School Education
33 St Andrews Place
East Melbourne Victoria 3002
Kim Bannikoff, Director

Policy and Planning
Michael Kane
Deputy Director
Andrée Butler
General Manager, Business Planning and Accountability
Dina Guest
General Manager, Policy

Ethel McAlpine
Assistant Director
Ben Ciullo
General Manager, Resource Analysis
Lynne Williams
General Manager, Facilities
Alison Hallahan
Assistant General Manager, Facilities Operations
Megan Broome
Assistant General Manager, Asset Management

Human Resources
Tony Bugden
General Manager
Rex Hardman
Assistant General Manager, Employee Relations

Nino Napoli
General Manager, Financial Management

Peter Stoppa
Assistant General Manager, Planning and Development
(acting*)

Student Programs

Strategic Relations

Sue Christophers
Assistant Director

Lesley Foster
General Manager

Sue Tait
General Manager, Teaching and Learning and Student Support

School Projects

Lou Iaquinto
Assistant General Manager, Student Wellbeing
Byron Crawford
Assistant General Manager, Special Projects
Tony Cook
Assistant General Manager, Early and Middle Years
John McCarthy
Assistant General Manager, Later Years

Howard Kelly
Project Director

School Regions
Regional office contact details appear on pages 43–4.

Western Metropolitan
Rob Blachford
Regional Director

Northern Metropolitan

Student Outcomes
Mario Abela
Assistant Director
Mary Buchanan
General Manager, School Improvement and Accountability
Ron Lake
Assistant General Manager, Innovation
Kerry Angwin
Assistant General Manager, Community Networks
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Victoria Triggs
Regional Director
John Allman
Deputy Regional Director

Eastern Metropolitan
Ross Kimber
Regional Director
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Southern Metropolitan

Adult, Community and Further Education

Jan Lake
Regional Director

Susan McDonald
General Manager (acting**)

Barwon South Western
Glenda Strong
Regional Director

Central Highlands Wimmera
Malcolm Millar
Regional Director

Loddon Campaspe Mallee
Greg Gibbs
Regional Director

Goulburn North Eastern
Adele Pottenger
Regional Director

Gippsland

Higher Education
Dr Terry Stokes
Director

Office of Portfolio Integration
1st floor
2 Treasury Place
East Melbourne Victoria 3002
Jenny Samms, Director

Strategic Policy and Resources
John Sullivan
General Manager

Peter Greenwell
Regional Director

Julie Alliston
Assistant General Manager, Policy Development and
Integration

Office of Training and Tertiary Education

George McLean
Assistant General Manager, Planning and Resource Strategy

3rd floor
2 Treasury Place
East Melbourne Victoria 3002
Jim Davidson, Director

Policy and Resources
Philip Clarke
General Manager
Aaron Johnstone
Assistant General Manager, Policy and Research (acting*)
Franco Greco
Assistant General Manager, Planning and Resource Allocation

External and Inter-governmental Relations
Colin Twisse
General Manager
Tony O’Dea
Assistant General Manager, Communications (acting*)
Leona Jorgensen
Assistant General Manager, Ministerial and Executive Support
John Livi
Principal Legal Officer, Legal Services

Evaluation and Audit

Dermot Lambe
Assistant General Manager, Resources

David Brooks
General Manager

Vocational Education and Training

Strategic Initiatives

Patricia Neden
General Manager

Ian Burrage
General Manager (acting*)

Robin Austen
Deputy General Manager, Vocational Education and Training

International

Chris Stewart
Assistant General Manager, Training Operations

Ian Hind
General Manager

Rodney Spark
Assistant General Manager, Program Development

Special Projects

Design and Development

Dawn Davis
Director

Jan Trewhella
General Manager

Quality Assurance and Review
Lynn Glover
General Manager

139

Appendices

Office of Finance Strategy and Resources

Merit Protection Boards

1st floor
2 Treasury Place
East Melbourne Victoria 3002
Jeff Rosewarne, Director

Level 9, 35 Spring Street
Melbourne Victoria 3000
(03) 9651 0290

Financial Services
John Hall
Chief Finance Officer
Claire Tierney
Assistant General Manager, Budgets and Reporting
Ron Cooper-Thomas
Assistant General Manager, Accounting Policy and Taxation

Information Technology
Ian Paton
General Manager
Mike Pogson
Assistant General Manager, Business Systems Development
Tony Ralston
Assistant General Manager, Strategic Technology Initiatives
Support

Shared Services
Gail Hart
General Manager

Ian Adams
Senior Chair***

Victorian Curriculum and Assessment
Authority
41 St Andrews Place
East Melbourne Victoria 3002
(03) 9651 4300
Michael White
Chief Executive Officer
Dr Glenn Rowley
Assistant General Manager, Educational Measurement
and Research
Vincent McPhee
Assistant General Manager, Business Operations
John Firth
Assistant General Manager, Curriculum
Elaine Wenn
Assistant General Manager, Assessment

Victorian Qualifications Authority
41a St Andrews Place
East Melbourne Victoria 3002
(03) 9637 2806
Dr Dennis Gunning
Director
Arden Joseph
Project Manager, VCAL
* Acting assignment by a non-substantive Executive Officer
** Acting assignment by a substantive Executive Officer
*** Governor-in-Council appointee
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Appendix 6 Freedom of Information
In 2002–03, 321 requests for documents were received.
Full access was granted for 168 requests and partial access
for a further 71. Access was denied for eight requests and
documents could not be located or did not exist for 34
requests. Eleven requests were withdrawn. At the end of the
reporting period, there were 29 requests for which no
decision had been made.
Where access was not granted to a document, the major
exemption categories in the Freedom of Information Act 1982
used in decision making were:
• section 30 (opinions, advice and recommendations that are
against the public interest to release)
• section 32 (legal professional privilege)
• section 33 (to protect the privacy of the personal affairs of
others)
• section 34 (documents relating to business or trade secrets)
• section 35 (communications in confidence).
Fourteen applicants sought an internal review. With one
exception, the original decisions were fully upheld. There
were nine appeals to the Victorian Civil and Administrative
Tribunal for review of decisions made under the Act. Six
appeals were withdrawn or settled prior to a final hearing.
Two appeals were heard by the Tribunal. The Department’s
decision was upheld in one case and varied in the other.
One appeal was yet to be determined by the Tribunal as at
30 June 2003.

Publication requirements
The information required to be published pursuant to
section 7 of the Freedom of Information Act 1982 is either
contained below or is found in other parts of this report.
This information relates to the following agencies:
• Department of Education & Training
• Merit Protection Boards
• Registered Schools Board.
Queries about the availability of and charges for other
material prepared under Part II of the Act should be directed
to the relevant authorised officer (see table on page 142).

Categories of documents
The Department and its agencies produce a large number of
documents in a decentralised record-keeping environment.
Accordingly, the Department does not maintain a single,
consolidated list of detailed categories of documents.
All agencies maintain collections of policy files, transaction
files and records and, where necessary, personnel records.
A variety of indexes and other search aids are used by
agencies. In general, files and records are retrieved through
subject descriptors or personal name. The following are the
general categories of documents maintained by agencies.

Correspondence, administrative and policy
documents
Maintenance of records is decentralised, with each agency
responsible for its own records. Regional offices, schools and
TAFE institutions maintain their own record-keeping systems.
These are largely independent of the systems used by the
central administration.

Personnel documents
Agencies maintain record-keeping systems for their
employees including, where appropriate, records for
members of the Teaching Service and the VPS.

Accounting records
Accounting records are maintained on a computerised
accounting system. The records deal with general ledger
entries, accounts payable, payroll and other accounting
functions. Some paper records are also kept.

Freedom of Information arrangements
Access to records
All requests for access to records held by agencies are dealt
with by the authorised officer of the appropriate agency (see
table on page 142). Applicants seeking access to documents
held by agencies should attempt to specify the topic of
interest rather than the file series in which the applicant
considers the document might exist. Assistance in specifying
the topic is available from the authorised officer.

Forms of request for access
Applicants are required by the Act to submit applications
requesting access to documents in writing. No form of
application is specified. A letter clearly describing the
document(s) sought is sufficient. The letter should specify
that the application is a request made under the Freedom of
Information Act 1982 and should not form part of a letter on
another subject. The applicant should provide the following
information:
• name
• address
• telephone number (business hours)
• details of document(s) requested
• form of access required – copies of documents, inspection
of file or other (specify).

Correction of personal information
A request for correction or amendment of personal
information contained in a document held by the agency
must be made in writing. It should specify particulars of
how and why the person making the request believes the
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information to be incorrect, incomplete, misleading or out of
date and specify the amendments they wish to make.

Charges
An application fee of $20 is required unless evidence of
hardship is provided. Applicants are advised that other
charges may be made in accordance with the Freedom of
Information (Access Charges) Regulations 1993.

Appeals
Applicants may appeal against a decision made in response
to requests for access to documents and amendment of
records, or against the cost levied for allowing access to
documents. Information about the appropriate avenue of
appeal will be conveyed to the applicant in the letter advising
of the initial decision. Applicants are advised to consult
Part VI of the Act for further information about appeal rights.

Freedom of Information: authorised officers
Agency

Authorised officer

Postal address

Telephone

Department of Education & Training

Neil Morrow

GPO Box 4367 Melbourne 3001

(03) 9637 2670

Merit Protection Boards

Beverly Trease

Level 9, 35 Spring Street, Melbourne 3000

(03) 9651 0290

Registered Schools Board

Neil Morrow

GPO Box 4367 Melbourne 3001

(03) 9637 2670

Further information about Freedom of Information can be found on the Department’s website <www.det.vic.gov.au/det/about/foi.htm>.
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Appendix 7 Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001
Disclosure
In addition to the Protected Disclosure Coordinator nominated
in 2001–02, the Department nominated ten protected
disclosure officers to provide advice and accept disclosures
made under the Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001. The
Department’s guidelines were distributed to all employees
and workplaces and are available on the Department’s
website. All public bodies associated with the Department
were advised of their responsibilities under the Act.
One disclosure relating to improper conduct and detrimental
action was made to the Department under the Act. This
disclosure was referred to the Ombudsman for determination.
The Department’s guidelines are as follow.

Department of Education & Training
Guidelines
1

Objects of the Act

The Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001 (the Act)
commenced operation on 1 January 2002. The purpose
of the Act is to encourage and facilitate the making of
disclosures of improper conduct by public officers and public
bodies. The Act provides protection to whistleblowers who
make disclosures in accordance with the Act, and establishes
a system for the matters disclosed to be investigated and
rectifying action to be taken.

2

Statement of support to whistleblowers

The Department of Education & Training (DE&T) is committed
to the aims and objectives of the Act. It does not tolerate
improper conduct by its employees nor the taking of reprisals
against those who come forward to disclose such conduct.
DE&T recognises the value of transparency and accountability
in its administrative and management practices, and supports
the making of disclosures that reveal corrupt conduct,
conduct involving a substantial mismanagement of public
resources, or conduct involving a substantial risk to public
health and safety or the environment.
DE&T will take all reasonable steps to protect people who
make such disclosures from any detrimental action in reprisal
for making the disclosure. It will also ensure natural justice
to the person who is the subject of the disclosure.

3

Purpose of these procedures

These procedures establish a system for reporting
disclosures of improper conduct or detrimental action by
DE&T employees. The system enables such disclosures to
be made to one of the protected disclosure officers or the
protected disclosure coordinator. Disclosures may be made
by employees or by members of the public.

These procedures complement DE&T’s established
procedures for addressing complaints and are for use only
where appropriate. Employees and members of the general
public should continue to raise issues in accordance with the
consultative and complaint resolution procedures already in
place unless the complaint meets the criteria specified in the
Act to be considered a protected disclosure.

4
4.1

Definitions of key terms
A protected disclosure

For the purpose of the Act, a protected disclosure is a
complaint, report or allegation of improper conduct or
detrimental action, concerning matters which come under
the Act, and is made in accordance with Part 2 of the Act.
A protected disclosure may also be referred to as a public
interest disclosure where the disclosure shows or tends to
show that the public officer to whom the disclosure relates:
• has engaged, is engaging or intends to engage in improper
conduct in his or her capacity as a public officer
• has taken, is taking, or proposes to take, detrimental action
in reprisal for the making of the protected disclosure.

4.2

Improper conduct

A disclosure may be made about improper conduct by a
public body or public official. Improper conduct means
conduct that is corrupt, a substantial mismanagement of
public resources, or conduct involving substantial risk to
public health or safety or to the environment. The conduct
must be serious enough to constitute, if proved, a criminal
offence or reasonable grounds for dismissal.

Examples
• To avoid closure of a town’s only industry, an environmental
health officer ignores or conceals evidence of illegal
dumping of waste.
• An agricultural officer delays or declines imposing
quarantine to allow a financially distressed farmer to sell
diseased stock.
• A building inspector tolerates poor practices and structural
defects in the work of a leading local builder.

4.3

Corrupt conduct

Corrupt conduct means:
• conduct of any person (whether or not a public official) that
adversely affects the honest performance of a public officer’s
or public body’s functions
• the performance of a public officer’s functions dishonestly
or with inappropriate partiality
• conduct of a public officer, former public officer or a public
body that amounts to a breach of public trust
• conduct by a public officer, former public officer or a public
body that amounts to the misuse of information or material
acquired in the course of the performance of their official
functions
• a conspiracy or attempt to engage in the above conduct.
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Examples
• A public officer takes a bribe or receives a payment other
than his or her wages or salary in exchange for the
discharge of a public duty.
• A public officer favours unmeritorious applications for
jobs or permits by friends and relatives.
• A public officer sells confidential information.

4.4

Detrimental action

The Act makes it an offence for a person to take detrimental
action against a person in reprisal for a protected disclosure.
Detrimental action includes:
• action causing injury, loss or damage
• intimidation or harassment
• discrimination, disadvantage or adverse treatment in
relation to a person’s employment, career, profession, trade
or business, including the taking of disciplinary action.

Examples
• A public body refuses a deserved promotion of a person
who makes a disclosure.
• A public body demotes, transfers, isolates in the workplace
or changes the duties of a whistleblower due to the making
of a disclosure.
• A person threatens, abuses or carries out other forms of
harassment directly or indirectly against the whistleblower,
his or her family or friends.
• A public body discriminates against the whistleblower or his
or her family and associates in subsequent applications for
jobs, permits or tenders.

5
5.1

The reporting system
Contact persons within DE&T

Disclosures of improper conduct or detrimental action by
DE&T employees may be made in the first instance to a
protected disclosure officer.
All correspondence, telephone calls and emails from internal
or external whistleblowers will be referred to the protected
disclosure coordinator.
Contact details are provided on page 149.

5.2

Alternative contact persons

Disclosures about improper conduct or detrimental action
by DE&T employees may also be made directly to the
Ombudsman.
Disclosures about improper conduct or detrimental action
by persons who are not DE&T employees should be made
as follows:
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Person who is the
subject of the disclosure

Person/body to whom the
disclosure must be made

Employee of a public body other
than DE&T

That public body or the Ombudsman

Member of Parliament
(Legislative Assembly)

Speaker of the Legislative Assembly

Member of Parliament
(Legislative Council)

President of the Legislative Council

Councillor (local government)

The Ombudsman

Chief Commissioner of Police

The Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman

Member of the police force

The Ombudsman, Deputy Ombudsman or
Chief Commissioner of Police

6
6.1

Roles and responsibilities
Employees

Employees are encouraged to report known or suspected
incidences of improper conduct, or detrimental action in
accordance with these procedures.
All employees of DE&T have an important role to play in
supporting those who have made a legitimate disclosure.
They must refrain from any activity that is, or could be
perceived to be, victimisation or harassment of a person
who makes a disclosure. Furthermore, they should protect
and maintain the confidentiality of a person they know or
suspect to have made a disclosure.

6.2

Protected disclosure officers

Protected disclosure officers will:
• be a contact point for general advice about the operation
of the Act for any person wishing to make a disclosure
about improper conduct or detrimental action
• make arrangements for a disclosure to be made privately
and discreetly and, if necessary, away from the workplace
• receive any disclosure made orally or in writing (from
internal and external whistleblowers)
• commit to writing any disclosure made orally
• impartially assess the allegation and determine whether it
is a disclosure made in accordance with Part 2 of the Act
(that is, a protected disclosure)
• take all necessary steps to ensure the identity of the
whistleblower and the identity of the person who is the
subject of the disclosure are kept confidential
• forward all disclosures and supporting evidence to the
protected disclosure coordinator.

6.3

Protected disclosure coordinator

The protected disclosure coordinator has a central clearinghouse role in the internal reporting system. He or she will:
• receive all disclosures forwarded from the protected
disclosure officers
• impartially assess each disclosure to determine whether
it is a protected disclosure
• refer all protected disclosures to the Ombudsman
• be responsible for carrying out, or appointing an
investigator to carry out, an investigation referred to
DE&T by the Ombudsman
• be responsible for overseeing and coordinating an
investigation where an investigator has been appointed
• appoint a welfare manager to support the whistleblower
and to protect him or her from any reprisals
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• advise the whistleblower of the progress of an
investigation into the disclosed matter
• establish and manage a confidential filing system
• collate and publish statistics on disclosures made
• take all necessary steps to ensure the identity of the
whistleblower and the identity of the person who is
the subject of the disclosure are kept confidential
• liaise with the Secretary of DE&T.

6.4

Investigator

The investigator will be responsible for carrying out an internal
investigation into a disclosure where the Ombudsman has
referred a matter to DE&T. An investigator may be a person
from within DE&T or a consultant engaged for that purpose.

6.5

Welfare manager

The welfare manager is responsible for looking after the
general welfare of the whistleblower. A welfare manager
may be a person from within DE&T or a consultant engaged
for that purpose.
The welfare manager will:
• examine the immediate welfare and protection needs of
a whistleblower who has made a disclosure and seek to
foster a supportive work environment
• advise the whistleblower of the legislative and
administrative protections available to him or her
• listen and respond to any concerns of harassment,
intimidation or victimisation in reprisal for making a disclosure
• ensure the expectations of the whistleblower are realistic.

7

Confidentiality

DE&T will take all reasonable steps to protect the identity
of the whistleblower. Maintaining confidentiality is crucial
in ensuring reprisals are not made against a whistleblower.
The Act requires any person who receives information due
to the handling or investigation of a protected disclosure,
not to disclose that information except in certain limited
circumstances. Disclosure of information in the Act constitutes
an offence that is punishable by a maximum fine of 60 penalty
units ($6000) or six months imprisonment or both.
The circumstances in which a person may disclose
information obtained about a protected disclosure include:
• where exercising the functions of the public body under
the Act
• when making a report or recommendation under the Act
• when publishing statistics in the annual report of a public
body
• in criminal proceedings for certain offences in the Act.
However, the Act prohibits the inclusion of particulars in
any report or recommendation that are likely to lead to the
identification of the whistleblower. The Act also prohibits
the identification of the person who is the subject of the
disclosure in any particulars included in an annual report.
DE&T will ensure all files, whether paper or electronic, are
kept in a secure room and can only be accessed by the
protected disclosure coordinator, protected disclosure officer,
the investigator or welfare manager (in relation to welfare
matters). All printed material will be kept in files that are
clearly marked as a Whistleblower Protection Act matter, and
warn of the criminal penalties that apply to any unauthorised
divulging of information concerning a protected disclosure.

All electronic files will be produced and stored on a standalone computer and be given password protection. Backup
files will be kept on floppy disc. All materials relevant to an
investigation, such as tapes from interviews, will also be
stored securely with the whistleblower files.
DE&T will not email documents relevant to a whistleblower
matter and will ensure all telephone calls and meetings are
conducted in private.

8

Collating and publishing statistics

The protected disclosure coordinator will establish a secure
register to record the information required to be published
in DE&T’s annual report, and to generally keep account of
the status of whistleblower disclosures. The register will be
confidential and will not record any information that may
identify the whistleblower.

9

Receiving and assessing disclosures

DE&T may receive a range of complaints and grievances from
staff and members of the public. Only some of these matters
will be considered to be protected disclosures and therefore
qualify for protection and investigation under the Act.

9.1

Has the disclosure been made in accordance with
Part 2 of the Act?

Where a disclosure has been received by the protected
disclosure officer he or she will assess whether the disclosure
has been made in accordance with Part 2 of the Act and is,
therefore, a protected disclosure.

9.1.1 Has the disclosure been made to the appropriate
person?
For the disclosure to be responded to by DE&T it must concern
an employee of DE&T. If the disclosure concerns an employee,
officer or member of another public body, the person who has
made the disclosure must be advised of the correct person
or body to whom the disclosure should be directed. (See the
table in 5.2.) If the disclosure has been made anonymously,
it should be referred to the Ombudsman.

9.1.2 Does the disclosure contain the essential
elements of a protected disclosure?
To be a protected disclosure, a disclosure must satisfy the
following criteria:
• the disclosure was made by a natural person (that is, an
individual person rather than a corporation)
• the disclosure relates to conduct of a public body or public
officer acting in their official capacity
• the alleged conduct is improper conduct or detrimental
action taken against a person in reprisal for making a
protected disclosure
• the person making a disclosure has reasonable grounds
for believing the alleged conduct has occurred.
Where a disclosure is assessed to be a protected disclosure,
it is referred to the protected disclosure coordinator.
Where a disclosure is assessed not to be a protected
disclosure, the matter does not need to be dealt with
under the Act. The protected disclosure officer will decide
how the matter should be resolved, in consultation with
the protected disclosure coordinator. The following table
indicates the alternative processes available within DE&T
for dealing with complaints.
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Problem

Initial contact

Other options

Workplace policy

Parent’s concern or complaint of
a general nature (may concern
students, teachers, educational
matters or an action taken by the
school or school council)

Principal

• Regional Director

Complaints, Unsatisfactory Performance and
Serious Misconduct
• Principal Class Handbook
• Teacher Class Handbook
• SSO Handbook

Workplace conflict or grievance

Principal or Manager

• DE&T Complaints and Investigations Unit
• Merit Protection Boards

Complaints, Unsatisfactory Performance and
Serious Misconduct
• Principal Class Handbook
• Teacher Class Handbook
• SSO Handbook
Personal Grievances
• Employment Conditions Guidelines for VPS Staff

Equal Opportunity concern

Principal or Manager

•
•
•
•

Occupational Health and Safety issue

Principal or Manager

• Workplace OHS representative

OHS Guidelines

Ethical or other misconduct concern

Principal or Manager

• DE&T Complaints and Investigations Unit
• Office of Public Employment

VPS Code of Conduct

Complaints regarding administrative
action by government bodies

The public body concerned

• The Ombudsman

Ombudsman Act 1973

Improper conduct or detrimental conduct

DE&T Protected
Disclosure Officer

• DE&T Protected Disclosure Coordinator
• The Ombudsman

Whistleblower Protection Act Guidelines

9.2

DE&T Complaints and Investigations Unit
DE&T Diversity and Equity Unit
Merit Protection Boards
Equal Opportunity Commission

Is the disclosure a protected disclosure?

Where a disclosure has been assessed as a protected
disclosure by the protected disclosure officer and
consequently referred to the protected disclosure
coordinator, the coordinator will confirm whether the
disclosure amounts to a protected disclosure. This
assessment will be made within 45 days of the initial
receipt of the disclosure by the protected disclosure officer.
Where the protected disclosure coordinator concludes that the
disclosure amounts to a protected disclosure, he or she will:
• notify the person who made the disclosure of that conclusion
• refer the disclosure to the Ombudsman for formal
determination as to whether it is indeed a protected
disclosure.
Where the protected disclosure coordinator concludes that
the disclosure is not a protected disclosure, he or she will:
• notify the person who made the disclosure of that conclusion
• advise that person that he or she may request DE&T to
refer the disclosure to the Ombudsman for a formal
determination as to whether the disclosure is a protected
disclosure, and that this request must be made within
28 days of the notification.
In either case, the protected disclosure coordinator will ensure
that the notification and the referral are made within 14 days
of the conclusion being reached.

10 Investigations
10.1 Introduction
Where the Ombudsman refers a protected disclosure to
DE&T for investigation, the protected disclosure coordinator
will appoint an investigator to carry out the investigation.
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The objectives of an investigation will be:
• to collate information relating to the allegation as quickly
as possible. This may involve taking steps to protect or
preserve documents, materials and equipment
• to consider the information collected and to draw
conclusions objectively and impartially
• to maintain procedural fairness in the treatment of witnesses
and the person who is the subject of the disclosure
• to make recommendations arising from the conclusions
drawn concerning remedial or other appropriate action.

10.2 Terms of reference
Before commencing an investigation, the protected
disclosure coordinator will draw up terms of reference and
obtain authorisation for those terms from the Secretary of
DE&T. The terms of reference will set a date by which the
investigation report is to be concluded, and will describe
the resources available to the investigator to complete the
investigation within the time set. The protected disclosure
coordinator may approve, if reasonable, an extension of
time requested by the investigator. The terms of reference
will require the investigator to make regular reports to the
protected disclosure coordinator who, in turn, is to keep
the Ombudsman informed of general progress.

10.3 Investigation plan
The investigator will prepare an investigation plan for
approval by the protected disclosure coordinator. The plan
will list the issues to be substantiated and describe the
avenue of inquiry. It will address the following issues:
• What is being alleged?
• What are the possible findings or offences?
• What are the facts in issue?
• How is the inquiry to be conducted?
• What resources are required?
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At the commencement of the investigation, the
whistleblower should be:
• notified by the investigator that he or she has been
appointed to conduct the investigation
• asked to clarify any matters and provide any additional
material he or she might have.
The investigator will be sensitive to the whistleblower’s
possible fear of reprisals and will be aware of the
statutory protections provided to the whistleblower.

10.4 Natural justice
The principles of natural justice will be followed in any
investigation of a protected disclosure. The principles
of natural justice concern procedural fairness and ensure
a fair decision is reached by an objective decision maker.
Maintaining procedural fairness protects the rights of
individuals and enhances public confidence in the process.
DE&T will have regard to the following issues in ensuring
procedural fairness:
• the person who is the subject of the disclosure is entitled
to know the allegations made against him or her and must
be given the right to respond (this does not mean the
person must be advised of the allegation as soon as the
disclosure is received or the investigation has commenced)
• if the investigator is contemplating making a report adverse
to the interests of any person, that person should be given
the opportunity to put forward further material that may
influence the outcome of the report and that person’s
defence should be fairly set out in the report
• all relevant parties to a matter should be heard and all
submissions should be considered
• a decision should not be made until all reasonable inquiries
have been made
• the investigator or any decision maker should not have a
personal or direct interest in the matter being investigated
• all proceedings must be carried out fairly and without bias
and care taken to exclude perceived bias from the process
• the investigator must be impartial in assessing the
credibility of the whistleblower and any witnesses and,
where appropriate, conclusions as to credibility should
be included in the investigation report.

10.5 Conduct of the investigation
The investigator will make contemporaneous notes of all
discussions and telephone calls, and all interviews with
witnesses will be taped. All information gathered in an
investigation will be stored securely. Interviews will be
conducted in private and the investigator will take all
reasonable steps to protect the identity of the whistleblower.

where, on the advice of the investigator:
• the investigation is being obstructed by, for example,
the non-cooperation of key witnesses
• the investigation has revealed conduct that may constitute
a criminal offence.

10.7 Reporting requirements
The protected disclosure coordinator will ensure the
whistleblower is kept regularly informed concerning the
handling of a protected disclosure and an investigation.
The protected disclosure coordinator will report to the
Ombudsman about the progress of an investigation.
Where the Ombudsman or the whistleblower requests information about the progress of an investigation, that information
will be provided within 28 days of the date of the request.

11 Action taken after an investigation
11.1 Investigator’s final report
At the conclusion of the investigation, the investigator will
submit a written report of his or her findings to the protected
disclosure coordinator. The report will contain:
• the allegation/s
• an account of all relevant information received and,
if the investigator has rejected evidence as being
unreliable, the reasons for this opinion being formed
• the conclusions reached and the basis for them
• any recommendations arising from the conclusions.
Where the investigator has found that the conduct disclosed
by the whistleblower has occurred, recommendations made
by the investigator will include:
• the steps that need to be taken by DE&T to prevent
the conduct from continuing or occurring in the future
• any action that should be taken by DE&T to remedy any
harm or loss arising from the conduct. This action may
include bringing disciplinary proceedings against the
person responsible for the conduct, and referring the
matter to an appropriate authority for further consideration.
The report will be accompanied by:
• the transcript or other record of any oral evidence taken,
including tape recordings
• all documents, statements or other exhibits received
by the investigator and accepted as evidence during the
course of the investigation.

11.2 Action to be taken

Where disclosure of the identity of the whistleblower
cannot be avoided, due to the nature of the allegations,
the investigator will warn the whistleblower and his or
her welfare manager of this probability.

If the protected disclosure coordinator is satisfied that the
investigation has found that the disclosed conduct has
occurred, he or she will recommend to the Secretary the
action that must be taken to prevent the conduct from
continuing or occurring in the future. The protected
disclosure coordinator may also recommend that action be
taken to remedy any harm or loss arising from the conduct.

It is in the discretion of the investigator to allow any witness
to have legal or other representation or support during
an interview. If a witness has a special need for legal
representation or support, permission should be granted.

The protected disclosure coordinator will provide a written
report to the relevant Minister, the Ombudsman and the
whistleblower setting out the findings of the investigation
and any remedial steps taken.

10.6 Referral of an investigation to the Ombudsman

Where the investigation concludes that the disclosed conduct
did not occur, the protected disclosure coordinator will report
these findings to the Ombudsman and to the whistleblower.

The protected disclosure coordinator will make a decision
regarding the referral of an investigation to the Ombudsman
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12 Managing the welfare of the whistleblower
12.1 Commitment to protecting whistleblowers
DE&T is committed to the protection of genuine
whistleblowers against detrimental action taken in reprisal
for the making of protected disclosures.
The protected disclosure coordinator is responsible for
ensuring whistleblowers are protected from direct and
indirect detrimental action, and that the culture of the
workplace is supportive of protected disclosures being made.
The protected disclosure coordinator will appoint a welfare
manager to all whistleblowers who have made a protected
disclosure. The welfare manager will:
• examine the immediate welfare and protection needs of a
whistleblower who has made a disclosure and, where the
whistleblower is an employee, seek to foster a supportive
work environment
• advise the whistleblower of the legislative and
administrative protections available to him or her
• listen and respond to any concerns of harassment,
intimidation or victimisation in reprisal for making a disclosure
• keep a contemporaneous record of all aspects of the case
management of the whistleblower including all contact and
follow-up action
• ensure the expectations of the whistleblower are realistic.
All employees are advised that it is an offence for a
person to take detrimental action in reprisal for a protected
disclosure. The maximum penalty is a fine of 240 penalty
units ($24,000) or two years imprisonment or both. The taking
of detrimental action in breach of this provision can also be
grounds for making a disclosure under the Act and can result
in an investigation.

12.2 Keeping the whistleblower informed
The protected disclosure coordinator will ensure that the
whistleblower is kept informed of action taken in relation
to his or her disclosure, and the time frames that apply.
The whistleblower will be informed of the objectives of an
investigation, the findings of an investigation, and the steps
taken by DE&T to address any improper conduct that has
been found to have occurred. The whistleblower will be
given reasons for decisions made by DE&T in relation to a
protected disclosure.

12.3 Occurrence of detrimental action
If a whistleblower reports an incident of harassment,
discrimination or adverse treatment that would amount
to detrimental action taken in reprisal for the making of
the disclosure, the welfare manager will:
• record details of the incident
• advise the whistleblower of his or her rights under the Act
• advise the protected disclosure coordinator or Secretary
of the detrimental action.
The taking of detrimental action in reprisal for the making
of a disclosure can be an offence against the Act as well
as grounds for making a further disclosure. Where such
detrimental action is reported, the protected disclosure
coordinator will assess the report as a new disclosure
under the Act. Where the protected disclosure coordinator
is satisfied that the disclosure is a protected disclosure,
he or she will refer it to the Ombudsman. If the Ombudsman
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subsequently determines the matter to be a protected
disclosure, the Ombudsman may investigate the matter or
refer it to another body for investigation as outlined in the Act.

12.4 Whistleblowers implicated in improper conduct
Where a person who makes a disclosure is implicated in
misconduct, DE&T will handle the disclosure and protect the
whistleblower from reprisals in accordance with the Act,
the Ombudsman’s guidelines and these procedures.
DE&T acknowledges that the act of whistleblowing should
not shield whistleblowers from the reasonable consequences
flowing from any involvement in improper conduct. Section
17 of the Act specifically provides that a person’s liability for
his or her own conduct is not affected by the person’s
disclosure of that conduct under the Act. However, in some
circumstances, an admission may be a mitigating factor
when considering disciplinary or other action.
The Secretary will make the final decision on the advice
of the protected disclosure coordinator as to whether
disciplinary or other action will be taken against a
whistleblower. Where disciplinary or other action relates to
conduct that is the subject of the whistleblower’s disclosure,
the disciplinary or other action will only be taken after the
disclosed matter has been appropriately dealt with.
In all cases where disciplinary or other action is being
contemplated, the Secretary must be satisfied that it has
been clearly demonstrated that:
• the intention to proceed with disciplinary action
is not causally connected to the making of the disclosure
(as opposed to the content of the disclosure or other
available information)
• there are good and sufficient grounds that would fully
justify action against any non-whistleblower in the same
circumstances
• there are good and sufficient grounds that justify exercising
any discretion to institute disciplinary or other action.
The protected disclosure coordinator will thoroughly
document the process including recording the reasons why the
disciplinary or other action is being taken, and the reasons why
the action is not in retribution for the making of the disclosure.
The protected disclosure coordinator will clearly advise the
whistleblower of the proposed action to be taken, and of any
mitigating factors that have been taken into account.

13 Management of the person against whom
a disclosure has been made
DE&T recognises that employees against whom disclosures
are made must also be supported during the handling and
investigation of disclosures.
DE&T will take all reasonable steps to ensure the
confidentiality of the person who is the subject of the
disclosure during the assessment and investigation process.
Where investigations do not substantiate disclosures, the
fact that the investigation has been carried out, the results
of the investigation, and the identity of the person who is
the subject of the disclosure will remain confidential.
The protected disclosure coordinator will ensure the person
who is the subject of any disclosure investigated by or on
behalf of a public body is:
• informed as to the substance of the allegations
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• given the opportunity to answer the allegations before a
final decision is made
• informed as to the substance of any adverse comment that
may be included in any report arising from the investigation
• has his or her defence set out fairly in any report.

Western Metropolitan Region

Where the allegations in a disclosure have been investigated,
and the person who is the subject of the disclosure is
aware of the allegations or the fact of the investigation, the
protected disclosure coordinator will formally advise the
person who is the subject of the disclosure of the outcome
of the investigation.

Locked Bag 88
Fairfield Victoria 3078
Telephone: (03) 9488 9488

DE&T will give its full support to a person who is the subject
of a disclosure where the allegations contained in a disclosure
are clearly wrong or unsubstantiated. If the matter has been
publicly disclosed, the Secretary of DE&T will consider any
request by that person to issue a statement of support setting
out that the allegations were clearly wrong or unsubstantiated.

14 Criminal offences
DE&T will ensure officers appointed to handle protected
disclosures and all other employees are aware of the
following offences created by the Act:
• It is an offence for a person to take detrimental action
against a person in reprisal for a protected disclosure being
made. The Act provides a maximum penalty of a fine of 240
penalty units ($24,000) or two years imprisonment or both.
• It is an offence for a person to divulge information obtained
as a result of the handling or investigation of a protected
disclosure without legislative authority. The Act provides
a maximum penalty of 60 penalty units ($6000) or six
months imprisonment or both.
• It is an offence for a person to obstruct the Ombudsman
in performing his responsibilities under the Act. The Act
provides a maximum penalty of 240 penalty units ($24,000)
or two years imprisonment or both.
• It is an offence for a person to knowingly provide false
information under the Act with the intention that it be acted
on as a disclosed matter. The Act provides a maximum
penalty of 240 penalty units ($24,000) or two years
imprisonment or both.

15 Review
These procedures will be reviewed annually to ensure
they meet the objectives of the Act and accord with the
Ombudsman’s guidelines.

Contact details
Written disclosures should be marked confidential and
addressed to the Protected Disclosure Officer at the
appropriate regional or central DE&T office.
If making disclosures personally or by telephone individuals
need to contact the appropriate central or regional DE&T
office and request to speak to the protected disclosure officer.

Conduct and Ethics Branch

PO Box 57
Carlton South Victoria 3053
Telephone: (03) 9291 6500

Northern Metropolitan Region

Eastern Metropolitan Region
29 Lakeside Drive
Burwood East Victoria 3151
Telephone: (03) 9881 0200

Southern Metropolitan Region
PO Box 5
Dandenong Victoria 3175
Telephone: (03) 9794 3555

Barwon South Western Region
PO Box 420
North Geelong Victoria 3215
Telephone: (03) 5272 8300

Central Highlands Wimmera Region
Level 1
1220 Sturt Street
Ballarat Victoria 3350
Telephone: (03) 5337 8444

Loddon Campaspe Mallee Region
PO Box 442
Bendigo Victoria 3550
Telephone: (03) 5440 3111

Goulburn North Eastern Region
PO Box 403
Benalla Victoria 3672
Telephone: (03) 5761 2100

Gippsland Region
PO Box 381
Moe Victoria 3825
Telephone: (03) 5127 0400

Protected Disclosure Coordinator
Assistant General Manager, Planning and Development
Human Resources Division
Department of Education & Training
GPO Box 4367
Melbourne Victoria 3001
Telephone: (03) 9637 2371

The Ombudsman Victoria
Level 22, 459 Collins Street
Melbourne Victoria 3000
Website: www.ombudsman.vic.gov.au
Email: ombudvic@ombudsman.vic.gov.au
Telephone: (03) 9613 6222
Freecall: 1800 806 314

GPO Box 4367
Melbourne Victoria 3001
Telephone: (03) 9637 2591
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Appendix 8 Occupational health and safety
The Department’s occupational health and safety
performance generally achieved its targets. In 2002–03,
the Victorian WorkCover Authority increased its inspection
activities and issued 149 improvement and prohibition
notices, a 257 per cent increase per 1000 staff on the
previous year’s rate. All were resolved satisfactorily.

WorkCover claims and injury management
WorkCover performance for 2000–03, related to the
targets in the Department’s Occupational Health and Safety
Improvement strategy, was as follows:
• In 2002–03, 1113 standard claims were lodged, a 24.5 per
cent increase on the 894 claims that were lodged in
2001–02. Thirty-eight minor claims rolled over to become
standard claims, adding to the 856 claims indicated in the
Department’s 2001–02 annual report.

• The average cost of claims lodged in 2002–03 was $7780,
15.2 per cent less than the $9170 average cost of claims
in 2001–02. This decrease was largely attributable to
decreases in the estimated future costs of claims lodged
during 2002–03. However, there has been a substantial
increase in actual claim payments for the period.
• 2911 Department employees lodged standard claims since
1 July 2000. 92.2 per cent of these claimants returned to
work or were maintained at work.

Occupational health and safety
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Indicator

Result for 2002–03

Target for 2003–04 (% increase against 2002–03 result)

Achieve an increase of 10% in compliance with occupational
health and safety statutory requirements and Department
policy as demonstrated by annual school census results
(target 77% compliance)

Compliance rate of 78.6% achieved

5% increase in total school compliance to 82.5%

Achieve an increase of 10% in total school awareness levels
of occupational health and safety program initiatives as
demonstrated by annual school census results
(target 84.3% awareness)

81.1% rate achieved for awareness
of occupational health and safety
program initiatives

10% increase in total school awareness to 89.2%

Achieve an increase of 10% in school implementation of
occupational health and safety program initiatives as
demonstrated by annual school census results
(target 40.3% implementation)

42.2% rate achieved for implementation
of occupational health and safety program
initiatives

7% increase in implementation to 45%
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Appendix 9 Consultancies and major contracts
Under the Financial Management Act 1994 the following
distinction is made between consultants and contractors.
Consultants:
• provide expert analysis and advice that facilitates decision
making
• perform a specific, one-off task or set of tasks
• perform a task involving skills or perspectives that would
not normally be expected to reside within the agency.
Contractors:
• provide goods, works or services that implement a
decision
• perform all or part of a new or existing ongoing function
to assist an agency carry out its defined activities and
operational functions
• perform a function involving skills or perspectives that
would normally be expected to reside within the agency
but at the time are unavailable.

Consultancies less than $100,000
Number engaged

29 (including two commissioned by VLESC)

Total cost

$1,252,555

These figures represent the amounts approved in the
2002–03 financial year.

Disclosure of major contracts
The Department has disclosed all contracts greater
than $10 million in value that it entered into in 2002–03.
The disclosed contracts can be viewed on
<www.tenders.vic.gov.au>.

Consultancies in excess of $100,000
Consultant

Particulars

Amount paid

Future commitments

in 2002–03

as at 30 June 2003

John Mitchell and Associates

To provide a national review of good practice in teaching and
learning in VET, and to investigate the development of a national
mechanism for ongoing support and dissemination of such innovation.

$110,000

–

TFG International Pty Ltd

To review government investment in education and training and
post-compulsory resource allocation.

$210,000

–

DMR Consulting Ltd

To develop the DE&T ICT Strategic Plan, including enterprise
architecture, business continuity planning and disaster recovery planning.

$819,060

–

The Nous Group

To develop a strategic plan for the recruitment, preparation and
selection of high-quality school leaders.

$97,619

$82,381

Australian Centre for Industrial
Relations Research and Training
(University of Sydney) and the
Centre for Applied Research (RMIT)
(commissioned by VLESC)

To investigate the nature of skill and knowledge needs in a number
of key sectors in the Victorian service industry, including factors influencing
change in skill needs and skill formation processes. The project will
propose possible strategies to ensure that skill and knowledge requirements
in the service industry are met.

$33,318

$120,000

MGIMW Consulting Pty Ltd

To develop a framework and model for costing the delivery of vocational
education and training.

$83,391

$99,845

Boston Consulting Group

To develop a teacher workforce development strategy and to advise
on the adoption of a management position on the current Enterprise
Bargaining Agreement process.

$450,000

$1,123,000

$1,803,388

$1,425,226

Total
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Appendix 10 Additional information
Consistent with the requirements of the Financial Management
Act 1994, the Department has prepared material on the
following topics that is available on request.
• declarations of pecuniary interests by all relevant officers
• shares held by senior officers as nominees or held
beneficially in a statutory authority or subsidiary
• publications produced by the Department about the
Department and the places where the publications can be
obtained
• changes in prices, fees, charges, rates and levies charged
by the Department
• major external reviews carried out on the Department
• major research and development activities undertaken by
the Department
• overseas visits undertaken, including a summary of the
objectives and outcomes of each visit
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• major promotional, public relations and marketing activities
undertaken by the Department to develop community
awareness of the Department and the services it provides
• assessments and measures undertaken to improve the
occupational health and safety of employees
• general statement on industrial relations within the
Department and details of time lost through industrial
accidents and disputes
• major committees sponsored by the Department, the
purposes of each committee and the extent to which the
purposes have been achieved.
Enquiries regarding this information should be directed to:
Secretary
Department of Education & Training
GPO Box 4367
Melbourne Victoria 3001
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Appendix 11 Portfolio responsibilities
Outputs and Responsible Ministers
Output

School education
Primary education

The Acts administered by each Minister are as follows.
Responsible Minister

Minister for Education and Training
Education and Training
Education Services

Junior secondary education

Education and Training
Education Services

Senior secondary education

Education and Training
Education Services

Non-government school education

Education and Training

Student welfare and support

Education Services

Students with disabilities

Education Services

Education Maintenance Allowance

Education and Training
Education Services

Student transport

Education Services

Tertiary education and training
TAFE places

Australian Catholic University (Victoria) Act 1991
Baxter Technical School Land Act 1982
Community Services Act 1970:
• Division 8A of Part III and section 203 where it relates
to the administration of these provisions.
The Act is otherwise administered by the Minister for
Community Services and the Minister for Industrial Relations.
Deakin University (Victoria College) Act 1991
Deakin University (Warrnambool) Act 1990
Deakin University Act 1974

Education and Training
Education Services

ACE places and community support

Education and Training
Education Services

Higher education

Education and Training

Policy, strategy and information services
Policy, strategy and executive services

Adult, Community and Further Education Act 1991

Education and Training
Education Services

International education

Education and Training

Public information and promotion

Education and Training
Education Services

Education (Special Developmental Schools) Act 1976
Education Act 1958:
• except sections 13(1) – (8), (10) and (11), 14B, 15B(3), 15C,
15CA, 15D, 15E, 15G, 15H, 15N, 15Q(2), 15ZL, 20A, 30,
82 (g), (h), (i), (ia), and sections (p), (q) and (r) and 83 (to
the extent that those provisions relate to the making of
regulations relating to the matters referred to in sections
15H, 30 and 82(g), (h), (i) and (ia)) which are administered
by the Minister for Education Services
• section 8(1) is jointly and severally administered with the
Minister for Education Services.
Educational Grants Act 1973
La Trobe University (Bendigo and Wodonga) Act 1990

The Minister for Education and Training has overall
responsibility for the education and training portfolio.
This includes strategic directions, budget management,
service delivery and program implementation within
school education, training and further education, adult
and community education, and higher education, with the
exception of those areas that are the specific responsibility
of the Minister for Education Services.
The Minister for Education Services has responsibility for:
• teacher workforce supply and demand, including
recruitment and retention strategies
• implementation of agreed capital programs, including
buildings, equipment and ICT
• school councils, except in relation to school educational
policy and funding issues
• asset maintenance and security, including emergency
management
• health and safety issues, including asbestos
• student welfare services, including students with
disabilities, transport and drug education
• the Merit Protection Boards.

La Trobe University Act 1964
Marcus Oldham College Act 1995
Melbourne College of Advanced Education (Amalgamation)
Act 1988
Melbourne College of Divinity Act 1910
Melbourne University (Hawthorn) Act 1991
Melbourne University (VCAH) Act 1992
Melbourne University (VCAH) Act 1997
Melbourne University Act 1958
Mildura College Lands Act 1916
Monash University Act 1958
Monash University (Chisholm and Gippsland) Act 1990
Monash University (Pharmacy College) Act 1992
Prahran Mechanics’ Institute Act 1899
Royal Melbourne Hospital (Redevelopment) Act 1992:
• section 7.
The Act is otherwise administered by the Minister for Health.
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Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology Act 1992

Minister for Education Services

Serpell Joint Schools Act 1981

Education Act 1958:
• section 8(1) (which is jointly and severally administered
with the Minister for Education and Training)
• sections 13(1) – (8), 13(10), 13(11), 14B, 15B(3), 15C, 15CA,
15D, 15E, 15G, 15H, 15N, 15Q(2), 15ZL, 20A, 30, 82 (g), (h),
(i) & (ia)
• sections 82(p), (q) and (r) and 83 (to the extent that those
provisions relate to the making of regulations relating to
the matters referred to in sections 15H, 30 and 82(g), (h), (i)
and (ia)).

Swinburne University of Technology Act 1992
Teaching Service Act 1981 except:
• Part 4, Division 3
• section 76 (which is jointly and severally administered with
the Minister for Education Services)
• section 78(1) in so far as it relates to the making of
regulations for or in respect of Part 4, Division 3 and
section 78(2)(e) (which are jointly administered with the
Minister for Education Services)
• section 11 (to the extent that it relates to the exercise of
powers and functions for the purpose of section 15B(3) of
the Education Act 1958).
The remaining provisions of the Act are administered by the
Minister for Education and Training.
Tertiary Education Act 1993
University Acts (Amendment) Act 2003
University of Ballarat Act 1993
Victoria University of Technology Act 1990
Victorian College of Agriculture and Horticulture Act 1982
Victorian College of the Arts Act 1981
Victorian Curriculum and Assessment Authority Act 2000
Victorian Institute of Teaching Act 2001
Victorian Qualifications Authority Act 2000
Vocational Education and Training (Amendment) Act 1994
Vocational Education and Training Act 1990
Vocational Education and Training (TAFE Qualifications)
Act 2003
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The remaining provisions of the Act are administered by the
Minister for Education and Training.
Teaching Services Act 1981:
• Part 4, Division 3
• section 76 (which is jointly and severally administered with
the Minister for Education and Training)
• section 78(1) in so far as it relates to the making of
regulations for or in respect of Part 4, Division 3; and
section 78(2)(e) (which are jointly administered with the
Minister for Education and Training)
• section 11 (to the extent that it relates to the exercise of
powers and functions for the purpose of section 15B(3)
of the Education Act 1958).
The remaining provisions of the Act are administered by the
Minister for Education and Training.
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Appendix 12 Index of compliance
The annual report of the Department is prepared in accordance
with the Financial Management Act 1994 and the Directions of
the Minister for Finance. This index facilitates identification of the
Department’s compliance with the Directions of the Minister for
Finance by listing references to disclosures in this financial report.

Report of operations
Clause

Requirement

Page

Charter and purpose
9.1.3(i)(a)
9.1.3(i)(b)
9.1.3(i)(c)

Manner of establishment and Ministers
Objectives, functions, powers and duties
Name and range of services provided

7
1, 6–7
7–9

Management and structure
9.1.3(i)(d)(i)
9.1.3(i)(d)(ii)
9.1.3(i)(d)(iii)

Name of Chief Executive Officer
Names of senior office holders and brief description of responsibility
Organisational structure

12
12–13, 138–40
20

Financial and other information
9.1.3(i)(e)
9.1.3(ii)(a)
9.1.3(ii)(b)
9.1.3(ii)(c)
9.1.3(ii)(d)
9.1.3(ii)(e)
9.1.3(i)(f)
9.1.3(ii)(h)
9.1.3(ii)(k)
9.1.3(ii)(f)
9.1.3(ii)(g)
9.6.2(i)(iv)
9.1.3(ii)(i)
9.1.3(ii)(j)
9.8(i)(ii)
9.10.3(i)

Statement of workforce data and merit and equity
Summary of the financial results for the year
Significant changes in financial position during the year
Operational and budgetary objectives and performance against objectives
Major changes or factors affecting achievement
Subsequent events
Application and operation of the Freedom of Information Act 1982
Compliance with building and maintenance provisions of the Building Act 1993
Statement on National Competition Policy
Details of consultancies over $100,000
Details of consultancies under $100,000
Disclosure of major contracts
Statement of availability of other information
Compliance index
Occupational health and safety
Budget portfolio outcomes

21, 83–7, 135–7
10–11
10–11
22–81
22–81
119
141–2
14
75–6
151
151
151
152
155–6
19, 150
123–8
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Financial statements
Basis of preparation and other compliance details
9.2.2(ii)(a)
9.2.2(ii)(b)
9.2.2(ii)(c)
9.2.2(ii)(d)
9.2.2(iii)
9.2.2(i)(d)
9.2.2(iv)

Accrual basis of accounting
Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards and other authoritative pronouncements
Compliance with Ministerial Directions and Accounting and Financial Reporting Bulletins
Adoption of the historical cost convention, except for specified assets
Rounding of amounts
Notes to the financial statements (contents page)
Accountable Officer’s declaration

95
95
95
95
98
94
120

Statement of financial performance
9.2.2(i)(a)
9.2.3(ii)(a)
9.2.3(ii)(b)
9.2.3(ii)(c)
9.2.3(ii)(e)
9.2.3(ii)(f)
9.2.3(ii)(g)
9.2.3(ii)(h)
9.2.3(ii)(i)
9.7.2(i)(ii)

Statement of financial performance
Operating revenue by class
Investment income by class
Other material revenue, including disposal of non-current assets
Depreciation
Bad and doubtful debts
Financing costs
Net increment or decrement on revaluation recognised in the statement of financial performance
Audit expense
Motor vehicle lease commitments

91
91, 101
101
101. 103
91, 96, 97, 103
96, 103, 105
91
96, 106–7, 109
113
114

Statement of financial position
9.2.2(i)(b)
9.2.3(iii)(a)(i)
9.2.3(iii)(a)(ii)
9.2.3(iii)(a)(iii)
9.2.3(iii)(a)(iv)
9.2.3(iii)(a)(v)
9.2.3(iii)(a)(vi)
9.2.3(iii)(a)(vii)
9.2.3(iii)(b)(i)
9.2.3(iii)(b)(ii)
9.2.3(iii)(b)(iii)
9.2.3(iii)(b)(iv)
9.2.3(iii)(b)(v)
9.2.3(iii)(c)(i)(ii)
9.2.3(iii)(d)(i)(iv)

Statement of financial position
Cash at bank and funds held in trust
Inventories by class
Receivables, including trade debtors, loans and other debtors
Other assets, including prepayments
Investments
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Overdrafts
Other loans
Trade and other creditors
Finance lease charges
Provisions, including employee entitlements
Contributed capital
Reserves, and transfers to and from reserves

92
92, 96, 104, 110–11
n/a
92, 96, 105, 110–11
92, 105, 110–11
92, 97, 110–11
92, 96–7, 106–7
n/a
n/a
n/a
92, 97, 108, 110–11
n/a
92, 97–8, 108, 115
92, 98, 109
92, 109

Statement of cash flows
9.2.2(i)(c)

Statement of cash flows during the year

93

Other disclosures in the notes to the financial statements
9.2.3(iv)(a)
9.2.3(iv)(b)
9.2.3(iv)(c)
9.2.3(iv)(d)
9.2.3(iv)(e)
9.2.3(iv)(f)
9.4
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Liability secured by a charge over assets
Contingent liabilities
Commitments for expenditure
Government grants received or receivable
Employee superannuation funds
Assets received without adequate consideration
Responsible person-related disclosures

n/a
114
114
96, 103
97, 103, 115–16
n/a
112–3

Acronyms and abbreviations
ABS

Australian Bureau of Statistics

ACE

Adult and community education

ACFE

Adult, Community and Further Education

AIM

Achievement Improvement Monitor

AMES

Adult Multicultural Education Services

ANTA

Australian National Training Authority

AQTF

Australian Quality Training Framework

CAE

Centre for Adult Education

CSF

Curriculum and Standards Framework

DE&T

Department of Education & Training (Victoria)

EFT

Equivalent full-time

EMA

Education Maintenance Allowance

ESL

English as a second language

ICT

Information and communication technology

LLEN(s)

Local Learning and Employment Network(s)

LOTE

Languages other than English

MCEETYA

Ministerial Council on Education, Employment,
Training and Youth Affairs (Commonwealth)

MIP

Managed Individual Pathways

P

Preparatory (year of schooling)

RMIT

Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology

SSO

School services officer

TAFE VC

TAFE Virtual Campus

U3A

University of the Third Age

VCAA

Victorian Curriculum and Assessment Authority

VCAL

Victorian Certificate of Applied Learning

VCE

Victorian Certificate of Education

VET

Vocational education and training

VIT

Victorian Institute of Teaching

VLESC

Victorian Learning and Employment Skills
Commission

VPS

Victorian Public Service

VQA

Victorian Qualifications Authority

Department of Education & Training
2 Treasury Place
East Melbourne Victoria 3002
GPO Box 4367
Melbourne Victoria 3001
Telephone (03) 9637 2000
Facsimile (03) 9637 3100
Website
www.det.vic.gov.au

